

Durham E-Theses

Does good practice quality equate to earlier cancer stage at diagnosis?

WAREHAM, HELEN, MARGARET

How to cite:

WAREHAM, HELEN, MARGARET (2015) Does good practice quality equate to earlier cancer stage at diagnosis?, Durham theses, Durham University. Available at Durham E-Theses Online: http://etheses.dur.ac.uk/11065/

Use policy

 $The full-text\ may\ be\ used\ and/or\ reproduced,\ and\ given\ to\ third\ parties\ in\ any\ format\ or\ medium,\ without\ prior\ permission\ or\ charge,\ for\ personal\ research\ or\ study,\ educational,\ or\ not-for-profit\ purposes\ provided\ that:$

- a full bibliographic reference is made to the original source
- a link is made to the metadata record in Durham E-Theses
- the full-text is not changed in any way

The full-text must not be sold in any format or medium without the formal permission of the copyright holders.

Please consult the full Durham E-Theses policy for further details.

Academic Support Office, The Palatine Centre, Durham University, Stockton Road, Durham, DH1 3LE e-mail: e-theses.admin@durham.ac.uk Tel: +44 0191 334 6107 http://etheses.dur.ac.uk

Helen Wareham

Does good practice quality equate to earlier cancer stage at diagnosis?

Abstract

The early diagnosis of cancer is a priority within the UK, with GPs being identified as playing a key role. The aim of this research was to look at the relationship between GP practice quality and cancer stage at diagnosis, for breast and colorectal cancer, within the North East of England.

This was done by utilising existing healthcare databases, with data being obtained from the National Health Service (NHS) information centre, public health observatories and Northern and Yorkshire Cancer Registry and Information Service. Patient data was from between 2006-2008 with n = 13,610 cases of breast cancer and n = 11,606 cases of colorectal cancer. The data was combined and a range of analyses conducted to investigate the potential relationship between GP practice quality and a patient's cancer stage at diagnosis.

For breast cancer there was a significant relationship between GP practice quality and cancer stage in both multi-level and base outcome regression analyses. A range of specific variables, many of which were related to patient experience, were found to have a significant effect upon breast cancer stage. Patient age and level of income were also found to have a significant effect upon breast cancer stage.

For colorectal cancer no association was found in multi-level analysis but a significant association was found between cancer stage and variables related to patient experience, such as a patient's ability to see a doctor within two days. Patients of working age (18-64) compared to retirement age (65+), were found to be more likely to have a more advanced cancer stage at diagnosis, as were patients with low income.

In summary, significant associations were found between measures of GP practice quality and patient cancer stage at diagnosis, specifically GP variables related to patient experience. This association suggests that higher quality of practice may increase the likelihood of being diagnosed with earlier stage of cancer. The limitations of this research are highlighted and directions for future research projects and healthcare policy are discussed and outlined.

Does good practice quality equate to earlier

cancer stage at diagnosis?

Helen Wareham

Thesis submitted for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy, School of Medicine,

Pharmacy and Health, Durham University

2013

"The copyright of this thesis rests with the author. No quotation from it should be published without the author's prior written consent and information derived from it should be acknowledged."

Acknowledgements

The first thanks must go to my supervisors; Prof. Greg Rubin, Dr. Jean Adams, and Prof. John Wilkinson. Greg especially deserves a special thanks, as I'm sure I have caused no end of concern and stress, but he has remained patient with me.

The School of Medicine and Health at Durham University and FUSE (The Centre for Translational Research in Public Health) for providing me with this opportunity of study and support when needed.

The data used for this project has come from a range of institutions, employees of which were most helpful and accommodating; NYCRIS, ERPHO & NEPHO. The NIGB office and Sunderland NHS REC were also very helpful with the range of enquiries and questions I had regarding ethics. My thanks also go to them.

This has without a doubt been one of the most difficult and biggest struggles and I could not have maintained my sanity without the help of the following;

The many occupants of E113a and over the 'wall' in E113, for providing a wonderful mix of both academic support, solutions, advice, and sheer entertainment. Special thanks to: Anna Christie, Christina Dobson, Charlotte Kitchen, Rachel Stocker and Patrick Welsh.

Towards the end of this thesis I began working for Durham University museums and libraries. The staff have been amazing and supportive and I thank them for that.

The entertaining staff in the Bill Bryson Library café and café Aroma on Queen's campus for supplying me with copious amounts of coffee.

I have had the distinct privilege and honour to have been a part of Durham University Nightline. Giving up a night's sleep is a small sacrifice to be there for someone when they need it, and no matter how many nights I have given up I have gained so much. From callers who have pushed and tested my beliefs and view of the world, to the support I have received and found in the other volunteers. I cannot adequately express my gratitude.

Most important thanks goes to my family. My parents have always been an unwavering pillar of support in every conceivable way, my sister Laura is equally amazing in her services, and my soon to be wife Kirsty has endured my numerous freak outs, down days, and mood swings with a knowing smile and an unending supply of motivational speeches. Thank you. For my parents (Christine and Dave), Laura, Kirsty and absent friends.

Table of Contents

Abstract1
Title pagei
Acknowledgementsii
Dedicationiii
Table of Contents1
List of figures6
List of tables7
1. Chapter 1 – Introduction9
2. Chapter 2 – Background Literature
2. 1. What is cancer?14
2. 1. 1. Most common cancers
2. 1. 2. Prevalence of cancer15
2. 1.3. Ageing15
2. 1.4. Other factors influencing cancer trends15
2. 2. Pathways to cancer diagnosis in England16
2. 2. 1. Symptomatic/Referral16
2. 2. 2. Asymptomatic
2. 3. EUROCARE21
2. 3. 1. Cancer survival rates

2.	4. Barriers to early diagnosis	24
2.	4. 1. Andersen's model of delay	28
2.	5. Initiatives and Schemes	32
2.	6. Current climate	33
2.	6. 1. GP commissioning	35
2.	6. 2. New NHS 'Health and Social Care Bill'	36
2.	7. Quality of care	36
2.	8. Health database research	37
2.	9. Cancer stage as a measure	38
2.	10. Research aims	39
3. (Chapter 3: Systematic Literature Review	41
Revi	ew title:	42
Mea	surements and assessments of GP practice quality in cancer; from present	ation
of sy	mptoms to diagnosis, and its impact on cancer outcomes	42
3.	1. How is quality of care measured?	45
3.	2. Review objectives	48
3.	3. Search strategy	48
3.	4. What to include/exclude?	50
3. 5.	Inclusion/exclusion criteria	52
3.	6. Review process	53
3.		
	7. EMBASE	54

3. 9. Final articles	56
3. 9. 1. Self-reported guideline adherence – referral to screening	75
3. 9. 2. Organisational	79
3. 9. 3. Clinical guideline adherence	80
3. 9. 4. GP influences	85
3. 10. Discussion	87
3. 10. 1. Strengths and weakness of the review	89
3. 10. 2. Implications and future research	90
4. Chapter 4 – methods	92
4.1. Theoretical considerations	93
4. 2. Databases	97
4. 3. Ethical approval	101
4.4. Working with the data	102
4. 5. Weaknesses and errors in the dataset	109
4. 6. Process used for identifying GP practice codes	110
4.7. Data combination	116
4. 8. Software	117
4.9. Analysis	117
4. 9. 1. Variables	117
4. 9. 2. Preliminary analysis	119
4.9.3. Regression analysis	120
4. 9. 4. Multi-level model	121

4. 10. Additional analysis 123	
4. 10. 1. Deciles	
4. 10. 2. Screening effects125	
4. 11. Dichotomised and unknown stage127	
5. Chapter 5: Results	128
5. 1. Colorectal cancer	
5. 1. 1. Descriptive and distribution analysis	
5. 1. 2. QOF data and distributions136	
5. 1. 3. Correlation matrixes	
5. 1. 4. Regression analysis142	
5. 1. 5. Multi-level model148	
5. 1. 6. Dichotomised stage149	
5. 1. 7. Trend analysis149	
5. 2. Breast cancer	
5. 2. 1. Descriptive and distribution analysis	
5. 2. 2. Screening data155	
5. 2. 3. QOF data157	
5. 2. 4. Correlation matrixes161	
5. 2. 5. Regression162	
5. 2. 6. Multi-level model172	
5. 2. 7. Dichotomised stage173	
5. 2. 8. Trend analysis	

5. 2.9. Screening age patients removed174	ļ
6. Chapter 6 – Discussion	185
6. 1. Aims and objectives	ò
6. 2. Key findings	ì
6. 3. Interpretation of findings188	}
6. 3. 1. Colorectal)
6. 3. 2. Breast	Ļ
6. 4. Interpretation of results in wider context199)
6. 5. Strengths of the study205	,
6. 6. Limitations of the study207	,
7. Chapter 7 – Conclusions	211
7.1. Key findings212	
7.2. Strengths of the project213	5
7.3. Limitations of the project216	ò
7.4. Suggestions for future research and policy220)
7.5. Summary of the project224	ŀ
8. References	227
9. Appendix	244

List of figures

Figure 1. Incidences of multiple cancer cases in a patient115
Figure 2. Outline of multi-level model
Figure 3. QOF total score and patient colorectal cancer stage
Figure 4. QOF total score and patient breast cancer stage
Figure 5. Distribution of colorectal cancer stage130
Figure 6. Distribution of colorectal cancer stage at diagnosis by age
Figure 7. Distribution of colorectal cancer cases based on the sex of the patient 133
Figure 8. Distribution of colorectal cancer cases across the different stages,
Figure 9. Distribution of QOF total scores against colorectal cancer stage
Figure 10. Distribution of QOF clinical domain scores against colorectal cancer138
Figure 11. Distribution of QOF organisational domain scores against colorectal 139
Figure 12. Distribution of QOF patient experience domain scores against
Figure 13. Distribution of QOF additional services domain scores against140
Figure 14. Distribution of breast cancer stage
Figure 15. Distribution of breast cancer stage by patient age
Figure 16. Distribution of breast cancer stages by patient income domain
Figure 17. Distribution of breast cancer stage by screening pathway
Figure 18. Distribution of QOF total scores against breast cancer stage
Figure 19. Distribution of QOF clinical domain scores against breast cancer stage 159
Figure 20. Distribution of QOF organisational domain scores against breast cancer160
Figure 21. Distribution of QOF patient experience domain scores against breast 160
Figure 22. Distribution of QOF additional services domain scores against breast161

List of tables

Table 1. Outline summary of the papers included in the systematic review. 57
Table 2. Cross tabulation of colorectal cancer stage and patient age group. 131
Table 3. Cross tabulation of colorectal cancer stage and patients' sex. 133
Table 4. Cross tabulation of colorectal cancer stage and patient income domain 134
Table 5. Summary statistics for each of the QOF domains and QOF total score137
Table 6. Base outcome output for colorectal data, with stage 1 as the base
Table 7. Base outcome output, with just the top and bottom deciles of the QOF145
Table 8. Cross tabulation of breast cancer stage and patient age. 152
Table 9. A cross tabulation of patient income domain against cancer stage at155
Table 10. Summary statistics of the QOF domain scores and QOF total score158
Table 11. Baseoutcome output for breast cancer, screen detected cases removed, 165
Table 12. Baseoutcome output for breast cancer, screen detected cases removed, 168
Table 13. Multi-level variance at GP and PCT level for breast cancer with172
Table 14. Multi-level variance at GP and PCT level for breast cancer with173
Table 15. Base outcome output for breast cancer, screen detected cases and patients
of177
Table 16. Base outcome output for breast cancer, screen detected cases and screening
Table 17. Multi-level variance at GP and PCT level for breast cancer with screening.183
Table 18. Multi-level variance at GP and PCT level for breast cancer with screening
cases
Table 19. Factors associated with referral rate, taken from Foot et al. (2010)204
Table 20. Appendix 2, correlation table of colorectal cancer variables. $*p = <.05 \dots 251$
Table 21. Appendix 3, correlation table of breast cancer variables. * $p = <.05 \dots 251$

Table 22. Appendix 4. Regression output for colorectal cancer
Table 23. Appendix 5. Regression output for colorectal cancer of top and bottom
deciles of QOF total score
Table 24. Appendix 6. Regression output for breast cancer
Table 25. Appendix 7. Regression output for breast cancer with top and bottom
deciles of QOF total score
Table 26. Appendix 8. Base outcome output for breast cancer, screen detected cases
and patient's of screening age removed269
Table 27. Appendix 9. Base outcome output for breast cancer, screen detected cases
and screening age patient's removed, with just top and bottom deciles of QOF total score.

1. Chapter 1 – Introduction

The primary aim of this thesis was to examine the potential relationship between GP practice quality and cancer stage at diagnosis. The rationale for this being that diagnosis of cancer at a less advanced stage is shown to improve patients' outcomes (Brenner *et al.*, 2012, Coleman *et al.*, 2003, Richards, 2007, Verdecchia *et al.*, 2007b). Many countries have invested in and developed early detection initiatives and programmes, for example, in the UK the National Awareness and Early Diagnosis Initiative (NAEDI) (Richards, 2009). GPs have been identified as playing a key role in early detection and diagnosis, the most common diagnostic pathway is through patients presenting their symptoms to a GP and the GP referring suspected cancer cases to specialists.

While inequalities in patient demographics and their impact on cancer diagnosis and outcomes is well documented (Cuthbertson *et al.*, 2009, Collerton *et al.*, 2009), there is a suggestion that GP factors may contribute to delays in diagnosis (Barrett *et al.*, 2010). Equally with the change in economic climate, funding and public service cuts and the growing issue of global health, there is a greater pressure on GPs to deliver good and accurate service.

It was hypothesised, therefore, that GPs and practices that perform well in assessments of their quality standards would refer patients with suspected cancer earlier and that those diagnosed with cancer would have earlier stage disease.

Within the UK GPs can partake in a national quality scheme, the Quality and Outcomes Framework (QOF), which measures their quality of service not just in a clinical capacity but also on an organisational and customer satisfaction level. Schemes such as these mean that large databases regarding and containing health data are being developed and created which provide a unique and desirable source of data for research. Part of the aim of this research was to utilise existing health datasets, as this research was funded by the Economic and Social Research Council (ESRC) as part of their e-health initiative. The ESRC's aim was to build capacity for future research using personalised electronic health records, with a particular aim to link and combine existing datasets.

This particular studentship was to have a focus on cancer in primary care and was obtained through a successful bid by FUSE, the UKCRC-funded Centre for Translational Research in Public Health which was based at Durham University but jointly supervised with Newcastle University.

The aim and objective of this thesis are therefore as follows:

- The aim of this project was to investigate whether there was a relationship between GP practice quality and patient cancer stage at diagnosis.
- The objective of this project was to use a secondary data analysis method by utilising and obtaining data from existing health databases in order to analyse if there was a potential link between GP practice quality and patient cancer stage at diagnosis in breast and colorectal cancer in the North East region of England.

The chapters of this thesis are as follows:

Chapter 2: Background literature

This chapter provides an overview of literature in the area of this thesis. An explanation of cancer and the scale of the problem, both within the UK and globally, is given before exploring the research surrounding diagnosis and the associated delays and barriers. It summarises the current economic climate and the impact of the recent change in government on the National Health Service (NHS) in England. The current process of cancer diagnoses in England, how it is identified and the role GPs have to play in diagnosis

is outlined along with the quality measures that have and are currently being used to assess GP practice quality. Finally the study's primary aim and wider secondary aims are outlined.

Chapter 3: Systematic literature review

In this chapter an overview of quality of care within primary care is provided; how quality is defined, issues with the definitions, how it has been measured, how it is measured now and the problems of those approaches. The way in which quality has been measured and assessed has been widely debated, therefore it seemed pertinent to conduct a systematic review of the literature in this area with the aim to clarify and identify gaps within the current research. A search criteria was developed and a systematic search conducted with the aid of a second reviewer before a narrative analysis was conducted on the final selected papers.

Chapter 4: Methods

This thesis used existing healthcare databases as the source of information and data. This type of secondary data analysis is a more recent method, with little previous research utilising and combining the particular resources used in this study. As a result this chapter discusses the choices and reasons for selecting certain databases, the unique and specific challenges of ethics and obtaining the data as well as outlining the planned analysis approach.

Chapter 5: Results

In this chapter the results of the analysis are reported, with the two cancer types being reported separately. For each, the findings are outlined from the distributions within each variable through each stage of analysis.

Chapter 6: Discussion

The key findings of the research are summarised and discussed within the context of current and previous research. What they add to the current knowledge and understanding in this area and where conflicts with previous findings lay. How this research fits into the current and evolving climate of healthcare in England is discussed, along with comments on its impact on the current changes along with recommendations for changes within healthcare based on this study's findings.

Chapter 7: Conclusions

A summary of the study is provided, along with the strengths and weaknesses of this research. Personal reflections on conducting this project and what changes would be made given the opportunity to repeat the experience, along with suggestions for the direction of future research in this area and/or as a continuation of this project.

2. Chapter 2 – Background Literature

This chapter contains a general literature review and outlines the current climate surrounding cancer diagnosis and GPs. Starting with a brief outline of what cancer is, its causes and prevalence, it then goes on to discuss early detection and its importance in cancer diagnosis and survival outcomes and the barriers that have been found to delay that process. Models that have been developed to explain the process of delay and associated factors are discussed before an explanation of the different diagnostic pathways that patients can take within the English health care system, is outlined.

These pathways are then put into the context of the current climate; the impact of recent economic and political events, such as the recession and future NHS reforms are discussed and finally a brief overview of quality of care within primary care is included, this is however discussed more in-depth in chapter 3 (systematic literature review), before the primary research aim and subsidiary aims are outlined.

2. 1. What is cancer?

Cancer is a generic term for a large group of diseases that can affect any part of the body and is characterised by the uncontrolled growth and spread of cells. What causes cancer is still not entirely known or understood, but it is clear that the interaction between a person's genetic traits and external agents are important. These external factors include a range of known carcinogens, such as ultraviolet and ionizing radiation, asbestos, aflatoxin and arsenic. Other risk factors associated with cancer include; leading an unhealthy life style (poor diet and exercise), tobacco and alcohol use and infections from viruses such as hepatitis and human papilloma virus.

Ageing is a known factor in the development of cancer, as age increases the risk and also the incidence of cancer. This is thought to be most likely due to a 'build-up' effect, the accumulation of external risk factors combined with the decrease in cell repair efficiency as a person ages.

2. 1.1. Most common cancers

Worldwide the most common cancers are; lung, stomach, liver, colon and breast. However, the incidence differs between men and women, in particular breast predominantly affect females with a low percentage of males being affected. Within the UK the most common cancers differ slightly with breast, lung, colorectal and prostate being the four most common. Between males and females both lung and colorectal are common in both groups but in males prostate is the most common and in females, breast (Rutherford *et al.*, 2013, Cancer Research UK, 2013).

2. 1.2. Prevalence of cancer

Worldwide cancer is a leading cause of death, accounting for around 7.6 million deaths annually and it is projected that by 2030 these will rise to over 13.1 million. Within the UK in 2009 there were 156,090 deaths from cancer and it is the second highest cause of death in the UK, second to circulatory diseases (Cancer Research UK, 2013, Office of National Statistics, 2012). There are approximately 309,527 new cases of cancer diagnosed each year in the UK (Cancer Research UK, 2013).

2. 1.3. Ageing

The proportion of global populations aged over 60 years is rising rapidly, by 2050 the estimate is that one third of the global population will be aged 60 and over (United Nations, 2007). In the UK this is of particular concern, as the current retirement age in the UK is 65 and 10 million people within the UK population are 65 and over (this equates to 1 in 6 people). In the UK, between 2006-2008, 89% of newly diagnosed cancer cases were in people aged 50+. 36% were in people aged 75+, the highest cancer incidence rate in any age group per 100,000 (Boreham *et al.*, 2002). The current life expectancy for a child born today is over 85 years old and at present in those aged 85+, almost a quarter (23.9%) have been diagnosed with some type of cancer (Collerton *et al.*, 2009).

2. 1.4. Other factors influencing cancer trends

Certain factors have been identified which, while they do not necessarily cause or directly contribute to the development of cancer have been found to either contribute to an increased likelihood of developing cancer or influence patient diagnosis and treatment. In particular age, sex, ethnic origin, geography and socioeconomic status have been identified as factors which have an influence (Downing *et al.*, 2007b, Delamothe, 2008,

Conway *et al.*, 2007, Cuthbertson *et al.*, 2009). The All Party Parliamentary Group On Cancer in their 2009 report on cancer inequalities support this and in addition highlight the fact that disability, sexual orientation and cancer type can also have an impact.

2. 2. Pathways to cancer diagnosis in England

All residents in the UK are meant to be registered with a local GP practice or surgery in order to receive access to health services. GPs are therefore, generally, the first point of contact within the health service. A patient will present their symptoms to a GP to be treated or referred on, as a result GPs act as gatekeepers to specialist care and play a vital role in the diagnosis and early detection of cancer.

In the case of cancer there are two basic diagnostic pathways that patients will receive a diagnosis through; symptomatic and asymptomatic.

2. 2.1. Symptomatic/Referral

When a GP is presented with symptoms by a patient, which they suspect to be cancer, a referral is usually made to a specialist in secondary care for the relevant diagnostic tests to be carried out and assessed. These referrals can take time, depending on the time and resource constraints of the relevant hospital or health care facility/department. Research such as the EUROCARE studies have shown differences between European countries in cancer survival, and these have been attributed to differences in time to diagnosis (Møller *et al.*, 2009, Sant *et al.*, 2009, Verdecchia *et al.*, 2007a, Richards, 2007). In 1997 the two week referral (TWR) was introduced to reduce the waiting time for referrals, if a GP suspected a cancer then they could make an urgent referral and the target is for the patient to be seen by a specialist within two weeks. Presentations and symptom identification is a problem for GPs in tackling cancer. With more than 200 different types of cancer there are a vast range of symptoms and factors which affect their presentation. In particular certain cancers, such as breast can present with a clear set of symptoms such as a breast lump and/or pain, and there are clear screening and diagnostic tests which can be used to achieve a diagnosis, such as a mammogram or biopsy. Therefore these cancers can potentially be identified, diagnosed and treated quickly resulting in good health outcomes and survival. However, there are equally a number of cancers which do not have clear symptoms. For example, Barrett *et al.* (2010) identified that there is no validated screening test for ovarian cancer and therefore these cases present primarily through primary care as symptomatic cases, similarly in pancreatic cancer symptoms are vague and can be easily interpreted and attributed to a different health problem, such as back pain.

This can make it difficult to identify which cases are appropriate for the two week referral. However, to aid GPs identification as to whether a patient's symptoms should be urgently referred on the TWR pathway, a series of guidelines based on 'red flag' symptoms have been developed and are regularly updated. These red flag symptoms can also identify when to use intrusive diagnostic procedures, e.g. in cases such as colorectal cancer where it is difficult to identify and diagnose without the use of invasive procedures such as endoscopies (Jones *et al.*, 2007, Hamilton *et al.*, 2009, Hamilton *et al.*, 2005, Jones *et al.*, 2009).

The TWR scheme has been met with a mixed response and varied success (Jones *et al.*, 2001, Barwick *et al.*, 2004, Cornford *et al.*, 2004, Haikel *et al.*, 2011, Potter *et al.*, 2007). While, as highlighted above, certain cancers such as breast have benefitted from the system in comparison to other cancer types, the introduction of TWR/urgent referrals has created a strain on health care resources. Hospital departments, in an effort to meet

targets have reported problems with trying to meet the demand, with some reporting seeing double the number of referrals each year. Equally some research has indicated that despite increases in the number of referrals, seen there has been no improvement in the proportion of earlier stage cancers diagnosed (McKie *et al.*, 2008).

It should be noted that there are alternatives to a GP referral via this pathway. Patients could, for example, be admitted to hospital as an emergency admission because their symptoms are so severe, and then receive a diagnosis this way, thereby by-passing their GP and any primary care involvement in the diagnosis. Emergency presentations are not uncommon and vary between cancer types, for example, Raine *et al.* (2010) reported finding an average rate of 15% for breast cancer emergency hospital admissions, while lung cancer was as high as 50%. The National Cancer Intelligence Network has reported an average 25% rate of emergency hospital admissions for all cancers and Bottle *et al.* (Bottle *et al.*, 2012) recently reported finding a 21.9% rate. Higher rates of emergency admission to hospital for cancer are generally viewed as an indicator of poor quality within the local area/Primary Care Trust (PCT) (Downing *et al.*, 2007b, Forrest *et al.*, 2014). Cancers diagnosed through emergency admissions are also more likely to be at a more advanced stage (Brewster *et al.*, 2011, Downing *et al.*, 2007b).

2. 2.2. Asymptomatic

In the asymptomatic pathway patients haven't presented or experienced any symptoms to their GP. Patients are called to, or participate in, a cancer screening programme or initiative which has then detected the cancer. Currently there are three cancer screening programmes run by the NHS in England:

- Breast the NHS Breast Screening Programme invites all women between the ages of 50 and 70 for routine mammograms every three years. Around 1.5 million women are screened every year. It is important to highlight that this screening programme is conducted by and at screening units, not by GPs and their practice; however GPs do issue reminders if patients have not attended when invited. (http://www.cancerscreening.nhs.uk/breastscreen/index.html)
- Cervical the NHS Cervical Screening Programme; while a major part of its aim and goal is to identify cancer it is not a specific screening programme for cancer, rather it detects abnormalities in the cervix which could lead to cancer. All women between the ages of 25 – 64 are eligible for screening every 3-5 years, with over 3 million women being screened each year.

(http://www.cancerscreening.nhs.uk/cervical/index.html)

 Bowel – during this research the NHS Bowel Screening Programme was a new initiative that has now been rolled out across England. The programme will screen both men and women aged 60 – 69, increasing to 74 in the near future. (http://www.cancerscreening.nhs.uk/bowel/index.html)

Screening programmes for other types of cancer have been suggested, such as routine chest x-rays for lung cancer; however, such initiatives and programmes are either not cost effective or the validity of the test is not sufficient to warrant a national programme (Whynes, 2008).

Patients can also be diagnosed through other asymptomatic routes. In the UK the majority of health care is provided by the NHS but private health care is available at a cost. Annual health checks can include a variety of diagnostic procedures which could identify a cancer without the patient having presented any symptoms, for example it is not uncommon for chest x-rays or MRI scans to be used in health checks. The discovery of a

cancer during health care treatment for another health issue is yet another avenue. For example, the discovery of breast cancers during cosmetic procedures, such as breast augmentation.

There are limitations to both pathways. The asymptomatic pathway is limited because not all types of cancer can be easily identified through a national screening programme or even through simple diagnostic tests. However, asymptomatic cancers are on average diagnosed at a less advanced stage (Rowlingson et al., 2013), although there is debate about whether this is always in the patient's best interest. For example, in breast cancer certain forms are slow to develop and therefore it may be that a patient would never be affected by the cancer in their lifetime but having it diagnosed through screening may result in them going through biopsies, surgery, chemotherapy etc. which cause discomfort and distress. There is also the problem of false positives particularly in breast cancer where in a systematic review Hofvind et al. (2012) identified a false positive rate between 8-21%. False positives can cause high levels of stress and anxiety for patients and the clarity of information given to patients who participate in screening has been questioned (Gøtzsche et al., 2009) with regard to the risk of false positive results. In addition to this there have been concerns expressed about the diagnostic tests used and the cost. In the case of breast cancer mammograms, research has suggested that they are no more effective than a health care professional who has received training conducting a breast examination (Barton et al., 1999).

In the case of the symptomatic pathway there is an issue of time, as nothing can be done until a patient presents symptoms; the GP must make a suitable referral and then the specialist needs to make a diagnosis. At any of these points delays can occur such as where a patient has delayed and then presents with a more advanced stage cancer which will have a negative impact upon their health outcome. Delay by GPs has a likewise negative

impact upon a patient's outcome. With over 200 types of cancer, for the majority there is no screening programme and these will be diagnosed through a symptomatic pathway thus putting a strain on GPs and health care resources. This makes the speed and accuracy with which a diagnosis is made, all the more important. Research has suggested, particularly in the case of ovarian cancer, that countries with a tradition of primary care, i.e. having GPs so specialist care is only accessible through primary care referral, have the worst mortality rates, therefore it has been suggested that the 'gatekeeper' process could be a factor in delay to diagnosis (Barrett *et al.*, 2010).

It should be noted that patients can fail to be diagnosed on either pathway and cases of cancer are sometimes not discovered until after death, during a post-mortem autopsy.

2. 3. EUROCARE

Information and data regarding cancer is recorded and collated in the UK by regional cancer registries. The data comes from multiple sources, such as death records, NHS records etc. Cancer registries work with a range of organisations within their area; Primary Care Trusts (PCTs), Strategic Health Authorities (SHAs), cancer networks and national organisations, such as the Office of National Statistics (ONS), to produce healthcare figures and publications.

Cancer registries are established across Europe and worldwide in selected countries. Information and data from the registries in Europe has been brought in and analysed together (with individual countries compared), in EUROCARE (European Cancer Registry); an on-going research project which has collected data and researched the survival of European cancer patients since 1989. Since the project began EUROCARE has, in addition, used the data to detect substantial changes across regions and countries over time.

2.3.1. Cancer survival rates

The findings of EUROCARE research have impacted and influenced UK policy and practice, particularly in recent years as the UK has been found to have one of the lowest cancer survival rates in Europe, compared with countries of similar status (Coleman *et al.*, 2008, Verdecchia *et al.*, 2007a, Allemani *et al.*, 2010, Brenner *et al.*, 2012, Møller *et al.*, 2009, Sant *et al.*, 2009). Improvements in cancer survival rates are a crucial measure as improvements in survival relate to and cause improvements in other aspects, such as quality of life. For example, in breast cancer each subsequent year of survival has been found to increase patient quality of life (Cimprich *et al.*, 2002). However it should be noted that since the start of the EUROCARE studies cancer survival for most cancers has increased and the differences between countries has decreased (Richards, 2007).

From the EUROCARE studies it was also found that in the four most common cancers (breast, colorectal, lung and prostate) and ovarian cancer, the UK had lower survival rates, compared to other European countries which had a similar national expenditure on health (Richards, 2007).

The use of survival rates as an outcome measure for cancer is common within research (Rachet *et al.*, 2010, Bonner *et al.*, 2010, Saunders and Abel, 2014, Hwang *et al.*, 2009, Abdel-Rahman *et al.*, 2009), and research into cancer survival rates outside of the EUROCARE studies have found similar results (Holmberg *et al.*, 2010, Bonner *et al.*, 2010, Morris *et al.*, 2011). Specifically, in both lung (Holmberg *et al.*, 2010) and colorectal (Morris *et al.*, 2011) cancer, when compared with countries with a similar healthcare system, such as Norway and Sweden, England had lower five-year survival rates.

There have been criticisms of this particular EUROCARE finding, regarding the study's methodology; in particular they have been criticised for underestimating UK cancer survival

rates (Wilkinson, 2009). In comparison to the majority of cancer registries across Europe the UK does not have a system of compulsory registration of cancer cases, meaning that there is a high amount of missing or incomplete data. This has resulted in England having a high rate of registry data which is excluded by the EUROCARE studies, compared with the remainder of European cancer registries. In particular England has over double the rate of cancers registered solely on the basis of death certificates (6.1% in England compared with 2.7% for Europe)(Coleman *et al.*, 2008). These are obviously excluded because the cancer has been identified after death and so there is no diagnosis date and resulting 'survival' period. While this does identify an issue in the data used by the EUROCARE studies it also highlights issues within the UK. Even though these are small percentages it still means that 6.1% of cancer cases recorded by UK cancer registries went undiagnosed during the lifetime of a patient.

Research has also identified other potential problems, some of which may account for or be associated with low survival rates. Cancer registries do not routinely collect data regarding comorbidities in patients and therefore the EUROCARE studies do not sufficiently account for the impact that other and complex health issues may have upon delay to diagnosis and/or the receipt of treatment (Quaglia *et al.*, 2009, Richards, 2009).

Since EUROCARE began, as previously stated, survival rates have improved but equally improvements in treatment, such as new chemotherapy drugs and surgical techniques and diagnostic method, such as population screening programmes, have been made. Thomson & Forman (2009) highlight that in oesophageal and pancreatic cancers improvements in chemotherapeutic regimens are responsible for improved survival rates rather than the identification of earlier stage cancers. Brenner *et al.* (2012) suggested that progress in treatment therapy is the most important explanation for survival increases in colorectal cancer, but supports that awareness and early diagnosis contribute in some way. However,

EUROCARE is and continues to be an important project as its findings have and do prompt further investigation and analysis in areas, such as diagnostic delay.

What contributes to the low survival rates found in EUROCARE has been a major topic of debate within the UK. Further investigation and analysis of the EUROCARE findings has attributed these low survival rates to diagnostic delay, specifically patients presenting with more advanced stage cancers at diagnosis (Thomson and Forman, 2009, Richards, 2007). It has been found that the UK does have significantly longer delays in patients receiving a cancer diagnosis compared to select countries in Europe (Murchie et al., 2012). Similarly more advanced stage cancers are understandably harder to treat whereas in cancers which have seen, for example, advances in treatments, improvements in diagnostic criteria and early detection/screening initiatives, survival rates have improved significantly (Evans and Møller, 2003, Karim-Kos et al., 2008, Coleman et al., 2003, Coleman et al., 2008). Even just increasing one-year survival rates has been found to have a knock on effect, in particular survival after one year is associated with increased likelihood of survival at five years (Sant et al., 2009). It has therefore become a focus and priority in the UK to improve early diagnosis and reduce diagnostic delay in an attempt to improve survival rates (Fern et al., 2011). However, trying to understand what causes diagnostic delay in the first place is an issue that is not fully understood (Tate et al., 2009).

2. 4. Barriers to early diagnosis

The importance of delay is echoed by Macdonald *et al.* (2006) in their systematic review of upper gastrointestinal cancer, where they found that while many studies discussed delay in primary care, few actually studied it. While a clear explanation for low survival rates and diagnostic delays has not been clearly established, research has identified a number of factors or barriers that can affect patients and cause delay on their

pathway to diagnosis. Patient inequalities have been a particular focus in research and health care and it has been found that while the aim in health provision is equality for all and many strategies have been tried and implemented to provide this, socio-economic, geographical and access to healthcare inequalities still exists (Walters *et al.*, 2011, Holmberg *et al.*, 2010, Rachet *et al.*, 2010).

In the context of health care, inequality is seen as when an individual's experience differs from what is perceived as the norm. In particular age, sex, ethnic origin, geography and socioeconomic status are present across the health care system (Delamothe, 2008, Conway *et al.*, 2007, Cuthbertson *et al.*, 2009, Downing *et al.*, 2007b). The All Party Parliamentary Group On Cancer in their 2009 report on cancer inequalities support this, highlighting in addition; disability, sexual orientation and cancer type as key inequalities that need to be tackled within health care.

Inequalities in primary care have been particularly highlighted and increases in funding and government spending in the last 15-20 years reflect the motivation and need to tackle this problem (Asthana and Gibson, 2008b). The focus has been on primary care as previous research has identified that once a diagnosis has been made and patients move from primary care into secondary care and beyond, the quality of health care becomes equitable (Vedavanam *et al.*, 2009, Downing *et al.*, 2007b, Strong *et al.*, 2006). However, there is research that suggests that there are some positive inequalities present in secondary care, for example older patients receiving cancer treatment more quickly than under 50 year old patients (Robertson *et al.*, 2004).

Geographical location has been found to present a number of influencing factors and barriers. The socio-economic status of a region varies across the country, for example an inner-city area such as Central Manchester has a higher level of deprivation than North Dorset, which is more affluent (Asthana and Gibson, 2008a). Living in a more deprived area

is associated with being diagnosed with a later stage of cancer compared to patients who live in more affluent areas (Downing *et al.*, 2007b).

Areas of the UK have higher numbers of hospital admissions and death rates where there are fewer GPs per head of population (Jarman *et al.*, 2010). The suggested explanation for this is that due to the greater demand on the GPs that are available, people go untreated, due to limited consultation slots etc., and therefore end up entering the health care system at a later stage as hospital emergency admissions. Practices with more nurses perform better by QOF standards and this leads to actual improvements in patient health, rather than simply more effective administration (Griffiths *et al.*, 2010). It is generally the case that areas where there is a high demand on GPs are often areas of deprivation and within these, patients have reported experiencing delays in accessing their GPs (Mercer and Watt, 2007).

This links to what is known as the 'inverse care law', which states that those most in need of health care are those least likely to receive it. This has an impact at a population level because as demands on GPs increase, the quality of care decreases; for example reduced access to health care, shorter consultation times, which ultimately leads to increased hospital/emergency admissions. Campbell *et al.* (2001) support this finding. In their investigation for quality of care they found deprivation of an area to be a predictor of quality of care. They also found, adequate time for consultation, the size of practice and the team climate within the practice to be predictors of quality of care. In a review of oral cancer cases from the Scottish cancer registry it was revealed that increases in the number of cases diagnosed were almost entirely attributed to patients living in the most deprived areas of Scotland (Conway *et al.*, 2007). However, Ashworth *et al.* (2007) found while there were differences between practices based on location the overall differences between primary care indicators in deprived and affluent areas were small. Interestingly they did

observe that practices engaged in training performed better in deprived areas than their non-training counterparts.

The distribution of funding within Primary Care Trusts (PCTs) has been found to differ between geographical regions, for example, in Oxfordshire PCT only £5,182 is spent on cancer treatment per patient whereas in Nottingham PCT £17,028 is made available for treatment per patient (Delamothe, 2008).

Differences between cancer diagnoses in patients residing in rural versus urban areas have been well documented. Those living in rural areas have greater distances to travel to access GPS and health care facilities which contribute to presenting with advanced cancer stage at diagnosis and suffering worse outcomes, and this has been observed both in the UK (Campbell *et al.*, 2001, Lovett *et al.*, 2002, Jones *et al.*, 2008) and internationally (Liff *et al.*, 1991, Launoy *et al.*, 1992). However, there is research to the contrary. A Scottish study (Robertson *et al.*, 2004) found that in the case of breast cancer women who lived in rural areas, and therefore lived further away from health care facilities, were treated more quickly than women living closer.

Delays such as shorter consultation times can have a psychological impact upon patients in additional to delayed diagnosis. Patients who are given longer consultations by their GPs have been found to become more enabled and are therefore generally happier and more able to cope with problems (Howie *et al.*, 1999).

The type of health care centre itself could also contribute towards diagnostic and treatment delays. Cancer centres were found to have longer delays than other 'non-specialist' health care centres (Robertson *et al.*, 2004), possibly due to demand. However, patients admitted to a 'non-cancer' centre were almost 50% less likely to go on to receive

chemotherapy compared with patients admitted to cancer units or centres (Pitchforth *et al.*, 2002).

2. 4.1. Andersen's model of delay

With such a wide ranging number of factors and barriers, attempts to organise and group these together into a model have been made. The most common of which is Andersen's model of delay (Andersen *et al.*, 1995). With this model there are three key stages that are pertinent to this research:

- Patient an individual recognises a symptom(s) but does not act upon it and therefore does not immediately present the symptom(s) to their GP.
 Similarly patients may exclude or play down symptoms when they do see a GP. A patient's ability to communicate symptoms to a GP can also be an issue that causes delay.
- Practitioner the GP fails to recognise the severity of the symptom(s) or does not recognise them as cancer symptoms; misdiagnosis. As a result a referral is either not made or isn't made with the necessary urgency.
- Hospital/system once a GP has made the referral an administration error or simply overburdened resources cause delay; for example, long waiting lists, lost paperwork, miscommunication, issues with equipment and diagnostic sensitivity.

Patient Delay

Tromp *et al.* (2005) referred to patient delay as; 'the way in which people cope with a symptom' and the way in which an individual responds to this is vital to their decision to seek medical advice, or not to as the case may be. In their research into Dutch patients

with head and neck cancer they found that an individual's coping style (whether they had an avoidant or active strategy), defensive functioning, optimism and health hardiness were most related to patient delay. A systematic review of upper gastrointestinal cancer (Macdonald *et al.*, 2006) suggested that patient delay was greater than delays attributed to GPs, with symptom recognition, patient history and patient characteristics some of the main factors associated with delay.

In the UK previous research has found that females, in particular those who are smokers or those who are in employment, delay seeking treatment for longer compared to non-smoking or retired females (Hansen *et al.*, 2009). Andersen *et al.* (1995) found that the main component of patient delay was how they interpreted their symptoms. This is more recently supported by Corner *et al.* (2006) who in their investigation of patient delay in lung cancer found that, regardless of socio-economic status, patients simply did not identify their symptoms as anything serious and therefore did not seek treatment early. Following on from this, improving education about health and cancer symptoms has been found to contribute towards reducing patient delay. From community intervention studies, such as Lyon *et al.* (2009) initiatives have been launched to raise awareness of cancer symptoms and after a year there were significantly more two week referrals and an increase in the number of diagnoses being made.

GP delay

In the same way that patients can have preconceptions that can cause delays so can GPs. Research into GPs' diagnoses of coronary heart disease found that when GPs were presented with the same symptoms by different people, females were asked fewer questions and given fewer examinations and diagnostic tests compared with males (Arber *et al.*, 2006). In addition Hansen *et al.* (2008) found that well-educated males and females

and those with a large household income experienced shorter doctor delays compared with their counterparts. Crawford (2009) observed that there was a mind set in general practice of conserving resources (which includes diagnostic tools). This causes delays and inequalities as it is then primarily the articulate and more assertive patients who get preferential care and make the most of available resources.

System delay

System delays can be difficult to measure. The most researched delay is that around date of diagnosis within the UK as there is inconsistency in cancer records as to at what point a diagnosis is officially made. For example, is it when the multi-disciplinary team at the hospital meet to make the diagnosis; is it the date the GP practice receives the diagnosis or the appointment date in which the GP informs the patient (Tate *et al.*, 2009)? System delays can also be hard to quantify as GPs may act quickly with referrals and patients be sent an appointment within the two week period. However, if a patient does not attend the appointment and is then subsequently diagnosed with cancer, the non-attendance is not always accounted for in audit and delay statistics. In Canada delays in breast cancer diagnosis were primarily attributed to system delays, specifically the scheduling of diagnostic procedures (Bairati *et al.*, 2007). Similar types of system delays have been reported in the US in the move from primary to secondary care, from receiving a diagnosis to getting treatment (Katz *et al.*, 1993)., In particular African-American females experienced the most delays, compared with other ethnic groups (Gorin *et al.*, 2007).

The importance of specifically looking at delay and its causes is echoed by Macdonald *et al.* (2006). In a systematic review of delay to diagnosis in upper gastrointestinal cancer it was found that the patient phase of delay was greatest and, where practitioner delay occurred, misdiagnosis and the presence/confounding effect of an existing health problem were the main causes of delay (Macdonald *et al.*, 2006).

The healthcare system within the UK is in some ways unique, and can therefore create a problem in terms of comparable research from other countries. However, delay and particular factors of delay do appear to be universal, with research in other countries and health systems having identified similar determinants and factors associated with delayed cancer diagnosis (Bairati *et al.*, 2007).

To tackle the issue of delays, reallocation of funding and the development of schemes and initiatives has been the usual response. Funding schemes such as the Allocation of Resources to English Areas (AREA) are delivering more money and resources into deprived areas. Macdonald et al. (2006), in their systematic review of upper gastrointestinal cancer found that in the last twenty years delay intervals have not actually decreased but have remained static. This suggests that despite efforts no real improvements in tackling inequalities have been made. Research by Asthana & Gibson (2008b) suggests that in terms of cancer such schemes as increasing funding in deprived areas are misguided. In their re-analysis of data from health databases (including QOF) they found that cancer was more of a burden for GPs in less deprived areas. This goes against conventional opinion and the inverse care law, suggesting that cancer is an exception compared to other diseases, such as diabetes and cardiovascular disease. The suggestion for this change in pattern is that the elderly population is one of the highest risk groups for cancer and this particular group are more likely to reside within more affluent areas. Another suggestion could be that patients in more deprived areas delay seeking consultations etc. and as a result are more likely to be diagnosed via hospital admissions, therefore by-passing the GP and primary care process all together.
2. 5. Initiatives and Schemes

In response to research and findings, such as EUROCARE, a number of schemes and initiatives have been developed and implemented.

As discussed, in the pathways to diagnosis section, initiatives such as the two week wait and screening programmes such as those for breast cancer have been implemented in an effort to identify or 'catch' cancer at an earlier stage, or where cancer is suspected that a referral to a specialist is carried out quickly. Previous research has linked early diagnosis, and diagnosis at a less advanced stage of cancer, with survival outcomes (Virnig *et al.*, 2009, Richards, 2007, Thomson and Forman, 2009) and the negative affect that delays, organisational issues, and access to healthcare can have upon early diagnosis (Holmberg *et al.*, 2010, Daly and Collins, 2007, Jiwa *et al.*, 2004). Johnson et al (2011) identified that in endometrial cancer up to 1,600 women a year will delay up to six months, in presenting symptoms to their GP, and in their review of EUROCARE findings Abdel-Rahman et al (2009) identified that between 6,600 – 7,500 of cancer cases in England resulted in premature or avoidable deaths, highlighting the importance of continued research and improvements in this area.

In November 2008 the Department of Health (DoH) created and launched, as part of its 'Cancer Reform Strategy', NAEDI (National Awareness and Early Diagnosis Initiative). The aim of NAEDI is to make progress in improving national cancer outcomes by coordinating and providing support to initiatives and research into early diagnosis of cancer. NAEDI currently have four 'work streams' to achieve this:

- Achieving early presentation by public and patients specifically increasing public awareness of cancer symptoms and also reducing barriers to patient access of health care services.
- Optimising clinical practice and systems the focus of this is around GPs and their awareness of 'red flag' symptoms along with improving referral and interaction between primary and secondary care.
- Improving GP access to diagnostics this has involved a survey of GPs to ascertain which resources, services and support they require to deliver a fast and accurate diagnosis.
- Research, evaluation and monitoring this final stream is to ensure that work done by NAEDI is accurate and to evaluate any initiatives that are developed.

Of particular interest, in the initial work conducted by NAEDI there has been a systematic review of the potential link between more advanced stages of cancer at diagnosis and poorer health outcomes in the UK. The review did find that such a link exists, supporting the idea that earlier diagnosis at a less advanced stage will give better outcomes, such as increased survival (Richards, 2009).

2. 6. Current climate

Since the start of this project there have been a number of economic and political changes that have or will affect health care and the NHS in the future. In particular the global recession that first hit in 2008, and again in 2011, has had a profound effect on the funding and resources available to the NHS.

However, everyone is feeling the effects of the global recession. Being out of work, losing a job and the threat of job losses has both a negative physical and psychological

impact on people (Torjesen, 2010). As a result, greater demands have been placed on the NHS to help and provide support; for example, within mental health in 2009, 39.1m prescriptions were issued for anti-depressants, almost double the number ten years previously in 1999 (20.1m (Davis, 2010)) and a 3.2m increase on the previous year 2008, 35.9m (Torjesen, 2010). Issues such as patients struggling to afford prescriptions for chronic conditions have risen as a result of the recession (Asthma UK, 2009).

Money into cancer research had been consistently increasing and in the last ten years has doubled, in 2010 it was £504 million and as part of the government's 2010 spending review, the fund for cancer drugs was to be increased to £200 million per year. From these figures we can see that there has been a huge amount of investment into tackling cancer but since 2010 the NHS has been set the target of reducing its spending by up to £20 billion by 2014.

It's been highlighted that within England certain regions and areas have been affected more by the recession, specifically the northern regions of the country (Whitehead and Doran, 2011). Northern regions have seen increased unemployment rates and higher government spending cuts, particularly in welfare benefits and public services (Cox and Schmuecker, 2010). Prior to the recession it had been observed that there was an unequal distribution of GPs across the country, with fewer GPs per head of population in the Northern regions. This puts Northern region NHS services in a position of having fewer resources but with a greater demand and need for those resources compared to other regions in the country.

The NHS and health care within the UK is constantly changing; regular reforms along with changes of government mean that many schemes and initiatives are put in place and then changed a few years later. In 1999, as part of a reform to implement national clinical governance the CGST (Clinical Governance Support Team) was established. The CGST was

closed in 2008 and power was transferred to a local level with individual SHAs (Strategic Health Authorities) responsible for providing clinical governance in their area. As part of the new health and social care bill SHAs will now be disbanded in favour of clinical commisioning groups.

During the time of this research there was also a change in government in 2010, from a Labour government to a coalition Conservative/Liberal Democrat government. Aside from large funding cuts in reaction to the continuing recession, the new government has looked to carry out a number of health and NHS reforms. This has resulted in a number of initiatives and schemes that are currently being implemented across the country.

2. 6.1. GP commissioning

As part of the current government's reform of the NHS it has been proposed that from 2013 GP-led clinical commissioning groups will be established (Mannion, 2011, Charlton, 2013). GP commissioning will give GPs greater control and responsibility of their funding, which is worth £60 billion across England. It is the rationale of this reform that because patients generally access health services through their GP, GPs are best placed within health care and have the greatest knowledge of where funding and resources would be best used. This reform has received a mixed response with concerns expressed about; whether GPs will have and receive the necessary support they will require, if commissioning will take up too much of GPs' time rather than time spent with patients (which is already in high demand) and questions about how it will be fairly governed (Smith and Mays, 2012).

2. 6.2. New NHS 'Health and Social Care Bill'

The 'Health and Social Care Bill' is a complex new Bill by the coalition government which will constitute one of the biggest NHS reforms in the NHS history. Some major changes will be the abolishment of PCTs and SHAs and the forming of a range of new bodies and regulatory groups.

Key concerns have been expressed around such a radical restructuring, particularly in the current economic climate where NHS resources and time are at their most stretched. The introduction of a greater level of competition and privatisation is also of concern as it goes against the philosophical foundations of the NHS, specifically the provision of universal comprehensive health services (Ham, 2012).

2. 7. Quality of care

As mentioned, large scale studies such as EUROCARE have sparked further and more indepth research. From this it has been suggested and found that the quality of care a patient receives can contribute and impact upon their survival outcomes. Sant *et al.* (2009) stated that;

'... survival differences are greatly influenced by mortality in the first year, which in turn depends largely on tumour stage at presentation and presence of comorbidities, and these factors are again partly dependent on the quality of health care.'

The quality of care patients receive at every point from presentation through treatment has been linked and found to contribute towards survival (Sant *et al.*, 2009, Gatta *et al.*, 2010). However, the issue of what constitutes quality of care and how it is measured raises questions. In particular when looking at elderly populations it has been found that as age increases patients are treated less often; specifically, they are less likely to undergo surgical interventions and chemotherapy (Gatta *et al.*, 2010). This could be and is interpreted as being a negative outcome, as not receiving these treatments reduces survival. However, if a patient has additional health issues/comorbidities which makes receiving such interventions risky or potentially give little benefit to the patient then withholding such treatments can be a good quality decision.

It became clear that quality of care is an important component and issue within primary care and therefore a more in-depth look at quality of care and how it is measured within primary care was conducted in the form of a systematic review, which can be found in chapter 3.

2. 8. Health database research

The funding for this research is part of an e-health initiative by the ESRC. The aim is to utilise existing health databases and, where possible to combine them for the purposes of research.

As mentioned there are criticisms of health databases regarding accuracy but equally these databases are a large scale resource that can be of great benefit to research. Despite criticisms, cancer registry data is used internationally in research to great effect, such as EUROCARE, and within England, regional and national data from cancer registries is regularly used within research.

Common problems are that data can be missing or there is inadequate information and also where there is confusion over when events have occurred, for example the use of cancer diagnosis dates. Majeed *et al.* (2007) supports this notion that databases are problematic but suggests that by linking databases together information can be cross checked, thereby improving the accuracy of the data available. This is highlighted in a study by Pascoe *et al.* (2008) where cases of cancer reported in GP records were compared

with the cancer registry. Whilst they found that one in five patients with cancer were not identified using database codes in GP records, they were able to identify the other cases via the cancer registry database.

For this research the cancer stage at diagnosis is being used as the key patient variable. Downing *et al.* (2007b) when investigating stage of cancer at diagnosis in the UK, found that from the electronic databases used, staging information was available in over 90% of cases. This is reflected in the data available from the Northern and Yorkshire Cancer Registry who list breast and colorectal as two of the commonest cancers for staging information within their dataset.

2. 9. Cancer stage as a measure

The use of stage of cancer at diagnosis is a novel approach, previously such information has been limited and inconsistent as it had simply not been recorded into health care databases or the guidelines for attributing a stage have been too ambiguous. Recent reforms to the guidelines in the staging classification of cancers such as breast and colorectal, the cancers being used in this research, have meant that the quality and validity of staging information has improved (Perry and Thurston, 2008, Fox and Fletcher, 2007). In recent years there have also been great improvements in the identification of alarm symptoms that are associated with increased likelihood of cancer which can be used to help GPs provide quicker referrals and ultimately diagnosis (Hamilton *et al.*, 2005, Jones *et al.*, 2007).

The alternative would be to use time to diagnosis but this is problematic as there is often confusion and inconsistency in health records as to what is regarded as the actual date of diagnosis. For example, some consider it to be the date the multi-disciplinary team

meet, the date the letter is sent from the GP practice or even the date of the patient's appointment with a specialist.

Stage of cancer at diagnosis and inequalities have already been linked in previous research, for example as patient distance from a cancer centre increases so does the likelihood of a high stage of cancer at diagnosis (Campbell *et al.*, 2001). In both the US and UK inequalities based on ethnicity have also been found; Hahn *et al.* (2007) observed that African-American females were more likely to be diagnosed with a later stage of breast cancer, compared with white females. In the UK Jack *et al.* (2009) had similar findings, with white females firstly more likely to actually have a cancer stage recorded at diagnosis and when compared with other ethnic groups this was more likely to be a less advanced stage.

2. 10. Research aims

The aim of this research is to utilise these new and improved sources of data to investigate the association between GP practice quality and cancer stage at diagnosis. As part of this, the effect of previously identified inequalities, such as deprivation and age, will be included to examine how they interact and affect this association.

By exploring this potential link between practice quality and cancer stage, recommendations can be made that can inform future policy, specifically informing the direction and distribution of resources and funding within primary cancer care. The working hypothesis for this research is that patients of GP practices that report higher levels of quality will show less advanced cancer stage at diagnosis compared with those from GP practices which report lower levels of practice quality. This is based upon the assumption that practices which report high practice quality are able to more efficiently diagnose potential cancer cases at an earlier stage. Equally it is hypothesised that practices which are located in deprived areas will have more advanced stage cancers.

This is an important association to investigate as much previous research has suggested that an association exists, and highlighted that GPs have an influence upon cancer diagnosis, but as yet a direct investigation has not been made. In essence we have assumed that GP quality influences cancer diagnosis without actually researching that link. Greater information and data is now held on GPs, patients and quality practices and standards and it is also the aim of this research to utilise that available data to attempt to provide more specific explanations for any links or associations found.

3. Chapter 3: Systematic Literature Review

This chapter consists of a systematic review of the methods which have been used to assess GP practice quality in cancer and its impact on patient outcomes. Quality of care is a widely debated issue within healthcare and a summary of the key points are outlined at the start of this review. Measures that have previously or are now currently used to assess quality, specifically in primary care in England, are also outlined.

A search strategy and inclusion/exclusion criteria were developed and the health databases MEDLINE and EMBASE were used for the search. A second reviewer was used to reduce bias and to assist in selecting articles which met the criteria. After the review process, 37 studies remained and a narrative analysis of these studies was conducted, with the findings reported in this review.

Review title:

Measurements and assessments of GP practice quality in cancer; from presentation of symptoms to diagnosis, and its impact on cancer outcomes

Cancer is an increasing disease burden, not just within the UK but on an international and global scale. Cancer is a worldwide leading cause of death and it is predicted that the number of deaths due to cancer will nearly double by 2030, to over 13.1m (World Health Organisation). In the UK over 300,000 cases of cancer were diagnosed in 2012, a figure which has doubled in the last five years (Cancer Research UK).

Compared with European countries of a similar status the UK has been found to have lower survival rates for cancer and diagnostic delay has been found to be a key contributor to these low survival rates (Richards, 2007, Verdecchia *et al.*, 2007a). In particular the UK has significantly longer delays in patients receiving a cancer diagnosis (Murchie *et al.*, 2012) and a greater number of patients presenting with more advanced stage cancers at diagnosis (Thomson and Forman, 2009), compared to other European countries. Further investigation into the area of diagnostic delays has highlighted the importance of quality of care in reducing delays and improving survival outcomes (Sant *et al.*, 2009, Gatta *et al.*, 2010).

This systematic review was conducted to examine the methods which had been used to assess primary care quality, with particular reference to cancer. This was in part to review what primary care quality measures and resources had been used, to inform this study if necessary, but also to see what the current knowledge base of this research area was and where the gaps lay.

Quality of care is an important issue within health care and within the UK there is some evidence that once a diagnosis has been made and a patient moves into secondary care for treatment of cancer that the quality of their care becomes equitable (Una *et al.*, 2000, Vedavanam *et al.*, 2009). However, there is good evidence that the quality of care results in delays to diagnosis for patients, and that this is mediated by factors such as, socioeconomic status, ethnic background and sex (Abel *et al.*, Herold *et al.*, 1997, Johnson *et al.*, 2008, Baird and Wright, 2006, McLean *et al.*, 2006, Strong *et al.*, 2006, Adams *et al.*, 2004a, Adams *et al.*, 2004b)

What constitutes quality of care is an area of debate and the ideas and definitions in this area are continually changing and updating (Blumenthal, 1996a, Blumenthal, 1996b, Blumenthal, 2012, Roland *et al.*, 2012). There are three key issues that contribute to the difficulty in defining quality of care:

- Perspective The role or position an individual or group has within the health care system affects and alters what is expected in terms of quality. For example, a GP may judge good quality to be that which has a good evidence base and best chance of success, while a patient may view good quality of care as the option that causes the least disruption to their normal life. It could also be that just between individuals within a group there is a difference in opinion as to what constitutes good quality of care.
- Sustainability Particularly within the UK, the health care system experiences
 regular reforms, these changes can cause disruption and there is often an
 adjustment period following changes which can affect the provision of quality of
 care. Additionally, in this recession the health care system in the UK has been
 subject to heavy funding cuts and financial restrictions, which has led to more
 changes and reforms, or the cancelling of services.

Generalisability – While the focus of this systematic review and project is on cancer, there are many other diseases, health problems and issues, which the health care system must address and treat. While it could be argued that the main points of quality of care are the same regardless of the health issue there are individual points that are specific to certain diseases and groups of health issues. In essence, what constitutes quality of care for one disease won't necessarily be the case for another disease.

٠

Howie *et al.* (1994, 1997, 2004, 1989, 1991, 1999), investigated and conducted a number of studies and reviews during the 1990s into quality of care, particularly at a primary care level. When defining quality of care, in 1994, they stated that;

'Effective primary care entails listing the needs of a patient at a consultation, deciding on the priority for dealing with these needs, and giving care that meets the need or needs selected for attention.'

This is a particularly patient centred definition of quality of care, in later work they added that a patient's health should be improved or at least deterioration of a disease halted, unless deterioration is inevitable and then appropriate support and care should be offered. Additionally, upon leaving a consultation patients should be satisfied and their understanding and ability to cope should have increased.

Campbell *et al.* (2000, 2002a, 2003), during their research into quality of care in the early 2000s, suggested that there are two key dimensions to quality of care; access and effectiveness. Their approach could be considered more from an organisational and system's perspective, focusing on the provision of health care and its effectiveness in treating or slowing the deterioration of a disease.

The NHS in its definition of quality of care reflects and tries to incorporate these different definitions and perspectives. As the principal provider of health care within the UK it has worked to a shared definition of quality which comprises of three key elements (Darzi, 2008, National Quality Board, 2011):

- The effectiveness of the treatment and care provided to patients.
- The safety of treatment and care provided to patients.
- The experience patients have of the treatment and care they receive.

Quality standards within the UK are overseen by national and government agencies, the primary one of these is NICE (National Institute for Health and Care Excellence), which was a government agency but is now a public body. Their role is to improve health outcomes for the UK public by providing evidence-based guidance and advice and developing quality standards for health and social care. In their definition and guidance for what describes and constitutes high quality care for a patient there are fourteen points, ranging from effective communication between the patient and health professionals to respecting patient wishes and preferences and regular checks throughout their treatment (National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence, 2012).

3. 1. How is quality of care measured?

'The effectiveness of clinical care depends on the effective application of knowledge based care' (Campbell et al., 2002b)

Measures of knowledge are a long established method for assuring and measuring quality and internationally, GP reaccreditation and training is a key and common method used (Davis and Ringsted, 2006, Lal *et al.*, 2004, Regnier *et al.*, 2005). In the US specific cancer quality assessment tools have also been developed, such as the Quality Oncology Practice Initiative (QOPI) (Neuss *et al.*, 2005). In the UK, traditionally responsibility for quality of care has been in the hands of the individual GP and professional bodies, such as the Royal College of General Practitioners (RCGP). Continued professional development (CPD), training schemes and the associated reaccreditation checks have played a part in quality assurance but have been criticised for being imprecise measures (Scrivens, 1995).

In the later part of the 1990s, despite disagreements about definitions, quality improvement in the provision of health care became a high priority on the agenda in the UK and internationally (Campbell *et al.*, 2000). What followed was a large amount of investigation and research into quality of health care, how it could be measured and the development of a national performance network within the NHS. As a result incentive schemes were introduced, where meeting certain aims or targets results in a financial reward. Importantly for GPs this equated to additional funding for their practice for resources, such as equipment, prescriptions and staff.

These incentive schemes were incorporated into the General Medical Services contract and have developed into a scheme known as the Quality and Outcomes Framework (QOF). Since its introduction in 2004, QOF has been reviewed annually and is continually changing, in 2001/12 QOF was made up of 142 indicators across four domains. These were:

- **clinical care**: the domain consists of clinical areas, i.e. coronary heart disease, heart failure, hypertension.
- organisational: the domain is across six organisational areas records and information; patient communication; education and training; quality and productivity; practice management and medicines management.
- patient experience: the domain relates to length of consultations.
- additional services: the domain is across four service areas cervical screening,
 child health surveillance, maternity service and contraceptive services.

QOF has received a lot of criticism since it was first introduced. Initially there were questions regarding whether it was measuring the correct indicators and whether it was inline with the guidance of other quality agencies, such as NICE (Vedavanam *et al.*, 2009, Downing *et al.*, 2007b, Short, 2007). Particularly for the question asked in this review, where the focus is on quality of care in cancer, QOF indicators related to cancer are limited, mainly relating to prevalence and follow up care rather than diagnosis.

There have also been a number of questions raised about the option for GPs to exception report within QOF. This is where GPs can exclude patients from the numerator for an indicator on specified grounds. A trend of high exception reporting was observed within deprived areas, with the suggestion that this trend was an attempt to maximise funding rather than legitimately excluding exceptional cases (Sigfrid *et al.*, 2006, McLean *et al.*, 2006).

Brook et al.(1996) stated;

'It will never be possible to produce an error-free measure of the quality of care'.

This is an important consideration, as while an error-free measure is impossible, it is therefore all the more important to ensure that the measure(s) that are being used are as appropriate and accurate as possible. Concerns have been voiced and research has found that inappropriate methodologies and inaccurate data have been used to measure quality of care and this ultimately has a negative impact upon quality but also wastes resources and can mean real issues are side-lined (Blumenthal, 1997, Blumenthal, 2012, Brook and McGlynn, 1996, Campbell *et al.*, 2002b).

3. 2. Review objectives

The aim of this review is to identify and assess recent and current assessments of GP practice quality and the potential link, influence and impact this has upon cancer diagnosis.

3. 3. Search strategy

For this review a search string of relevant key words was developed to find articles which related to cancer and the quality of primary care. The searches were conducted in EMBASE and MEDLINE. Keywords were identified through MeSH terms relating to cancer and practice quality from already identified literature and subgroups available in EMBASE and MEDLINE.

For this review the key aspects were; cancer and GP quality. While certain terms were kept general and open, such as the keywords for cancer (cancer or neoplasm), there were problems with identifying suitable keywords for practice quality. In particular when quality was used as a keyword the majority of articles that were returned related to quality of life. More specific and direct keywords were developed from the MeSH terms (i.e., health care quality or quality control in EMBASE) and primary care as a keyword was added to help reduce the number of palliative/secondary care articles.

Measuring GP practice quality is a reasonably new concept with systems such as QOF only being introduced within the last ten years. Equally healthcare practices and structures are constantly changing and therefore studies, for example, from the 1950s would not be relevant. As a result a cut off was placed, by the lead reviewer, to only include studies from 1980 to 2011. While the UK health care system is unique and articles from other countries may not be directly relevant these were still included, for comparative narrative analysis, provided they assessed practice quality and cancer.

Slightly different strategies were required for the two databases due to differing MeSH terms, for example, family physician instead of general practitioner.

It is worth noting that the need to vary MeSH terms could be down to the different make-up of the two databases. In particular the results from EMBASE were much more likely to be UK and European articles, where the term GP or general practitioner is used. In comparison when searching MEDLINE the use of GP or general practitioner was not recognised but physician or family physician was.

While both EMBASE and MEDLINE are well-known and used biomedical databases there are differences between the two. MEDLINE (Lancet Oncology, 2001) is part of the US National Library of Medicine and currently consists of over 19 million references from 5,600 different worldwide journals in the area of life science, with a concentration on biomedicine. EMBASE (Hansen *et al.*, 2008) in comparison is a biomedical database by the European based, global publishing company Elsevier, and has over 25 million references from over 7,600 different worldwide journals.

While there is a large amount of overlap between the two databases in their aims and the references they contain, there would also appear to be differences in their approach. In particular, the fact that MEDLINE is led by a US based organisation might contribute to and explain why the majority of studies in the MEDLINE search output were US based studies. This may also explain why using the term physician in the search strategy, which is more commonly used in the US, worked more efficiently in the MEDLINE search.

Between the two databases some differences in the joining of terms had to be made. Specifically the combining of terms such as GP and primary care by using 'and' or 'or'. Initially terms related to GP (GP, general practice and general practitioner) were combined together and terms related to primary care (primary health care and primary medical care)

were combined together separately. This worked well in EMBASE but in MEDLINE a large number of palliative care articles were returned. This could be due to the involvement of GPs in post diagnostic care as co-ordinators for continuous and palliative care and it is a QOF indicator that GPs are required to do a three to six month review of cases. The decision was made in MEDLINE to combine the 'GP' and 'primary care' terms to reduce the number of continuous and palliative care studies.

3. 4. What to include/exclude?

Cancer is a wide ranging disease, affecting different areas of the body, and each cancer type presents in different ways. As a result patients arrive at a diagnosis through a range of pathways and scenarios. While GPs are often thought of as the gatekeepers to secondary care there are cancer pathways which can by-pass GPs. Diagnostic pathways can be categorised as follows;

- Symptomatic this could be considered the more traditional pathway whereby a
 patient makes an appointment to see their GP, presents symptoms which could be
 cancer and is subsequently referred for diagnostic/specialist test(s).
- 2. Asymptomatic in this case the patient has not presented any symptoms to a GP and may in fact not demonstrate any outward health problems but has been through a screening examination that has picked up potential signs of cancer and a resulting referral for diagnostic/specialist test(s) has been made. For example, in England there is a national breast screening program which targets women between the ages of 50-70 (the high risk age group for breast cancer) to have a mammogram every three years during this age range. This screening is coordinated via regional centres rather than through their GP; in contrast the cervical screening programme is delivered through general practice.

The decision to include international studies means it is important to bear in mind the differences in health service provision between countries. In the UK screening for selected cancers, such as breast and the use of mammograms, has also become part of private practice. Patients, at a cost, can request such screening as part of a health check or examination. The use of private health services is increasing within the UK but in other parts of the world, such as the USA, it is well established.

The distinction between symptomatic and asymptomatic patients is important because it impacts upon the level of interaction and therefore the quality of care the patient receives from their GP. While the quality of screening techniques and programmes may influence cancer outcomes GPs do not always conduct or are involved with cancer screening. Therefore, for this review measurements and assessments of screening and asymptomatic cancer pathways were not included as the involvement of a GP is not consistent.

Within England there has been an effort to measure and reward GP practice quality with the introduction of the Quality and Outcomes Framework (QOF). QOF has only been introduced in the last ten years and has already undergone a number of reforms. Similar systems are not yet established in other countries. For this review systems such as QOF are useful as they provide a clear measure of quality with clear outcomes. In the absence of such a system, GP practice quality can be measured by a wide variety of alternative methods. When trying to determine whether a method is appropriate for this review it is important to remember and focus on whether firstly GP quality is actually part of the outcome and secondly whether there is some form of quantifiable measure.

3. 5. Inclusion/exclusion criteria

To meet the objective of this review, inclusion and exclusion criteria were required to identify which studies should be included in the narrative synthesis. The criteria were as follows:

- Cancer related All cancers were included. Other diseases may be mentioned or be the focus but cancer must be included in the analysis in some way.
- Measures or assesses GP quality A form of measurement or assessment needs to be used. On a specific note, articles which look at guideline adherence would also be a measure of quality. Decisions to refer for screening can be included and used as a measure of quality.
- Diagnosis Studies of patient after care and management were excluded, since the focus of this review is on the period leading to diagnosis. Studies which look at delay to presentation or care after diagnosis were not included.
- 4. Genetic testing Studies of genetic risk assessment were excluded.
- Skin surgery Studies in this area needed careful consideration. Skin lesion removal is a common procedure by GPs. GPs' performance can be measured against guidelines, e.g. for excision margins, and these studies were included. However, studies which compare GPs' performance against that of specialists, but not against objective standards or guidelines were excluded.
- 6. Screening It is important to highlight that cancer screening programmes operate in different ways. For example, breast cancer screening is not done by GPs. Therefore any articles which solely addressed breast cancer screening were excluded. However, other cancer screening, such as cervical, is done in practice and is a measure of practice quality. As a result articles which related to screening

were carefully considered and only included if they were directly related to GPs and/or practice and the quality/provision of services.

- 7. Additional -
 - Reports had to be of primary studies, therefore reviews, editorials etc.
 were excluded. Articles should be in English, articles in other languages
 were excluded and articles had to have been published in or after 1980.
 - b. Influences on GPs measures such as GP preferences and patient influence on GP, i.e. sex of GP, patient demands or GP behaviours like smoking are not direct measures of quality. However these articles were included as they look at influential factors which ultimately impact upon quality and generally these articles to discuss the impact upon a quality measure, e.g. a study into why GPs overuse PSA testing.

3. 6. Review process

Once the search strategy and review criteria had been developed, the principal investigator (HW) then conducted the review. First, by carrying out the search strategy in both EMBASE and MEDLINE and then reviewing the two sets of search results, excluding any studies which did not fulfil the review criteria. A number of studies could be excluded by reviewing the titles; for example, if there was mention of continuous or palliative care within the title, but the majority required a review of the studies abstracts to make the decision as to whether it met the review criteria. Once both search results had been reviewed the process was then repeated by a second reviewer.

To help reduce any investigator bias a second reviewer (Lynne Forrest) reviewed the search outputs. Once the search strategies have been developed and carried out, a copy of the outputs and the above inclusion/exclusion criteria was given to LF. LF then

independently reviewed the search results, excluding articles which did not fulfil the review criteria. The next step was to review the abstracts that remained and further exclude any articles which did not meet the criteria on further scrutiny. The principal investigator (HW) and LF then met and discussed which studies they had identified as being eligible. Any study where there was not a consensus was then discussed as to decide its eligibility and whether it would be included in the final number; if an agreement could not be reached the study was given to a third reviewer (Greg Rubin) for a decision.

Once an agreed list had been compiled, then the full article was reviewed by the principal and second reviewer and any final discussions or exclusions were made. The final studies were then selected and for these, the reference sections were hand searched, by HW, for additional articles which may have been of interest/relevant to the review.

3. 7. EMBASE

The keywords and number of articles, number shown in the brackets, which were found in the EMBASE search were as follows:

- 1. cancer.mp. or neoplasm/ (1559275)
- 2. GENERAL PRACTICE/ or GENERAL PRACTITIONER/ (94851)
- 3. exp HEALTH CARE QUALITY/ or QUALITY CONTROL/ (1504228)
- 4. PRIMARY HEALTH CARE/ or PRIMARY MEDICAL CARE/ (79202)
- 5. 1 and 2 and 3 and 4 and 5 (309)

One article was unavailable in English and this was excluded.

3. 8. MEDLINE

The search was also conducted in MEDLINE, with slight changes to the keywords as the two databases have differing MeSH terms, i.e. family physician instead of general practitioner. Initial searches in MEDLINE brought back large numbers of articles and also a large number of palliative care and quality of life articles so the search had to be further refined and made more specific and detailed (compared to the EMBASE search) to reduce the number of these articles.

- 1. Cancer.mp. or Neoplasms/ (876977)
- Health Care Surveys/ or "Delivery of Health Care"/ or "Outcome and Process Assessment (Health Care)"/ or "Quality of Health Care"/ or Quality Assurance, Health Care/ or Family Health/ or "Outcome Assessment (Health Care)"/ or Quality Indicators, Health Care/ (224644)
- 3. Family Practice/ or Physicians, Family/ (68792)
- 4. Family Practice/ or General Practice/ or Primary Health Care/ (97226)
- 5. 3 or 4 (106970)
- 6. Delayed Diagnosis/ or Early Diagnosis/ (7751)
- 7. "Referral and Consultation"/ (44673)
- 8. Healthcare Disparities/ or Health Status Disparities/ (6173)
- 9. 6 or 7 or 8 (58205)
- 10. 2 or 9 (277090)
- 11. 1 and 5 and 10 (845)
- 12. Remove duplicates from 11 (837)
- 13. Limit 12 to (english language and yr="1980 -Current") (759)

3. 9. Final articles

After review the final number of studies was 37. Due to the nature of the topic area and the wide variety of methods within the studies it was deemed appropriate to group together studies which had common themes, for narrative synthesis. As a result four primary categories were produced, with two of these being further sub-divided:

- 1. Self-reported guideline adherence referral to screening [18]
 - a. Guidelines only [11]
 - b. Other influencing factors [7]
- 2. Organisational [4]
- 3. Clinical guideline adherence [12]
 - a. Screening [3]
 - b. Referrals [5]
 - c. Excisions [4]
- 4. GP influences [3]

A Table (1) outlining and summarising each article follows:

Table 1. Outline summary of the papers included in the systematic review.

Self-reported guideline adherence

Guidelines only

Author/Date	Title	Location	Торіс	Sample	Measures and	Summary of study
				(N)	method of	
					assessment	
Ka'ano'i <i>et al.,</i> 2004	Primary care	US - Hawaii	Cancer	N = 254	GPs surveyed	GPs responded that that they were familiar with screening
(Ka'ano'i <i>et al.,</i> 2004)	physicians'		screening			guidelines, ranging between 55-90% for different types of
	knowledge,		and clinical			screening. Awareness and interest in clinical trials was
	attitudes and		trials			around two thirds.
	practices related to					
	cancer screening					
	and cancer					
	prevention clinical					
	trials					
McGregor et al.,	Colorectal cancer	Canada	Colorectal	N = 965	GPs surveyed	41.9% of the GPs were not familiar with the current
2004 (McGregor <i>et</i>	screening:		cancer			guidelines but most (72%) thought screening was
al., 2004)	practices and		screening			beneficial but had concerns about cost-effectiveness and
	opinions of primary					access to resources.
	care physicians					

Stokes-Lampard	Vaginal vault smears	UK - England	Papanicolao	N = 424	GPs, nurses	Nurses took significantly more smears than GPs. No difference in
<i>et al.,</i> 2005	– 'know more – do		u smears		etc. postal	knowledge scores between nurses and GPs, however those with
(Stokes-Lampard	less': a				survey	higher knowledge scores took less smears. To the vignette
et al., 2005)	questionnaire					question only 11% of respondents gave the correct answer.
	survey of primary					
	health care					
	practitioners					
Yabroff <i>et al.,</i>	Specialty	US	Papanicolao	N =	GP survey -	Surveyed using vignettes found that many primary care physicians
2009 (Yabroff <i>et</i>	differences in		u test	1,212	questionnair	were over testing against guidelines recommendations, for
al., 2009)	primary care				e with	example, continuing to pap test when there is no cervix in older
	physician reports of				vignettes	women.
	Papanicolaou test					
	screening practices:					
	a national survey,					
	2006 to 2007					
Xilomenos et al.,	Colorectal cancer	Greece -	Colorectal	N = 211	Survey	50% of physicians recommended screening as part of a usual check-
2006 (Xilomenos	screening	national	cancer			up. Cost of tests was found to potentially influence the
et al., 2006)	awareness among		screening			recommendation to screen, with 77% of physicians recommending
	physicians in Greece					screening to people over 50 and this dropped to 53% when cost
						was taken into account. Younger physicians (aged 30 or less) were
						found to significantly recommend CRC screening less than older
						physicians.

Youl <i>et al.,</i> 2006	Attitudes, knowledge	Australia -	Colorectal	N = 769	Survey	66.4% recommended screening for patients over 50 and 97.4% recommended
(Youl <i>et al.,</i>	and practice of CRC	Queensland	cancer			colonoscopy for patients with a significant family history of CRC. 71.2% reported
2006)	screening among GPs		screening			receiving at least one type of guideline for CRC screening, only 5% reported not
	in Queensland.					finding the guidelines useful. Between 1999 (date of previous survey) and 2002
						(date of current survey) there has been a significant increase in knowledge and
						recommended screening.
Smith & Herbert,	Preventive practice	Canada –	Cervical,	N = 186	Survey	90% of physicians reported compiling with task force recommendations and
1993 (Smith and	among primary care	British	breast, lung			guidelines. Lack of patient compliance was cited as a frequent reason for patients
Herbert, 1993)	physicians in British	Columbia	and			not being screened. Physician and practice characteristics were also examined but
	Columbia: relation to		colorectal			not found to have any significant impact upon physicians' decisions to screen or
	recommendations of		cancer			order tests.
	the Canadian Task					
	Force on the Periodic					
	Health Examination.					
Federici <i>et al.,</i>	Survey on colorectal	Italy - Lazio	Colorectal	N = 699	Survey	95% of respondents understood that CRC is a preventable disease but 22% do not
2005 (Federici <i>et</i>	cancer screening		cancer			recommend screening. A high screening knowledge score, agreement with
al., 2005)	knowledge, attitudes,		screening			international guidelines, and the use of scientific literature as a source of
	and practices of					information, increased the probability that screening was correctly recommended.
	general practice					GP characteristics were not found to have any affect upon correct recommendation
	physicians in Lazio,					for screening. 32% recommend inappropriate follow-up tests.
	Italy.					

Pendleton et	Knowledge and	US - Florida	Prostate	N = 104	Survey and	Mean knowledge score was 66%, with correct responses to
al., 2008	attitudes of		cancer	physicians	questionnaire	questions ranging from 14 – 98%. Only 53% of physicians offered
(Pendleton <i>et</i>	primary care		screening			screening to minorities, compared to 70% to patients with a
al., 2008)	physicians					family history of prostate cancer. Attitude responses to prostate
	regarding prostate					cancer screening guidelines ranged from 45 – 93% agreeing with
	cancer screening.					the correct recommendations.
Roetzheim <i>et</i>	Compliance with	US – Tampa	Breast cancer	N = 565	Survey	92% of respondents reported that they were familiar with ACS
al., 1991	screening	Вау	screening			guidelines, but only 62% reported being in full compliance,
(Roetzheim <i>et</i>	mammography.					younger (under 50) physicians and female physicians were
al., 1991)	Survey of primary					significantly more likely to be in full compliance with guidelines.
	care physicians.					
Klabunde <i>et al.,</i>	A national survey	US - national	Colorectal	N = 1,235	Survey	Despite high awareness of CRC screening guidelines, several of
2003 (Klabunde	of primary care		cancer			the CRC screening recommendations and practice which
et al., 2003)	physicians'		screening			physicians reported following were inconsistent with current
	colorectal cancer					guidelines, for example, 50% of primary care physicians
	screening					recommended screening in younger patients. Despite 98% of
	recommendation					physicians reporting that they would recommend CRC screening
	and practices.					to average risk patients, national figures for the ordering of tests
						is low.
	1	1	1	1		

Other influencing factors

Author/Date	Title	Location	Topic	Sample	Measures and	Summary of study
				(N)	method of	
					assessment	
Gormley et al.,	Prostate-specific	UK –	Prostate	N = 704	Postal survey of	Prostate cancer screening is not recommended by guidelines
2006 (Gormley	antigen testing:	Northern	testing PSA		GPs	however PSA testing is common. Awareness of guidelines
et al., 2006)	uncovering	Ireland				among GPs was low, 49%, with more male GPs carrying out PSA
	primary care					tests compared with female. Patient's requests, working full-
	influences.					time, influence of services (urology dept.) and training meetings
						etc. had an influence upon GPs' behaviour.
Haas <i>et al.,</i> 2007	Association of	US -	Colorectal	N = 12,727	Two national	On average 53.3% of physicians recommended initial screening
(Haas <i>et al.,</i>	regional variation	national	cancer		health and cancer	within the guidelines, and 64.8% advised follow-up screening at
2007)	in primary care		screening,		screening surveys	the recommended frequency. Regional differences were found
	physicians'		regional		(NHIS, NCI-SCCP)	and if a physician was located in a 'low-screening' region then
	colorectal cancer		variation			this percentage reduced. Hispanics were significantly less likely
	screening					to have been screened and those with a lower level of
	recommendations					education.
	with individual use					
	of colorectal					
	cancer screening.					

Santora et al.,	Breast cancer	US – New	Breast cancer,	N = 469 clinicians, 199	Survey	Urban practitioners were more likely to be board-certified
2003	screening beliefs	York	practice	nurse practitioners,		and involved in training. Younger physicians were more
(Santora <i>et</i>	by practice		location	202 primary care		likely to answer three or more items correctly regarding
<i>al.,</i> 2003b)	location.			physicians, 68		screening, and female physicians were also significantly
				physician assistants		more likely to correctly answer three or more items. 65%
						of respondents reported using some form of written
						screening guideline, with urban and suburban physicians
						less likely to use written guidelines compared with rural
						area physicians.
Haggerty et	Patients' anxiety	Canada	Prostate,	N = 351	Survey with	88% of physicians reported that patients' anxiety or
al., 2005	and expectations:		breast,		vignettes	expressed expectations of being tested influenced their
(Haggerty <i>et</i>	How they		colorectal			decision to order a test. Most physicians were aware and
al., 2005)	influence family		cancer			followed guidelines but whether they agreed with them
	physicians'		screening			was most influential on their decision to order test,
	decisions to order					followed by patient factors such as anxiety or expectation
	cancer screening					to be tested.
	tests.					
Gorin <i>et al.,</i>	Intraurban	US – New	Colorectal	N = 1,685	Self-report	Differences in the methods of screening where found, with
2007 (Gorin	influences on	York	cancer		questionnaire	physicians based in low-SES urban practices more likely to
et al., 2007)	physicians'		screening,			screen using fecal occult blood test, while physicians in
	colorectal cancer		location			upper-SES practices were significantly more likely to
	screening		variation			recommend and screen using colonoscopy. Physicians in

practices.			upper-SES practice were significantly more likely to be a US
			medical school graduate, non-Hispanic white, been
			practising for longer, see fewer patients per week and the
			majority of patients are non-Hispanic white. However,
			there was no significance difference in the knowledge of
			CRC risk factors etc. between physicians.

Shieh et al.,	The impact of	US – St.	Colorectal	N = 115	Self-report	Self-reported compliance with guidelines was reported as 91.3%, with
2005 (Shieh	physicians' health	Louis	cancer		questionnaire	79% of physicians agreeing with the published guidelines. For
et al., 2005)	beliefs on		screening			physicians who were eligible for CRC screening 82.6% personally
	colorectal cancer					participated, with a significant difference between those who
	screening					personally participated in screening and their recommendation for
	practices.					screening to patients.
Sorum et	Why do primary	US – New	PSA testing	N = 32 US	Self-report	A significant predictor of ordering PSA tests was if a physician had
al., 2003	care physicians in	York,		physicians, 32	questionnaire	previously not tested a patient who had later been found to have
(Sorum et	the United States	France		French		advanced stage cancer. US physicians also ordered significantly more
al., 2003)	and France order			physicians		tests than French physicians, and the US physicians also reported
	prostate-specific					higher scores for concerns about malpractice and feeling pressure
	antigen tests for					from patients.
	asymptomatic					
	patients.					

Organisational

Author/Date	Title	Location	Торіс	Sample (N)	Measures and	Summary of study
					method of	
					assessment	
Downing et al.,	Do the UK	UK -	QOF	N = 2PCTs	QOF and hospitals	QOF data was linked to hospital admissions. Higher
2007 (Downing	governments new	England		(516,620)	admissions	scores in the clinical domain were associated with lower
<i>et al.,</i> 2007b)	quality and					hospital admission rates, specifically with cancer. No
	outcomes					clear association between the organisational domain
	framework (QOF)					and admissions. High levels of deprivation were
	scores adequately					associated with increased likelihood of admission and
	measure primary					females overall had significantly fewer admissions for
	care performance?					cancer than males.
	A cross-sectional					Any associations observed were generally not
	survey of routine					consistent but were significant in cancer. Admissions
	healthcare data					were most strongly associated with deprivation rather
						than QOF.
Wang et al.,	Practice size and	UK -	QOF practice size	N = 638	QOF and practice	Single-handed and small practices accounted for 45% of
2006 (Wang <i>et</i>	quality attainment	Scotland			information	all urban practices, had greater list sizes compared with
al., 2006)	under the new					larger practices and were less likely to participate in
	GMS contract: a					voluntary quality schemes and training. Patients who
	cross-sectional					attended these smaller and single-handed practices

	analysis.					lived in more socioeconomic deprived areas, had poorer
						health and premature mortality. Patients were also
						more likely to be of an ethnic minority. Single-handed
						and smaller practices scored lower overall but the only
						significant difference was in the organisational domain.
						Smaller practices also reported higher levels of cancer
						prevalence and conditions such as COPD and mental
						health.
Gavagan et al.,	Effect of financial	US –	Financial incentive	N = 11	Retrospective	Outcomes of primary care clinics which had a financial
2010 (Gavagan	incentives on	Harris	scheme,	clinics	review of	incentive scheme and clinics which did not were
et al., 2010)	improvement in	County	Papanicolaou		administrative	compared and no significant difference was found. The
	medical quality		smears,		data, survey of	survey of clinicians found that many reported they did
	indicators for		mammography		clinicians	not feel that incentives were effective in improving
	primary care.					quality of care.
Hippisley-Cox et	Do single handed	UK –	Breast and	N = 300	Cancer stage	A borderline association was found in late presentation
al., 2001	practices offer	Trent	colorectal cancer	colorectal		of colorectal cancer and a high number of referral rates,
(Hippisley-Cox et	poorer care?	region	referral rates	cancer		but overall no clear or substantial outcomes were found
al., 2001)	Cross sectional			cases		between the number of referrals made by a practice
	survey of			N = 131		and the patient's cancer stage.
	processes and			breast		
	outcomes.			cancer		
				cases		

Clinical guideline adherence

Screening

Author/Date	Title	Location	Topic	Sample	Measures and	Summary of study
				(N)	method of	
					assessment	
Parkerton et al.,	Effect of part-time	US	GP hours	N = 194	Patient data and	GP practice information was reviewed and it was found that
2003 (Parkerton	practice on patient				physician	GPs who worked part-time had significantly higher cancer
et al., 2003)	outcomes				characteristics	screening and patient satisfaction levels. A number of
						reasons why this may be are proposed including that part-
						time GPs are less stressed, compensate in their performance
						because they're only part-time, have more time outside of
						working hours to keep up-to-date with skills training,
						guidelines etc.
Hoffman et al.,	Prostate-specific	US – New	Prostate-	N = 1,448	Retrospective cohort	Testing practices varied considerably from guidelines,
1998 (Hoffman	antigen testing	Mexico	specific		study from New	specifically annual testing was not conducted and a
et al., 1998)	practices and		antigen test		Mexico SEER tumour	substantial proportion of testing occurred outside of the
	outcomes.				registry	recommended age range. For example, 16% of tests were
						conducted on men over 75 which is not recommended by
						the current guidelines.
Salinas et al.,	Quality differences	Mexico –	Papanicolaou	N = 750	Review of cervical	No technical, physical or administrative failures were found
-------------------------	---------------------	----------	--------------	---------	--------------------	--
1998 (Salinas <i>et</i>	between rural and	Nuevo	test		smear reports	and the overall smear processing quality was found to be
<i>al.,</i> 1998b)	urban primary	Leon				highly satisfactory; however, the quality of sampling was
	care: the case of a					found to be unsatisfactory. 33.4% of smear test samples
	cervical screening					were found to be unsatisfactory. Overall there was no
	programme.					difference between rural and urban location but the quality
						of smear sampling differed significantly between rural and
						urban locations.

Referrals

Author/Date	Title	Location	Торіс	Sample	Measures and	Summary of study
				(N)	method of	
					assessment	
John <i>et al.,</i> 2007	Inter general practice	UK	Colorectal	N = 175	Postal survey for	While many of the GPs surveyed said they were aware of
(John <i>et al.,</i>	variability in use of		cancer	patients	GPs and patient	guidelines, they were unable to answer questions correctly that
2007)	referral guidelines for		referrals		data	referred to guidelines. Only a quarter of GPs had received
	colorectal cancer.			N = 129		training regarding guidelines. In practices there was a
				GPs		discrepancy between the use of TWR and cancer diagnosis. In
						53% of practices surveyed no colorectal cases were diagnosed
						through the TWR system and their use of the TWR pathway was
						lower than practices which had diagnoses made through the
						TWR system who used the TWR system more.
Debnath et al.,	Guidelines, compliance,	UK –	Colorectal	N = 239	Information from	96.2% of patients received an appointment within two weeks
2002 (Debnath	and effectiveness: a 12	North	cancer		case notes and	once a referral was made, higher than national average figures
et al., 2002)	months' audit in an	East	referrals		pathology	for England (81.2-81.8%). There was a significant association
	acute district general				departments.	between diagnosis and guidelines compliance. However, it was
	healthcare trust on the					found that there was a high rate (97.5%) on incompleteness in
	two week rule for					referrals, for example, that information and details such as
	suspected colorectal					family history were missing.
	cancer.					

Webb & Khanna,	Can we rely on a	UK – West	Skin lesion	N = 202	Review of GP referral	22% of letters did not comply with guidelines. 42%
2006 (Webb and	general	Midlands	referrals		letters.	of referral letters gave no indication of priority (i.e.
Khanna, 2006)	practitioner's					urgent etc.). Of the 35 cases which were later
	referral letter to a					found to be cancerous, only 5 complied with two
	skin lesion clinic to					week wait guidelines.
	prioritize					
	appointments and					
	does it make a					
	difference to the					
	patient's					
	prognosis?					
Khawaja & Allan,	Audit of referral	UK -	Breast	N = 100	Fast-access/two week wait	Only 80% of referrals adhered to the guidelines.
2001(Khawaja and	practice to a fast-	Eastbourne	cancer		referral information for 100	20% upon review by a specialist were deemed to be
Allan, 2001)	access breast clinic		referrals		consecutive patients was	inappropriate and 30% were deemed 'non-urgent'.
	before the				reviewed.	
	guaranteed two					
	week wait.					
Melia <i>et al.,</i> 2008	Urological referral	UK –	Urological	N = 5,348	Referral requests and	No significant difference in referrals was observed
(Melia <i>et al.,</i> 2008)	of asymptomatic	Chichester,	referrals		pathology reports before	after the introduction of new guidelines. No
	men in general	Sutton &			and after new guidelines	significant differences were found or observed
	practice in	Merton, Truro			were launched.	between the different practice and hospital
	England.	and York				locations.

Excisions

Author/Date	Title	Location	Topic	Sample	Measures and method of	Summary of study
				(N)	assessment	
Neal <i>et al.,</i> 2008	Excision of malignant	UK - Wales	Melanoma	N = 578	Patient data	16% of lesions were removed in general practice,
(Neal <i>et al.,</i>	melanomas in North		excision			after 1997 guidelines there was a decline. However,
2008a)	Wales: effect of					there were differences between the quality of
	location and surgeon					excision, with excisions being done in general practice
	on time to diagnosis					having the lowest quality margins and least
	and quality of excision					adherence to guidelines on margins compared to
						excisions done in hospitals.
Bakhai <i>et al.,</i>	A retrospective study	UK – London	Melanoma	N = 213	GP and specialist data	GPs carrying out excisions on suspected melanomas
2010 (Bakhai <i>et</i>	comparing the		excision	reports	between 1989 – 2006 -	do not perform as well against guidelines as hospital
al., 2010)	accuracy of				Histopathology reports	specialists (GP = 29.8% compliance versus 70.5%).
	prehistology diagnosis				and recorded excision	Although since the introduction of new guidelines
	and surgical excision				margins.	they have improved but are still significantly
	of malignant					outperformed by specialists (GP = 41% compliance
	melanomas by general					versus 80%).
	practitioners and					
	hospital specialists.					

Pockney et	Recognition of skin	UK -	Skin	N = 491	Quality of minor surgery	Agreement between the diagnosis by a GP and the
al., 2009	malignancy by	Southampton	malignancy		performed by GPs and hospital	histology was agreed to be moderate at best, with
(Pockney et	general				doctors from records and reports	GPs failing to recognise one-third of the skin
al., 2009)	practitioners:				collected during a randomised-	malignancies. However, it is highlighted that
	observational				control trial.	hospitals do not have the capacity or resources to
	study using data					take on these minor surgeries.
	from a population-					
	based randomised					
	control trial.					
Goulding et	Dermatological	UK - London	Skin	N = 1,111	Retrospective review of	GPs were found to be less accurate in their eventual
al., 2009	surgery: a		malignancy		histopathology reports and	diagnosis and had higher excision margins compared
(Goulding et	comparison of				specimens.	with dermatologists. Plastic surgeons were most
al., 2009)	activity and					likely to perform inappropriate procedures. 13.8% of
	outcomes in					tumours which GPs operated on should have been
	primary and					referred to secondary care.
	secondary care.					

GP influences

Author/Date	Title	Location	Торіс	Sample	Measures and method	Summary of study
				(N)	of assessment	
Carney et al.,	The periodic	US – New	Cancer	N = 57	Standardized patient	The development of a standardised patient as a measure of GP
1993 (Carney <i>et</i>	health	England	prevention		(actress) presenting	quality and consistency. The response to identical requests for a
al., 1993)	examination		services		identical symptoms to	'check-up' (which included cancer screening) varied widely in
	provided to				different GPs	cost, service and time spent with GP. Cancer guidelines were
	asymptomatic					not met to varying degrees and prevention advice, such as
	older women: an					cessation of smoking, while recommended, little assistance was
	assessment using					given.
	standardized					
	patients.					
Daly & Collins,	Barriers to early	Ireland	Cancer	N = 929	GPs - Focus groups and	GPs reported a lack of communication between themselves and
2007 (Daly and	diagnosis of		diagnosis		postal questionnaires	hospital services, difficulties in accessing hospital services, and
Collins, 2007)	cancer in primary					unclear cancer guidelines. GPs did observe a difference between
	care: a needs					the access and waiting times for private and public patients,
	assessment of GPs					private patients being referred quicker and receiving better
						access to services.
Jiwa <i>et al.,</i> 2008	Referring patients	Australia -	Colorectal	N = 260	GP survey which	Referral decisions between the two countries were similar, but it
(Jiwa <i>et al.,</i>	to specialists: A	Western	cancer		included vignettes	was found that location and clinical variables influenced GPs'

2008)	structured		referrals		decisions (however this was not further investigated). Australian
	vignette survey of	UK -			GPs had better outcomes for colorectal cancer, despite this
	Australian and	England			study's finding that referrals are similar; therefore it is proposed
	British GPs				that problems in diagnosis and secondary care could be to
					'blame' for poorer outcomes.

3. 9. 1. Self-reported guideline adherence – referral to screening

This group of studies all have the primary outcome measure of GPs' adherence to guidelines in relation to screening, specifically whether they are following guidelines when recommending screening to patients or demonstrate accurate knowledge of current guidelines. The methodology used in all the studies is self-report surveys of GPs. A variety of questionnaires have been developed and used, some with questions about the GPs' recommendations, direct questions about guidelines and patient vignettes to assess knowledge and behaviour.

The immediate problem with the quality of these studies is that they are self-reporting, specifically GPs may respond more positively about their attitude and adherence to screening guidelines.

3. 9. 1. 1. Guidelines only

This sub-group of 11 studies all have the primary aim and objective to measure screening behaviour. Only one study is from the UK with the others coming from the US [5], Canada [2], Europe [2] and Australia [1]. The majority focus upon colorectal cancer screening but cervical smear, vaginal vault smears, breast and prostate screening are also covered.

Yabroff *et al.* (2009) found that 84.3% of GPs responding to their questionnaire believed that screening guidelines were influential on their behaviour. When presented with patient vignettes however, on average less than 25% of responses were consistent with current guidelines. This finding is repeated in nearly all the studies with a high proportion of GPs reporting being familiar or having good knowledge of the guidelines but then in practice, compliance or correct responses to vignettes is low (Roetzheim *et al.*, 1991, Ka'ano'i *et al.*, 2004, Klabunde *et al.*, 2003, Smith and Herbert, 1993, Stokes-Lampard

et al., 2005, Xilomenos *et al.*, 2006). One study compared their results against (Youl *et al.*, 2006) a previous survey and found that knowledge and compliance, while still not 100%, had improved significantly in a five year period.

Federici *et al.* (2005) found a strong association between GPs who demonstrated good knowledge of guidelines and compliance with guidelines, however Pendleton *et al.* (2008) failed to confirm this. In a survey of Greek GPs (Xilomenos *et al.*, 2006), where there are no national guidelines and overall knowledge of colorectal screening is poor, half the GPs recommended colorectal cancer screening as part of a routine check-up for high risk groups. European guidelines were cited as the ones most commonly followed (Xilomenos *et al.*, 2006).

Seven studies recorded GP demographic information and investigated its relationship to GPs' beliefs and attitudes to screening. Significant differences were found between GPs' compliance with guidelines and age, with GPs over 50 being less compliant (Roetzheim *et al.*, 1991, McGregor *et al.*, 2004). Pendleton *et al.* (2008) found older and urban based GPs had higher attitude scores towards screening, i.e. were more likely to offer screening annually, to minorities and over 50s. Differences in the GPs' specialisms were also observed to affect behaviour, specifically GPs who specialised in obstetrics and gynaecology were significantly more likely to order pap screening (Yabroff *et al.*, 2009). However, a similar number of studies found no association between GP demographics and specialism with screening attitudes and beliefs (Smith and Herbert, 1993, Stokes-Lampard *et al.*, 2005, Xilomenos *et al.*, 2006).

The quality of these studies is generally poor. Knowing whether or not GPs are adhering to guidelines can be considered a valid measure of quality but when the information is self-reported, its veracity is questionable. The number of respondents in each study varied widely (n = 104(Pendleton *et al.*, 2008) – 1235(Klabunde *et al.*, 2003)) as

did the response rates (range = 39.39 (Pendleton *et al.*, 2008) – 80% (Stokes-Lampard *et al.*, 2005)). Studies reporting associations between GP demographics and behaviour do add an extra dimension, demonstrating that GP factors such as age and sex may have an influence upon behaviour and practice.

3. 9. 1. 2. Other influencing factors

Seven studies examined screening guidelines adherence through the use of selfreported surveys but the primary focus of the paper included additional factors; physicians' health beliefs, patient, geographical, international and primary care influences. The majority [4] of the studies were from the US, with one comparing US and French GPs, one paper from Canada and two from the UK (Northern Ireland and England).

Haas *et al.* (2007) draws data from both GP and patient surveys. 64.8% of GPs reported being compliant with recommended screening interval but with the addition of patient survey data it turned out that only 37.4% had in fact been compliants.

Studies of geographical influences found that more GPs in rural areas reporting using some form of guideline compared with urban GPs (Santora *et al.*, 2003a), though one Canadian study (Haggerty *et al.*, 2005) found there no difference between rural and urban practices. Socio-economic factors were found to play a significant part in access to screening in Haas *et al.* (2007) with patients of non-white ethnicity, specifically Hispanic, and of a lower level of education less likely to be screened for colorectal cancer. Once screened, however, these inequalities disappeared and no demographic factors had a significant impact upon their access to continual routine screening. Patients in areas of high socio-economic status had better access and more diagnostic options available to them and GPs in these areas are significantly more experienced than GPs in low SES areas (Gorin *et al.*, 2007).

The personal beliefs and demographic characteristics of the GP were found to have an influence. Younger and female GPs are significantly more likely to recommend breast cancer screening (Santora *et al.*, 2003a) while PSA testing is more commonly recommended by male GPs (Gormley *et al.*, 2006). A study by Shieh *et al.* (2005) found an association between GPs' own participation in colorectal cancer screening and recommendations to patients to participate. Older GPs (those over the recommended colorectal screening age of 50) were more likely to have participated in screening, while younger GPs who were identified as high risk, were significantly less likely to have participated in screening. Self-reported compliance with guidelines was particularly high in this study, with 91.3% of GPs saying they followed guideline recommendations.

Sorum *et al.* (2003) surveyed and compared responses between US and French GPs with regard to prostate cancer screening and found that the two groups differed significantly on a number of points. In particular the US GPs ordered significantly more routine PSA (Prostate-Specific Antigen) tests, many for healthy patients with no signs or symptoms. The authors attributed this to the US GPs reporting feeling greater pressure from healthy patients requesting tests, fears of malpractice law suits and fear of missing a diagnosis. Pressure from patients was also reported in a second study (Haggerty *et al.*, 2005) which found almost 90% of GPs reporting that patient anxiety and/or expectation of being tested influenced their decision to order a cancer screening test they would not usually recommend.

All studies in this section, while still using self-reporting data, additionally examined other factors that could influence screening beliefs and practice. Again the number of respondents in each study vary widely (n = 65(Sorum *et al.*, 2003) – 12,727(Haas *et al.*, 2007), mean n = 2,088.57) and the response rates ranged from 9 – 80.5(Sorum *et al.*, 2003)% (mean = 59.14%).

3.9.2. Organisational

These studies mainly examined the impact of financial incentive schemes and their potential to improve quality/performance. Gavagan *et al.* (2010) examined the effect of a financial incentive system implemented in two medical schools in the US on cancer screening but found no significant differences between incentivised and non-incentivised groups in their meeting of quality criteria. In the case of mammograms both groups improved in their meeting of quality criteria but there was a non-significant trend in pap tests where the incentivised group improved in meeting quality criteria but the nonincentivised group remained reasonably constant. Despite the study failing to show an effect, 70% of the GPs involved felt that the scheme was very or extremely effective in improving quality.

Two of the studies used data from QOF, one examining the effect of practice size (Wang *et al.*, 2006) and the other looking at population demographics (Downing *et al.*, 2007b). The former of these found that practice size in Scotland (n = 636 practices) had a significant effect upon the total QOF points attained, with smaller practices attaining fewer points than larger practices. On closer investigation it was found that the significant difference was solely attributed to QOF factors in the organisational domain, so the quality of clinical care was no different. Interestingly it was found that smaller practices had high prevalence levels of cancer and were more likely to be located in areas of socio-economic deprivation and have a higher percentage of ethnic minority patients. Downing *et al.* (2007b) also found that deprivation had an effect, finding an association between increasing deprivation and increased mortality and hospital admission rates. The key finding of this study however was that when two PCTs (n = 516,620 combined patient population and n = 94 combined practices) were compared, higher clinical domain scores in QOF were significantly associated with fewer emergency admissions for cancer. This could

be interpreted as a demonstration of good quality care from GPs leading to more cases of cancer being identified and at earlier stages.

In relation to referral rates Hippisley-Cox *et al.* (1997) aimed to look at the potential association between low referring practices and later stage of cancer at diagnosis. No association was found suggesting that low GP referral rates do not result in adverse outcomes for the patient, however the number of cancer cases used in this study were not particularly high (breast cancer n = 131, colorectal cancer n = 300).

Overall these studies showed mixed results to the use of financial incentive schemes, while Downing *et al.* (2007b) found improvements in cancer outcomes in the form of reduced emergency admissions, Gavagan et al (2010) did not find any improvement to cancer screening after the introduction of an incentive scheme. Equally GP practices' performance in such schemes is significantly affected by the size of the practice and socioeconomic and demographic factors.

3. 9. 3. Clinical guideline adherence

Like the earlier group of self-reported guidelines adherence this group of studies all have the primary outcome measure of GPs' adherence to guidelines. The primary difference is in the methodology used in all the studies where instead of self-reporting surveys a physical measure is used, such as patient records, screening uptake rates or practice audits etc. This means that potentially the quality of the studies is better because the measurement of quality is a physical outcome and therefore more accurate than a belief or perception. The studies have been further divided by the type of guidelines as there were studies which focused on guidelines for referral and excision of skin lesions and those relating to screening guidelines.

3. 9. 3. 1. Screening

Of the three studies two were from the US (Parkerton *et al.*, 2003, Hoffman *et al.*, 1998) and one from Mexico (Salinas *et al.*, 1998a) and they cover PSA testing, smear tests and colorectal screening.

Salinas *et al.* (1998b) examined the number of smear tests conducted and the quality of the tests, test results were measured against national and international parameters in an area where an early detection programme had been running. Urban and rural practices were compared for smear test sampling quality and these were significantly different, with urban practices performing better. The quality improvements that were anticipated were not achieved by either urban or rural practices, for example in urban practice 64.2% sampling quality was expected but only 38.5% was attained. This suggests that guidelines relating to the execution of smear tests is not being met. It was also noted that a higher than expected number of women over 25 had not previously received a smear test which again suggests that guidelines related to early detection testing are not being followed and met.

A study of PSA testing by Hoffman *et al.* (1998) using patient records and the US cancer registry found widely varied screening practices from guidelines. 15.7% were tested outside of the recommended age range and 23.7% of patients, once tested were retested within six months, contrary to guidance, demonstrating that guidelines for PSA testing were not followed by a substantial minority.

An analysis of GP screening rates in association with whether the GP worked full or part-time was conducted by Parketon *et al.* (2003). In terms of cancer screening it was found that part-time GPs had significantly higher rates of screening. While this did not impact upon patient outcomes, which were measured by patient satisfaction; diabetes

management, cancer screening and ambulatory costs and association between working part-time and quality of care was. Patient and GP satisfaction were both higher in parttime GPs.

The size of each of these studies varies (n = 194(Parkerton *et al.*, 2003) – 1,500(Salinas *et al.*, 1998a), mean n = 1,047.33). All three studies are older pieces of research, 1998 (Hoffman *et al.*, Salinas *et al.*) and 2003 (Parkerton *et al.*) however, what the former two studies show is that guideline adherence is low and varied compared to GPs self-reporting of their behaviour and adherence. Even since 2003 there have been many changes and updates to guidelines and practice and the lack of more current research which uses better quality data from patient records etc. highlights the gap in this research area.

3. 9. 3. 2. Referrals

There are five studies covering colorectal, breast, skin and prostate cancer, all from England. Within the UK there are guidelines for referrals, specifically if a patient presents with a number of red flag or alarm symptoms then they would be placed on an urgent referral pathway (for select cancers, such as breast, this is known as the two week wait).

All studies reported that guidelines were not being followed, ranging from 37.66% of the sample cases not adhering to guidelines (Debnath *et al.*, 2002), 48% (Webb and Khanna, 2006) and 52.5% (Khawaja and Allan, 2001). Melia *et al.* (2008) studied the effect of a change in prostate cancer referral guidelines for asymptomatic patients. They found that changes in GPs' referral patterns were low and significantly lower than expected suggesting that GPs were not aware of and/or adhering to the new guidelines.

John *et al.* (2007) surveyed GPs (57% response rate) about their knowledge of referral guidelines and combined responses with the referrals rates for the practice. Only 58% reporting being primarily influenced in their referral decisions by guidelines and while 78%

of surveyed GPs reported being aware of guidelines only 8% could correctly answer one of the survey questions about fast-track criteria for colorectal cancer. A high variability was observed between practices with 53% of practices not using the two week wait referral pathway for colorectal cancer and a significant association was found between use of the two week wait pathway and higher incidence of colorectal cancer. It is suggested this could be because GPs are identifying alarm symptoms and correctly referring patients rather than a diagnosis being missed and patients entering through emergency hospital admissions.

Debnath *et al.* (2002) observed that in GPs and practices where compliance to guidelines is high there are more frequent diagnoses of cancer. This could suggest that GPs who are not following guidelines are missing incidences of cancer.

In both Khawaja and Allan (2001) and Webb and Khanna (2006) it was reported that a high number of GP referrals were not meeting guidelines. In the latter, a review of patient referral letters for skin lesions was carried out and found 41.58% of the referrals written by GPs gave no indication of priority, while 22.41% of the urgent/two week wait referrals did not meet guidelines. In the case of Khawaja and Allan (2001) referrals to the fast-access breast clinic should only be made if a new breast lump was found, however, in 20% of the referrals from GPs in this study no new breast lump had been presented by the patient. Where GPs had indicated a breast lump in the referral, only half actually had a lump.

This group of studies is a mixture of qualities, with study numbers ranging from 100 patients – 17,000 patient records. The majority were short studies of a year or less (Debnath *et al.*, 2002, Khawaja and Allan, 2001, Webb and Khanna, 2006, John *et al.*, 2007) while Melia *et al.* (2008) was a continuation of a study following the launch of amended guidelines in 2002. Some studies employ and report suitable statistical methods and analysis (John *et al.*, 2007, Melia *et al.*, 2008, Debnath *et al.*, 2002) while the remaining studies (Khawaja and Allan, 2001, Webb and Khanna, 2006) simply report percentages,

standard deviation and means. In these latter two studies, while guidelines are used as part of the framework to assess quality and appropriateness of GP cancer referrals there is also an element of a specialist's interpretation and opinion. For example, in Khawaja *et al.* (2001) the presence of a breast lump is taken as the measure of whether a referral is appropriate and while 80 patients were referred with a lump it was later determined only 42 had an actual lump. In this case, what is a lump? If a patient is presenting to their GP and reporting that something is abnormal but which a specialist later says it is not a lump but a benign breast change, who is right?

3. 9. 3. 3. Excisions/diagnosis

All four studies are from the UK (three from England and one from Wales); three use excision margins in melanoma/skin tumours as the measure of quality and one looks at the accuracy of a GP's diagnosis after excision (Pockney *et al.*, 2009). Two of the studies are long-term (one is eight years (Neal *et al.*, 2008a) and the other 17 years (Bakhai *et al.*, 2010) retrospective analyses of patient reports. Significant differences in the quality of excision were observed in both studies between specialists and GPs, with GPs not performing as well; specifically having narrower excision margins (therefore the whole affected area may not be removed). This pattern was supported by Goulding *et al.* (2009) who in their three month retrospective review found that against specialists, GPs did not perform as well but also failed to meet guidelines. In particular 13.8% of the excisions performed by GPs should have been referred, according to NICE guidelines. It would be expected that GPs would not perform as well against specialists; however, a demonstration that GPs are not meeting guidelines is of interest and a measure of quality.

Bakhai *et al.* (2010) additionally highlighted in their study that improvements in excision margins across specialists and GPs were observed after the introduction of new

guidelines; however, guidelines outlining that primary care excisions by GPs should be avoided had little or no significant impact on the number of excisions carried out by GPs. This was not supported by Neal *et al.* (2008a) who observed a decline in excision of lesions in primary care.

Pockney *et al.* (2009) in a retrospective study examined the accuracy of the GPs' diagnoses and their adherence to guidelines. It was found that GPs' diagnostic accuracy was poor with less than half the lesions which GPs diagnosed as malignant turning out to be. Equally there was a small number which GPs had identified as benign which were later diagnosed as malignant, but these missed lesions accounted for a third of the total malignant lesions in the study. It should be noted that the vast majority, 85% of the sample lesions were accurately diagnosed as benign by GPs (91% when accurately diagnosed malignant lesions are added). In Pockney *et al.* (2009), and in Goulding *et al.* (2009), decisions regarding whether guidelines had been met were in some parts of the analysis made by specialists retrospectively reviewing cases. As previously highlighted, specialists are more accurate and therefore including their input in analysis as to whether GPs have correctly identified malignant cases or followed guidelines correctly, could exacerbate findings.

3. 9. 4. GP influences

The remaining three studies are a mixture from Ireland (Daly and Collins, 2007), the US (Carney *et al.*, 1993) and a comparison of UK and Australian GPs (Jiwa *et al.*, 2008)

Jiwa *et al.* (2008) used questionnaires with structured vignettes, based upon referral guidelines, to compare the referral behaviour of English and Australian GPs (response rate -52%, n = 260). It was observed that there was no significant difference between the two

countries and just over half of the vignette cases were placed on the correct pathway, but a higher than necessary number were placed on the urgent pathway.

Daly and Collins' (2007) focus was upon GPs' perceived barriers to patient cancer diagnosis. This is important to include within this review as it shows factors that could be affecting GP quality. In particular from the survey (response rate - 46.7%, n = 929), the lack of clear screening recommendations was highlighted by GPs as were long waiting times for patients sent on urgent referrals. 20% of the GPs surveyed reported that patients had to wait longer than two weeks for an urgent appointment. Lack of access to hospital screening services, longer waits for non-private patients and poor communication with hospital services were also highlighted. No attempt was made in this study to see if there were any significant differences, all analyses were simply numbers and percentages.

Finally Carney *et al.* (1993) is a novel approach to assessing GP quality as they used a standardised patient to present cancer risk family history to see if GPs would follow guidelines and recommend screening. It was found that the offering of screening was based upon the cancer type, with breast cancer mammograms being offered by almost all GPs but checking for oral cancer was only done by a few. Guideline recommendations were not consistently met, or as highlighted above, some services were not provided; equally recommendations regarding lifestyle such as smoking cessation were not universally given despite guidelines stating such a recommendation. This is a unique study in that the method of assessing GP quality is particularly novel, but is not 20 years old.

3.10. Discussion

This review demonstrates that GP practice quality for cancer has been assessed in a number of ways with varied outcomes and findings. Adherence to guidelines, through whatever method, is the most common outcome measure of quality (30 of 37 studies) and these are in general agreement that GPs do not fully comply and adhere to cancer guidelines, from screening through to diagnosis with percentage compliance ranging from 10.6% (Stokes-Lampard et al., 2005) – 91.3% (Shieh et al., 2005). What has also been found is that a range of factors influence GPs' adherence to guidelines and referral practice. In particular GP demographics such as age (Pendleton et al., 2008, McGregor et al., 2004, Roetzheim et al., 1991) and specialism (Yabroff et al., 2009), geographical location (Santora et al., 2003a, Pendleton et al., 2008), patient influences (Sorum et al., 2003, Haggerty et al., 2005) and the type of cancer (Ka'ano'i et al., 2004, Smith and Herbert, 1993) seem to be associated with GPs' decision and practice to screen for cancer, make referrals etc. Interestingly in studies with longitudinal data it was observed that after the introduction of new/updated guidelines, GPs' practice and compliance improved (Salinas et al., 1998a, Melia et al., 2008, Bakhai et al., 2010, Neal et al., 2008a) suggesting that guidelines do in themselves have an impact on GP behaviour but are possibly confounded by the abovementioned additional influences.

Developing a suitable and accurate measure of quality is clearly a complex issue and large scale attempts such as the introduction of quality assessment and financial incentive schemes have, particularly in England with QOF, been a major health care reform. While they have had an influence upon how GP practices operate and GP behaviour, it was surprising that only two studies (Wang *et al.*, 2006, Downing *et al.*, 2007b) were identified through the search strategy.

It could be suggested that QOF has not been in place and operating for an adequate length of time to be used as a research data source; however, at the time of this review QOF had been in place for over five years and neither of the papers included in the review were recent (within the last five years) studies (2006 and 2007). Another suggestion could be that researchers are simply unaware of what data is available from the NHS information centre, this issue was recently highlighted by Curcin et al. (2012), who identified that NHS data was not utilised to its best due to it being unclear as to what was available and its provenance. Despite this, QOF data has been and is, regularly used within healthcare research (Kiran et al., 2010, Ashworth et al., 2007, McLean et al., 2006, Wright et al., 2006, Strong et al., 2006, Sigfrid et al., 2006), and while it has been used in cancer research it is often limited to investigations into prescribing behaviours and hospital admissions (Bottle et al., 2012, Rowlingson et al., 2013, Ashworth et al., 2007, Downing et al., 2007b, Iyen-Omofoman et al., 2011). It has been identified as a limitation for cancer research that QOF has a small number of indicators, presently three, which are cancer specific. Therefore, the lack of papers relating to cancer and GP quality that utilise QOF may be indicative of this limitation as to the validity and practicality of QOF as a quality measure for cancer. Equally this could simply indicate that there is a lack of research in this area that needs to be addressed.

Almost half (18 out of 37) of the studies used a self-reporting methodology to investigate whether GPs were adhering to cancer screening guidelines. This cannot be considered a rigorous methodology and in a number of the studies either no statistical analysis was used or was inadequate (Smith and Herbert, 1993, Ka'ano'i *et al.*, 2004). Studies which used a physical measure of guideline adherence, generally the use of patient and GP practice records (12 of 37 studies), were of better quality with more rigorous methodologies; however, there were some biases. Specifically it had been previously identified that there are a number of studies which, in their method to assess whether GPs

had made referrals and excisions/diagnosis correctly were simply reviewed by specialists as a method of analysis, or in fact the accuracy of excisions etc. by GPs and specialists are compared.

While these types of studies were excluded, there were studies included in the final papers where specialists had reviewed GPs' referrals etc., but GPs' and specialists' actions were also compared to current guidelines (Bakhai *et al.*, 2010, Goulding *et al.*, 2009, Neal *et al.*, 2008a, Pockney *et al.*, 2009, Khawaja and Allan, 2001, Webb and Khanna, 2006). This inclusion of comparing against guidelines does aid in reducing any bias or personal opinion that specialists may have, but equally it was not always part of the primary aim or analysis; for example, in some papers (Khawaja and Allan, 2001, Webb and Khanna, 2006) the use of guidelines in the analysis was secondary or simply a tool which specialists used in their review of GP referrals.

What is most clearly demonstrated by this review is not only the varied way in which GP and primary care quality has been assessed but also the wide range of factors that influence the quality of care and services provided. Generally the quality of studies in this review was poor, with many using limited methodologies and analysis. Fewer studies were from within the last five years (2007-2011, n = 14) and the majority were from the UK and US (UK n = 15, US n = 14).

3. 10. 1. Strengths and weakness of the review

This is an area which has not previously been subjected to a systematic review. More than one database was used and while there was an expected level of overlap between the two databases, due to their specialism in medical and biomedical research, there were a number of papers reviewed which came from just one database. Equally the search strategies, despite not being consistent due to the highlighted problems of different

terminologies between the databases, did produce a number of articles which were found in both databases from using the respective strategies for each database.

The inclusion/exclusion criteria developed were also effective in identifying appropriate articles, as through the second review process, while some articles needed discussion there was a general agreement on the studies meeting the inclusion criteria between the reviewers. The inclusion of a second reviewer process was a strength of this review, as it meant that reviewer bias etc. was reduced.

Once the final papers were agreed upon, the reference sections of each paper were hand searched and any potential papers reviewed against the criteria and by the second reviewer. This helped to identify an additional three papers which were included in the final review.

Unfortunately due to the nature of the studies this had to be a narrative review, as it was not possible to conduct a meta-analysis due to the varied and mixed outcome measures of the studies. As a result of this varied nature the use of an established quality checklist was not deemed to be appropriate to use to more rigorously assess the quality of the final studies. However, these limitations of the review in themselves highlight and establish the limitations and mixture in the level of quality and lack of sufficient and consistent research in this area.

3. 10. 2. Implications and future research

This review has highlighted the lack of clear and consistent measures of GP practice quality; this is a problem as current and future health care priorities move towards improving the quality of primary care. GPs' adherence to guidelines was most commonly used as an outcome measure, but the majority of studies which used this as a quality measure were using GPs' self-reported adherence, which could differ from their actual

adherence. In countries such as the UK where quality monitoring schemes are in place, such as QOF, there is a distinct lack of studies which utilise this data source for research.

It is therefore recommended that future research should be focused upon utilising such data sources and established frameworks of quality assessment, rather than simply relying on GP self-reporting surveys, to improve the quality of future studies and provide a more accurate and unbiased measure of primary care quality.

This review also found that a number of external factors affected GPs' provision of quality care and influenced their decisions in areas such as screening and referrals, these ranged from the GPs' personal beliefs and characteristics (Parkerton *et al.*, 2003, Xilomenos *et al.*, 2006, Shieh *et al.*, 2005) to patient pressure and demographics (Sorum *et al.*, 2003, Gorin *et al.*, 2007). Further research into the effect of these factors and how they contribute, or hinder, the delivery of quality primary care is also recommended.

4. Chapter 4 – methods

This chapter will outline the methodology used for this research. The aim of this research is to test the hypothesis that a patient's cancer stage at diagnosis is influenced by the GP practice they attended, specifically by how that practice performs on certain quality measures. This research was funded as part of an e-health project, therefore part of the aim is to obtain and use data from existing health databases and possibly combine health databases together. The consideration about what databases and sources were available and could be utilised for this project, are discussed within this chapter.

There were a number of new and unique issues that arose throughout this part of the research. Once the decision regarding which health sources and databases was made, the process of obtaining ethical approval, preparing the data, merging databases together and putting together a plan of analysis had to be organised and the challenges of these processes is discussed within this chapter.

4.1. Theoretical considerations

The systematic review and general exploration of literature and research in this area raised some factors that required consideration and impacted upon the approach and methods used in this research.

From the systematic review it became clear that measuring quality of care is a complex and varied issue, and it bought into question whether QOF was the best choice as a measure of primary care quality.

In the UK, traditionally responsibility for quality of care has been in the hands of the individual GP and professional bodies, such as the Royal College of General Practitioners (RCGP) (Birch *et al.*, 2000, Scrivens, 1995, Scrivens, 2002). In the latter part of the 1990s quality improvement in the provision of health care became a high priority on the agenda in the UK and internationally (Campbell *et al.*, 2003, Campbell *et al.*, 2000). What followed was a large amount of investigation and research into quality of health care, how it could be measured and the development of a national performance network within the NHS.

Ultimately such research led towards the development of a financial incentive scheme, whereby GPs had to hit certain health targets and for doing so received additional funding/financial reward for their practice. The Quality Outcomes Framework (QOF) was introduced in 2004 and is the current scheme which measures primary care quality in England. QOF is a voluntary annual programme for all GP surgeries in England but despite the scheme being voluntary in 2009/2010 over 8,000 practices in England took part, which is 99.7% of registered practices. QOF measures achievement against 134 indicators, across clinical care, organisational, patient experience and additional service domains. In the case of the clinical indicators many of these reflect health conditions and diseases which are of priority, such as coronary heart disease, hypertension, COPD and diabetes. Between

2008/2009 the average achievement in England was 95.4%, with 2% of practices within England achieving 100%.

In their review of QOF in the three years since its introduction, Doran *et al.* (All Party Parliamentry Group on Cancer Report, 2009) in their report found that in the first year deprivation was associated with low achievement in quality of care and therefore causing inequalities. In the subsequent two years, achievement in these areas has increased, suggesting an improvement in tackling inequalities as a result of QOF. In mental health research QOF has been found to be a useful and valid tool for measuring and assessing the delivery of health care services (Ivbijaro *et al.*, 2008).

McLean *et al.* (2006) have also highlighted the benefits of QOF for tackling inequalities as there are systems in place, in particular the exclusion system, which reduce the risk of practices being penalised because of the populations they serve. In contrast Sigfrid *et al.* (2006) in their research on diabetes and QOF found that practices located in more deprived areas were more likely to report exceptions. As a result this could suggest that within these populations there are unmet needs being disguised by selective reporting, as practices try to gaining additional funding. Following from this there is a well recognised positive bias within QOF, with many practices achieving the maximum score to receive maximum funding (Doran *et al.*, 2014).

Questions about the validity of QOF have arisen. Downing *et al.* (2007b) examined hospital admissions and their relationship to QOF. They found that QOF scores were not linked to the rate of hospital admissions, which appears to be counter intuitive as the pattern we would expect to see is that as quality of care improves, hospital admissions should reduce. Short (2007) also highlighted that the guidelines QOF outlines, particularly in smoking cessation, do not match those of other quality organisations such as NICE.

Prior to the implementation of QOF practice quality there was a lack of standardised methods that assessed the quality of health care (Thiru *et al.*, 2003). If practice quality was investigated it would probably have used Membership of the Royal College of General Practitioners (MRCGP) as a measure. By using information about which practices are engaged in training and CPD schemes the assumption is that those practices taking part in such schemes have a desire to improve quality. However, within research this has not been a widely used measure and it could be easily argued that engagement in training is not necessarily a measure of current good quality health care.

Therefore, databases such as QOF are beneficial resources for research and for this specific research project there is a need for a quality measure that is used and consistent across a wide number of GP practices which QOF provides. However, it is important to remember that good quality documentation does not equal good quality care (Heath *et al.*, 2007). There are a number of arguments which must be acknowledged that highlight and express that quality of care can never be adequately measured or that wide-scale quantitative measures such as QOF cannot capture important aspects of quality such as patient/GP communication (Becher, 1999, Howie *et al.*, 1999), but an attempt to incorporate these factors is outside the scope of this research and is not possible at this time.

In addition to more careful reflection of appropriate measures of quality of care, more exploration was required of the decision to use cancer stage at diagnosis as the outcome measure. As previously discussed, in chapter 2, this was a novel approach at the start of this research, previously cancer records of staging information have been mostly incomplete and poor; however, it has become more commonplace to use cancer stage at diagnosis as an outcome measure within research (Forrest *et al.*, 2014, Lyratzopoulos *et al.*, 2012a, Rutherford *et al.*, 2013).

This more recent work has highlighted the need to consider factors that could influence cancer stage at diagnosis as a measure, specifically the variation between cancer types in consultation and referral rates (Lyratzopoulos *et al.*, 2013). Between breast and colorectal cancer there are a number of differences regarding their primary care interval, with colorectal patients receiving a higher number of consultations prior to diagnosis and higher primary care referral and interval times. Tørring *et al.* (2013) in their Danish cohort study reflects these variances in interval time, with breast cancer having a shorter primary care interval compared to colorectal cancer.

Equally it must be kept in mind that while the focus of this study is on GP quality of care and cancer stage at diagnosis there are a number of factors that can contribute to cancer stage. As previously mentioned in chapters 2 and 3, age, sex, ethnic origin, socioeconomic status (Downing *et al.*, 2007, Cutherbertson *et al.*, 2009, Delmothe, 2008, Conway *et al.*, 2007, Johnson *et al.*, 2008, McLean *et al.*, 2006) increase the likelihood of developing cancer but also influence diagnosis and treatment. Other forms of delay, such as patient and system delays as outlined in the model by Andersen *et al.* (1995) can also contribute to delays in diagnosis. Not all of these factors are measurable, and in some cases are beyond the scope of this research, however where it has been possible to request data regarding these factors they have been included, for example, patient age and sex, and income domain quintile as a measure of socioeconomic status.

Breast and colorectal cancer differ widely and these differences in consultation and interval rates between breast and colorectal cancer support and highlight the decision to separate the dataset and analyse the two cancer types separately as they are not comparable; therefore, any comparison that could be made would not be of benefit for future research and policy.

4.2. Databases

This research only used data from pre-existing databases, no new data was collected. The databases that have been used in this study are as follows:

- Cancer related data came from the Northern and Yorkshire Cancer Registry and Information Service (NYCRIS). Specifically the data that was extracted included; patient's cancer type, cancer stage at diagnosis, year of diagnosis, GP practice, sex, age and deprivation index.
- Practice quality data was obtained from the practice profiles, which covers the Northern and Yorkshire region. Practice profiles are available via the Association of Public Health Observatories (APHO) website, this data is in the public domain. The specific data that was extracted included; all variables related to cancer, local area and practice deprivation index scores, practice demographics and patient satisfaction scores.
- Quality and Outcomes Framework (QOF) data was also included, this is included in the practice profiles but where specific indicators or practices were missing the most recent QOF data from the NHS Information Centre website was obtained. This is publically available data that is freely available to download.

NYCRIS is one of eleven cancer registries around the UK, which routinely collect cancer data from multiple sources. In addition to collating local cancer information, cancer registries work with a range of organisations within their area, i.e. PCTs, SHAs and cancer networks and national organisations, such as the ONS, to produce health and care publications. NYCRIS covers a large geographical area of Northern England and Yorkshire (excluding a small area of South Cumbria) with a total population of around 6.6million with over 50,000 new cancer cases recorded per year. Further details about NYCRIS are available via the NYCRIS website (http://www.nycris.nhs.uk/).

Through discussions with NYCRIS it was suggested that two or three specific cancers were selected for analysis, the reason for this was primarily two-fold. Firstly by selecting just two or three types this would simplify data management and analysis but also more common and priority cancer types can be focused on, which also ensures a sufficient number of cases for analysis. Secondly the recording of cancer stage is not consistent across the cancer types, for example it had been hoped that lung cancer could be included in this research, because of its prevalence and high mortality rate which therefore has made it a priority within cancer targets. However, the number of cases which had a stage recorded was very low (less than 10%). In comparison breast and colorectal cancer, which are both prevalent and priority cancers, had at least 70% of cases with a cancer stage recorded, specifically colorectal cancer had 25.9% of cases with an unknown stage and breast cancer was 7.3%.

Currently there are a number of methods by which cancer stage can be recorded; specifically for colorectal cancer, Duke's staging is the common method but for breast TNM is the more common staging method. Cancer registries within the UK are managed by the Office of National Statistics (ONS) which collates information from the registries to produce national statistics. When cancer registries submit cancer stage information, regardless of the cancer type, they use a standardised system which is as follows;

0= In Situ

- 1= Local Involvement Only
- 2= Extension to Adjacent Tissues

3= Lymph Node Involvement

4= Metastases

5= Unknown

The NYCRIS data fields requested included patients; sex, type of cancer (breast or colorectal), stage of cancer at diagnosis, age at diagnosis, patient-level income domain score (which was provided in quintile, with 1 being the least deprived and 5 the most deprivied), year of diagnosis and the patient's GP practice code for the previous three years (2006-2008). In the event of missing data it was requested that these cases not be excluded, just that whatever information in the requested fields was included, this was to try and keep numbers for analysis as high as possible but to also record and observe where missing data was most commonly occurring.

After the data had been obtained it was decided that information related to whether patients had been diagnosed through a screening pathway would be of benefit. Diagnosis via screening bypasses the GP practice and therefore cases diagnosed in this way would only obscure and bias the results. Screening information for the 2006-2008 period was requested and received, but this was only available for breast cancer. The NHS Bowel Cancer Screening Programme in England started in July 2006, this was for men and women aged 60-69 to whom an invitation for screening was automatically sent through the post, if they were registered with a GP. However, within the Yorkshire region this programme was only partially rolled out in 2006 and as a result screening information regarding bowel cancer was not available.

The APHO is made up of 12 PHOs around the UK that collate and produce information, data and intelligence on people's health and health care for practitioners, policy makers and the wider community. A recent initiative has been the production of practice profiles, designed to assist GPs, emerging consortia and PCTs to ensure that they are providing and commissioning effective and appropriate healthcare services. Information from a range of sources, specifically QOF, GP patient survey data, the Attribution Data Set and Primary care

mortality data, was collated to produce these profiles which provide data regarding the practice population, deprivation, measures of quality etc. Where possible the most recent data was used, in the case of this research that was data from 2010. At that time it was reported that 3% of practices in England were not included in QOF results, this was either because the practices had chosen to not participate in the QOF scheme or the practices had small list sizes so were excluded on this basis. The profiles became publicly available in late 2010 and were reviewed in mid-2011. The practice profiles are available through the APHO website (http://www.apho.org.uk/pracprof/).

QOF data is a primary component of the APHO practice profiles. QOF is a voluntary annual reward and incentive programme for all GP surgeries in England. It was introduced as part of the GP contract in 2004 and despite the scheme being voluntary, in 2009/2010 over 8,000 practices in England took part, which is around 99.7% of registered practices. QOF during this time period measured achievement against 134 indicators, across clinical care, organisational, patient experience and additional service domains. The more points and therefore higher score that GP practices achieve the more money they receive but adjustments are made based on the practice's workload and the proportion of chronic conditions within the local area. Results from QOF are available through the NHS information centre website (http://www.qof.ic.nhs.uk/index.asp). In addition to the data which was obtained from the practice profiles the individual domain scores and overall total QOF score for each practice was obtained from the QOF website for 2010.

It should be acknowledged that there is a distinct difference between the two primary sources of data. While data from NYCRIS is at an individual patient level, the data from the APHO etc. is an aggregation of a group of patients within a practice. Therefore, the data being used to measure practice quality may not accurately reflect an individual patient's experience of quality of care. Equally there is the risk of generalising results which have

limited power when using organisational level data, such as practice measures of quality. Saunders & Abel (2014) highlight this issue using the example of hospitals within England; with only 160 hospital in England even the inclusion of all of these within an analysis would give good but limited power to a study. Walker et al. (2013) support this identifying that surgeons may not conduct a sufficient number of specialists procedures within a year for the quality of patient outcomes to be adequately measured and therefore could lead to and result in false reporting.

There is a much greater number of GP practices within England however, and this research project has looked at a large geographical area, capturing 792 GP practices in the colorectal cancer dataset and 840 in the breast cancer dataset. Had these numbers been smaller a greater exploration of power and the use of organisational group measures would have been necessary and adjustments or alternative designs would have been explored; further discussion on this can be found in Chapter 6.

4.3. Ethical approval

The practice profile data and QOF data which came from the APHO and NHS websites are both publicly accessible and the data is freely available to download.

In contrast data from NYCRIS is not publically available and therefore a formal data request was made. While no patients were being directly recruited or contacted for this research project, data from NYCRIS is classed as potentially identifiable data, specifically as a geographical identifier (GP practice) and details regarding the type and stage of cancer at diagnosis were requested. This level of detail means that individual cases could be potentially identifiable particularly where there are a small number of cases within a practice.

Due to the use of patient data, NHS REC (Research and Ethics Committee) approval was required. However, because of concern regarding the issue of potentially identifiable data the NIGB (National Information Governance Board) was contacted prior to ethical submission. With their help, adaptations were made to the design of the study to ensure that patient information was sufficiently anonymised and could not be identified.

In particular the NIGB were concerned with small numbers, where within a GP practice there were less than five cases of a specific type of cancer, e.g. three cases of breast cancer or four cases of colorectal cancer. In these cases the NIGBs required changes were to amalgamate some patient information and data, specifically patient's age and the year of diagnosis, to reduce the identifiability. How these changes and ethical stipulations altered and affected the data are discussed later in this chapter.

Once these changes were made to the design of this study an ethics application was made to the NHS REC and approval was granted, see appendix 1.

4.4. Working with the data

Once all data was obtained it became evident that a process of data preparation and cleaning was required before all the data could be merged together into a cohesive dataset, before analysis could take place.

The decision was made to combine all three years of data, rather than keep each year of diagnosis separate for analysis; this was in line with the NIGB changes to anonymise the data. By amalgamating all years together it avoided a large number of practices from being excluded from the analysis because of small numbers, based on the guidance and stipulations set by the NIGB, that had to be met to gain ethical approval. It was also observed that a small number of patients were diagnosed at a young age, which could have again caused an issue of small numbers. To resolve this, existing age ranges were combined

into broader age categories. Specifically two age categories were used; working age (18-64) and retirement age (65+), this ensured that NIGB stipulations were followed and prevented a number of patient cases and practices from being excluded.

Previous research has combined and grouped cancers together (Howlader *et al.*, 2010, Jemal *et al.*, 2011) and this was considered as an option for this research; however, it was eventually decided that the two cancers should be analysed separately. This meant creating two datasets for analysis, one for breast cancer and the other for colorectal cancer. In light of this it was decided that in addition to the ethics committee requirement that a minimum of five cases must be present, it was appropriate to additionally remove any small numbers within cancer type. For example if a practice had a total of 13 cases but 11 of these were breast and only two were colorectal then the colorectal cases were removed. However, the breast cancer cases for that practice could remain in the breast cancer dataset, as there were more than five cases.

After obtaining the data it was decided that the inclusion of information related to screening would be of benefit. NYCRIS does hold information related to screening but this is not 100% complete. Also for the time period of 2006-2008 the national breast screening programme was running but routine screening for colorectal cancer had not yet been introduced. Therefore screening information was only available for breast cancer during this time period.

The NYCRIS screening data comes from the NHS Breast Screening Programme which is a population screening programme inviting all women between the ages of 50 and 70; an invitation is first sent between the ages of 50 - 53, for routine mammograms every three years. Around 1.5 million women are screened every year at screening units across the country. The programme is aimed at asymptomatic women. Due to limitations in the
mammography technology it is not suitable/as accurate for younger women, therefore this group would most likely be presenting and be entering diagnostic pathways via their GPs.

The screening programme is monitored and checked for quality and this is overseen by regional Quality Assurance Reference Centres (QARCs). These centres collect and collate data about the performance and outcomes of the breast screening programme, organise quality assurance visits and provide support for the regional director of quality assurance and the professional coordinators.

Knowledge of screening status is important because detection through screening is not done via a GP. Therefore it can be argued that the quality of practice of a patient with screen-detected cancer has not influenced the stage at diagnosis. Therefore by knowing which cases have been detected via screening, they could be isolated or excluded from the analysis.

The screening categories that were provided by NYCRIS are wide ranging and detailed. Definitions of the categories were gained from NYCRIS and from the QARC and a breakdown of the ten categories is as follows:

- Screening detected cancer the diagnosis has been made from the screening process not via the GP or other routes.
- Interval cancer the diagnosis has been made between screening episodes, so the patient is attending screening and their last result was negative but has presented with symptoms prior to next scheduled screening.
- Cancer in non-attender patient has never attended any screening despite being invited, so has presented via another route.
- 4. Overage patient is over the age range for screening at the time of diagnosis, according to QARC they would also have attended their last screening (so should

not be any non-attenders in this group). NYCRIS say that in fact these are screen detected cancers where the patients has requested to continue screening after the age of 70.

- Cancer in lapsed attender attended at least one round of screening but did not attend their last scheduled screening prior to diagnosis.
- 6. Cancer in uninvited patient has not been invited for screening, but not underage. QARC say this is most likely because they are close to screening age (50-52) but recently moved so the invite is lost and NYCRIS said something similar and added that input errors on the records system can also result in eligible individuals not being invited.
- 7. Underage QARC Patient is under the age range for screening at time of diagnosis, QARC says it is women aged 49, NYCRIS adds that it is women who are called to the screening process early and who have in fact been detected through screening. They may have been called to the screening process early due to family history etc.
- Uncategorised at QARC this is due to insufficient information being available to categorise a case.
- Unmatched at QARC NYCRIS say the patient cannot be matched at QARC so may not have an NHS number etc. QARC say it is because of an absence of screening record within the region.
- 10. Unknown no screening data.

It was decided that these categories would be best simplified for analysis and instead divided into just three categories:

 Screen detected – this includes the screen detected, underage and overage categories.

- Not screen detected this includes, interval, non-attender, lapsed, uninvited, uncategorised at QARC and unmatched at QARC.
- No information this is cases from the unknown category where there is no screening related information.

Within the breast cancer cases there was a small number of stage 0 cases (n = 100). Stage 0, or carcinoma in situ, in breast cancer is often referred to as a pre-cancerous stage and in conjunction with the small sample number it was decided that these cases should be excluded from the dataset and analysis.

Prior to linking the datasets they were reviewed for problems and errors, specifically if there was any important missing information, or information that was incorrect. This was important as it ensured that the data received had all the relevant and required information, particularly in the case of the NYCRIS dataset which provided GP information for each case. Each GP practice that participates in the QOF scheme is given a code which is unique to that practice. It was through this code that the patient's information regarding cancer stage etc. was linked with the GP practice information regarding practice quality. Therefore, it was of great importance that any issues or unknown GP codes were identified in an attempt to reduce the number of practices that would be excluded from analysis.

Data from the practice profiles has already undergone a review by the PHO which meant that problems like missing data and clerical errors have already been addressed. Practice profile data is publically available and accessible to download from the practice profiles website as needed; however, this data is only available to download in large Excel spreadsheets which contain all the practice profile data. This became a problem as a large amount of time was spent excluding any unnecessary data, specifically fields which are not related to this research, such as, QOF indicators about asthma or mental health. The practice profiles are grouped by PCT, with each Excel file containing data for each practice

within that PCT. In total there were 23 PCTs and resulting Excel files, which were combined and converted from Excel to Stata.

While this data is freely available to access and download, the format in which it is downloaded was not workable for this research and does not lend itself to data manipulation. Also as identified above, the practice profiles contain a large amount of information and variables which were not required for this research and as a result the Eastern Region Public Health Observatory (ERPHO), who are the lead on the practice profiles, were contacted. Upon request for data from specific PCTs and practice profile indicators ERPHO were able to provide the requested data in a raw data file. This meant only the data required was included and the data was in a more workable format, specifically it was able to be manipulated and moved between software packages more easily.

In contrast the NYCRIS data presented a very different set of problems. The data had not been cleaned and prepared to the same extent as the practice profiles and required data cleaning to resolve the problems of missing data and errors within the dataset. Problems with the use of cancer registry data have been highlighted in previous research (Parkin and Bray, 2009, Pascoe *et al.*, 2008), specifically with regard to the issue of missing data.

The first problem was whether the data could be located from another source. For example, in the case of cancer stage if this was unknown then little could be done to find out this information but in comparison if a GP practice code was unknown but the GP address was within the data then the practice code could potentially be found.

In the case of missing data that could not be retrieved, for a variable such as cancer stage this data was kept within the dataset and the cancer stage labelled as unknown.

While the preference would be to know the cancer stage, equally having a record that the cancer stage has not been recorded or obtained provides information for comparison and analysis. It could be argued and interpreted that a lack of cancer stage is an example of poor practice quality, because perhaps certain diagnostic tests have not been conducted or delays in reports or test results has meant that a diagnosis has been delayed or simply that organisation issues have prevented a cancer stage from being properly recorded.

The GP practice code is of critical importance within the NYCRIS dataset, as this is the variable which was used to link the NYCRIS data to the data from the practice profiles and QOF. Therefore, where GP practice was unknown, that particular patient case could not be linked to the practice data and would therefore have to be excluded from analysis. There were 1,874 cases with no practice details and these were excluded from any analysis. However, there were an additional 1,437 cases which did not have a practice code but had other practice details, such as practice name, address and postcode.

In these latter cases, attempts were made to find out the GP practice code. In 427 of these cases the code had simply not been inputted and by visually checking the practice name and address that was listed against another case with the same practice name and address a code could be identified and inputted. This then left 1,010 cases without a GP practice code.

In hindsight the identification of these practice codes was a time consuming process, particularly as they only account for 2% of the dataset. The key reason for trying to find the GP practice codes is to retain as many practices as possible to maintain the sample size for analysis. Also identifying where problems and errors occur and how to deal with and overcome these can be used to inform future practice and research using these databases.

Even with excluded data, knowing the GP practice code means that a note can be made on the number of practices that had to be excluded from analysis and for what reasons and also whether there are any common characteristics, i.e. whether they are perhaps singlehanded practices or located in very rural areas.

4.5. Weaknesses and errors in the dataset

The most common errors were as follows:

Clerical errors – these were most commonly misspellings of practice names, address and/or postcodes. For example, a postcode may have been recorded as DL7 8DO, when in fact it is DL7 8DP. These could be difficult to identify, as ordering/sorting the data by practice postcode etc. did not always highlight these errors, therefore hand searching through missing or anomalous data was required, which takes time.

Other clerical problems – the use of generic names when either details are unknown or perhaps records are illegible. For example, where the real practice name is unknown at a stage of recording this information it may have been completed simply with 'the surgery', or various similar combinations, such as if the practice is on a road called 'front street' or 'front street practice'. This causes a particular problem when practices are within health centres and it becomes harder to differentiate and accurately identify the practice.

Health centres - health and medical centres are commonly occupied by more than one practice, each with their own practice code but sharing the same address. This caused two problems, firstly which practice name was recorded; and if the individual practices have their own names, which are those used for the APHO practice profiles or QOF tables, but secondly the health centre also having an overall name. In the NYCRIS database the health centre name may have been recorded instead of the GP practice name, for example, Trinity Riverside Practice and Dr S Chander are both located at the Flagg Court Medical Centre but

both of the former may be recorded as the latter. In cases where the address was identical for multiple practices it was not possible to assign a practice code and the cases had to be excluded.

Branch practices – select practices have more than one practice or site. In these cases there is only one GP practice code and only the address of the primary/main practice is used in the practice profiles and QOF. In the NYCRIS dataset however, the address of a secondary branch practice may have been recorded instead of the primary site address. This causes a problem if just the address has been recorded and the GP code is missing, as it is not initially evident that the practice is part of a branch/group. In these circumstances it is of particular importance to identify the GP code and unify the cancer cases together, as only one or two cases of cancer maybe recorded at each practice site but as a whole the practice has seen a higher number of cancer cases and can be retained in the dataset rather than excluded.

4. 6. Process used for identifying GP practice codes

In the process of preparing the data and trying to identify GP practice codes the following process for identifying missing GP practice codes was developed.

Stage 1

The NHS has a practice code 'look-up' table (http://www.ic.nhs.uk/statistics-and-data-collections/supporting-information/audits-and-performance/the-quality-and-outcomes-framework/qof-2007/08/data-tables). This Excel database lists the details, practice code, address, postcode etc., of all practices registered to QOF during 2007/2008 (no updated version is available). In addition there is an older file from 2004/2005 which if no results are found in the 07/08 file then the same information can be checked in this older file to see if perhaps the practice did exist

and has moved (http://www.ic.nhs.uk/statistics-and-data-collections/supportinginformation/audits-and-performance/the-quality-and-outcomes-framework/qof-2004/05/qof-2004-05-detailed-spreadsheets).

- Within the Excel file the find function can be used to search for the postcode.
 - What seems to work best when searching within this database is to search for the first half of the postcode and then go through the resulting options. This is because sometimes the search does not always recognise the postcode, despite it being in the database, and sometimes by viewing the other postcodes in that area errors are picked up earlier. For example, when searching for a postcode such as TS17 1AY, there may be a postcode which is TS17 3AY and on closer inspection the latter is actually the correct postcode.

Stage 2

- If using the postcode in a search is not successful then the next step is to check the postcode is correct.
 - Searching for other address details in the look up files, such as street or village names, as the postcode boundaries may have changed.
 - There are also alternative websites and search options available if the NHS practice look up table does not prove successful.
 - Try an online map website using such a website enables you to see if a postcode matches up with other address details.
 - Try Royal Mail address finder

- Can input postcode to the finder and it will display the address for that postcode, which can be compared against the address that has been provided.
- Can input first line of address and see if any of the postcode options match up.
- Once a postcode error has been found, then it is advisable to return to the practice code look up table and search again using the correct postcode or other address details to see if the practice can be identified.

Stage 3

• If practice code can still not be found the next step is to search for the practice in the NHS search tool

(http://www.nhs.uk/servicedirectories/Pages/ServiceSearch.aspx?ServiceType=GP)

- Details of the practice, such as the postcode, can be used to search for GPs near a location.
- In particular GPs which are a branch practice or part of a larger practice/medical group, can easily be identified using this tool.
 Once the practice has been found details about other premises are listed on the practice page.

Stage 4

- If no results are found from the NHS search then the next step is to use a generic internet search engine, such as Google.
 - Often this type of search will bring back directory websites (i.e. yell.com)
 and these can be used to confirm the existence of the practice and possibly

provide correct (i.e. if something has been spelt incorrectly) or additional details (i.e. phone number, GP's name).

 This type of search may bring up the practice's own website and this is worth checking if no errors have been found in case the practice is part of a wider group or has relocated more recently (i.e. post 2008).

Other options

- Still no results then can try searching alternative details, for example, if postcode
 has been used try the practice name or street name. Equally searching for any
 additional details that have been found, such as telephone number, may yield a
 result.
- If you have a practice name or GP name you can try looking at the listed practices in a PCT on the APHO practice profile website (http://www.apho.org.uk/pracprof/). However, only the practice names and the GP codes are listed on this website and therefore a clear practice name is needed (i.e. something like 'the surgery' or 'the health centre' will not work).
- If after these steps a GP practice code can still not be found then it is likely that the GP is not registered with QOF and therefore does not have a practice code. These are then coded as 'NULL'

During data preparation it was discovered that the NYCRIS data is not laid out with each case (or line of data)as an individual, but rather each line of data is an individual case of a cancer tumour, therefore in individuals who experience multiple tumours or the development of other cancer tumours there are multiple cases/lines of data for these individuals. For example, there may be an ID number of '12345' and this may appear twice within the dataset but one case can be for a stage 2 breast tumour from 2007 while the other is a stage 1 breast tumour from 2008.

1,454 multiple cases were found and within these there were 715 individuals/patients; this equates to just over 5% of the dataset consisting of multiple cases.

Figure 1. Incidences of multiple cancer cases in a patient.



In the majority of multiple cases there were just two cases, but there were instances within the dataset of patients having three or even four tumours recorded per patient within the time period (2006-2008). In 654 individuals the multiple cases are the same cancer, i.e. two cases of breast, but in 61 individuals the cases are for different cancers. As only breast and colorectal cancer are being focused upon in this research it is only known if an individual had both of these cancers. There is no indication in the NYCRIS dataset whether an individual developed another type of cancer within the time period (2006-2008) or whether they had already had a case of cancer or a resulting case after the time period.

The realisation of these multiple cases caused a problem as to whether they should be left in or whether their presence caused some kind of bias. There is a chance that some of the multiple cases are in fact errors and a tumour case has been recorded twice. The decision was made to keep the first recorded tumour and remove any subsequent cases

with a later date. Where there were multiple cases within the same year for an individual, the tumour with the most advanced stage was retained and the others removed and in cases where an individual had both cases of breast and colorectal cancer in the time period the first cases of both of these were retained and any secondary tumour cases removed.

Once these secondary cases were removed this presented a new problem for the dataset, as it reduced the number of cancer cases to below five for some practices, and as a result both datasets has to be searched again for small numbers and any practices with less than five cases were removed.

4.7. Data combination

The data started in two separate datasets, data from NYCRIS in one dataset and in the other the data from the practice profiles and QOF. The two datasets were imported into Microsoft Access and combined using the GP code as the common data item.

Some alterations had to be made to the datasets to enable the combining of the data. Primarily there was a problem with the layout of data in the practice profile dataset where the data had to be rotated.

Once the data was combined then checks at random intervals were made to ensure that the data was still accurate and the merger of data had been successful. The data was moved back into Stata and divided into two working datasets based on cancer type (1; just breast cancer data and 2; just colorectal cancer data).

4.8. Software

The decision was made to undertake analyses using the Stata (Version 11, StataCorp LP) statistical software package. There were two primary reasons for this choice. The first was the quantity of data that was being used and the level of manipulation that was required; other packages such as SPSS would have been inadequate for this task. Secondly, Stata was capable of the planned types of analysis, including a three level multi-level analysis. Alternative packages such as MLWin were an option but Stata is widely used within health statistics, support for this program was available within the University and it is also viewed as more user-friendly.

4.9. Analysis

With all the data combined together and then separated into the two cancer specific datasets the analysis could begin. Outlined in this section is the plan of how the analysis was planned to be conducted and the resulting issues and changes which were made.

4.9.1. Variables

For the analysis there were a number of variables which related to different levels, these were patient variables, GP practice variables and PCT variables. A breakdown of the specific variables at each level is below:

Patient variables:

- 1. Age (2 groups; 18-64 or 65+)
- 2. Sex (2 groups; male or female)
- 3. Cancer type (2 groups; colorectal or breast)
- 4. Cancer stage (5 groups; 1, 2, 3, 4 or unknown)
- 5. GP code (nominal data, lots of groups)
- 6. Screen detected (3 groups; yes, no, no info. Only for breast)
- 7. Income domain quintile (ordinal 1, 2, 3, 4 or 5)

GP variables:

- 1. QOF scores
 - a. Clinical domain (ordinal data, scores are in both percentage and actual score)
 - b. Organisational domain (as above)
 - c. Patient experience domain (as above)
 - d. Additional services domain (as above)
 - e. Total score (as above, combined from the previous 4 domains)
- 2. Specific points from the practice profiles.
 - a. Indicator 275 Cancer: review within 6 months of diagnosis
 - b. 276 Cancer: QOF prevalence (all ages)
 - c. 277 Exception rate for cancer indicators
 - d. 336 Percentage of patients age 65+ years
 - e. 338 Deprivation score (IMD 2007)
 - f. 340 IDAOPI (income deprivation affecting older people)
 - g. 342 Percentage satisfied with phone access
 - h. 343 Percentage able to see doctor within 2 days

- i. 344 Percentage able to book appointment >= 2 days ahead
- j. 345 Percentage satisfied with opening hours
- k. 346 Percentage able to see preferred GP
- I. 641 Percentage aged 75+ years
- m. 642 Percentage aged 85+ years

PCT variables:

Same as GP but grouped by Primary Care Trust (PCTs).

4. 9. 2. Preliminary analysis

There was a need at first to see how the data was distributed before more detailed analysis was conducted, this way it is easier to determine which analysis would be most appropriate, particularly as this is a large data set with a large number of variables.

The first stage was to look at the distribution of the key variables. The primary aim is to look at whether there is an association between cancer stage and GP practice quality, therefore cancer stage was plotted against primary quality measures, such as QOF total score and the individual QOF domains (organisational, clinical, patient experience and additional services). The secondary aim of this project is to look at other variables that may influence cancer stage or the practice quality (if cancer stage and practice quality are associated) therefore looking at variables such as cancer stage and age etc. is also beneficial to see if there is an association and whether it is statistically significant.

In addition to producing graphs as a visual representation of the distribution of the data, correlation matrixes were also conducted to see if there is any relationship between the variables.

4.9.3. Regression analysis

Once the distributions and correlations of the data were examined a regression analysis was carried out. Regression analysis was chosen due to the large number of potential explanatory variables; this form of analysis offers the best way to see how each of these interacts and influences the outcome. Again this was done separately for the two cancer types and initially all variables were included.

The primary aim of this research is to investigate the association between cancer stage at diagnosis and GP practice quality, therefore the outcome measure is the cancer stage. Within the dataset, cancer stage is a categorical variable and has five categories (stage 1, 2, 3, 4 and unknown). Regression analysis requires the outcome variable to only have two categories for comparative analysis, i.e. stage 1 v 2, stage 1 v 3 etc. A results base outcome regression was chosen as this form of analysis allows the selection of a base category for the remaining categories to be compared against. Due to the stage system used to classify the development and progression of cancer cases a number of previous studies have adopted the use of base outcome, or multinomial in Stata, regression for their analysis (Keating *et al.*, 2010, Tarlov *et al.*, 2009).

This worked well for this research as it separated and compared the various combinations of stages enabling a more in-depth look at how any potential associations may work.

It should be noted that the standard output in Stata for multinomial regression includes; coefficient, standard error, z, P>[z], and the 95% confidence interval range. The presentation of coefficients is not always preferable for interpretation and a change to Odds Ratios (OR) would be standard practice. However, Stata does not produce ORs for multinomial regression (mlogit) but produces Relative Risk Ratios (rrr) which have been

used in the outputs and results that follow. There has been debate about whether RRR are an equivelant of (or even the same as) Odds Ratios (Gutierrez, 2005), Rabe-Hesketh & Skrondal (2012) in their book (pg. 637) on categorical modeling in Stata demostrate that RRR in Stata and OR are comparable.

4. 9. 4. Multi-level model

Using base outcome regression, analysis is however unable to separate and specify the potential influence that GP practice and even living within a particular PCT can have. It was decided that using multi-level modelling would help to identify specifically how much of the variance between cancer stages could be attributed to the GP practice and PCT.

Within the dataset there are 3 levels of data:

- 1. Patient/individual cases
- Practice combination of patient data within a practice (identified by practice code)
- 3. PCT combination of practices within a PCT (identified by PCT code)

The primary question is to see if there is a potential link between practice quality and stage of cancer at diagnosis, which requires the two levels of patient and practice level to be analysed. PCT is important to put in as a third level because of the influence PCTs have upon a practice regarding commissioning and finance. How a PCT divides out funding etc. and also what schemes and interventions they get involved with influences the practice and therefore should be included.

Multi-level modelling is regularly used as a method of analysis where it is thought that higher, level processes are influencing processes at a lower level. In the case of this research higher level processes are the GP practice and PCT level which are providing the

health care to diagnose and treat patients, which are the lower level. While the base outcome regression is able to identify variables which contribute towards cancer stage at diagnosis, conducting a multi-level analysis provides a more specific and clear look at how much GP practice or PCT variables are contributing to cancer stage (Luke, 2004).

Again a base outcome approach was used, while this was in part due to the same analysis limitations as before the regression analysis also showed that not all cancer stage comparisons provided a significant result. A similar method has been used in previous research which examined factors which affected the stage of prostate cancer at diagnosis (Zhou *et al.*, 2008).

To begin with all variables were included in the analyses but this was refined and the variables reduced based on the findings from the first regression analyses and the outcomes of the initial multi-level models. This was done to get a clearer indication of the impact of significant variables on the outcome. For example, many initial models were non-significant due to the majority of variables being non-significant and therefore influencing the overall significance of the model.





4.10. Additional analysis

4.10.1. Deciles

Looking at the distribution of QOF data it was found to be positively skewed, see figures 3 & 4. This was to be expected, since it is a common criticism of QOF and reflects the fact that practices are financially incentivised to achieve high scores. However, looking at the graphs, there are a number of outlier practices which do not achieve the maximum number of points and in fact achieve less than the average total score.

Figure 3. QOF total score and patient colorectal cancer stage.



Figure 4. QOF total score and patient breast cancer stage.



It was discussed that this positive skew could impact upon the analysis and the observation of the outliers led to the decision to split the data into deciles. This way a comparison could be made in analysis of the top performing 10% of practices and the bottom 10% of practices, basically comparing what has been assessed as the best and worst practices in QOF. The aim of doing this is to try and account for the positive skew and reduce the effect of having many of the practices clustered together. Previous research has used this approach of comparing top and bottom percentage groups in a range of cancer research from comparing top and bottom socio-economic status quintiles (Smith *et al.*, 2012, Linseisen *et al.*, 2011, Møller *et al.*, 2012) to specific outcome measure variables such as the top and bottom quintiles of dietary fibre scores (Cui *et al.*, 2011, Fung *et al.*, 2010, Tworoger *et al.*, 2011, Wilson *et al.*, 2010).

This division into deciles was initially done based upon the QOF total score. However, the QOF total score is made up of four domains, clinical, organisational, patient experience, and organisational. Following some of the results from initial analyses the decision was made to repeat this process of separating the data into deciles with each of the four QOF domains, as for example, a GP practice may perform well and score highly in three of the domains but score poorly in one domain and bring the practice's total score down into the bottom decile. Equally a practice may perform poorly across the majority of the domains but achieve the maximum score in the other domain(s) and that may bring the practice into the top decile.

The decile ranking based on each individual QOF domain was therefore calculated for both the breast and colorectal datasets and the regression analysis was repeated using the decile ranking of each of the four QOF domains and the top and bottom deciles were compared.

4. 10. 2. Screening effects

In the case of the breast cancer dataset there was concern after the analysis that there could be a screening effect within practices. GP and practice factors were found to influence breast cancer stage at diagnosis, and while screen detected cases were removed, there is an argument that there could be a wider reaching effect.

Of primary concern is the potential for wide variation between GP practices in breast cancer screening uptake, which could affect the analysis. For example, in a GP practice where the screening uptake is 20% and another where the uptake is 80% this variation in screening uptake would result in the practice with 80% potentially having a higher proportion of less advanced staged cancer cases. Previous research has shown that screen detected cases have a less advabnced stage at diagnosis comapred to sympotmatic cases.

This concept is similar to the Hawthorne Effect, which was first observed in industrial research but has since been observed and applied to a number of clinical research and

practice settings (Fernald *et al.*, 2012, Efraimsson *et al.*, 2008, Pascoe, 1983, McCarney *et al.*, 2007). The Hawthorne Effect suggests that an intervention, regardless of what it is, will have a positive effect. In this case a GP and/or practice that demonstrates good screening behaviour could potentially have a positive effect across the practice, specifically less advanced stage of breast cancer at diagnosis. However, it has been shown that there is variation between practices in breast screening uptake and screening referral behaviours.

Chapter 3 highlights the influence that a GP can have on cancer referrals and reccomendations, such as precieved barriers to diagnoistic tests (Daly and Colins, 2007) and interpretation of symptoms (Carney *et al.*, 1993). Previous research has also shown that variations in deprivation and ethnicity within the patient population can also affect screening uptake numbers. Bell *et al.*, (2010) and Jack *et al.*, (2014) both found that ethnic minority groups had a lower uptake of breast screening compared to white British females, therefore in certain geographic regions where practices have high numbers of ethnic minority patients this will affect the breast screening uptake rate of the practice in general. In addition, Gatrell *et al.*, (1998) found low breast screening uptake in practices located in deprivied areas, while Carney *et al.*, (2013) found that patient income did not affect screening uptake, but past screening behaviour was found to have a signficant effect.

With these concerns in mind another version of the breast cancer dataset was prepared with all cases of patients aged between 50-70 (the age range for the national screening programme at this time) removed. From the data that remained this has to be checked for small numbers of cases within a practice, to ensure that the ethical guidelines and stipulations are met.

The regression analyses and multi-level analysis were then repeated on this dataset to account for any confounding due to practice variation in screening uptake and potential screening effect, but also served to see if repeated analysis influenced the results.

4.11. Dichotomised and unknown stage

In the colorectal dataset there were a high percentage of cases with unknown stage, 25.9%. How to treat this stage status needed consideration as it could simply be that patients have died etc. which has resulted in a stage not being recorded but equally it could be due to organisational and clinical issues of quality. Previous research has identified that patients with an unknown cancer stage generally have poorer outcomes, greater risk of mortality and reduced access to treatment (Merrill *et al.*, 2011, Ciccolallo *et al.*, 2005, Comber *et al.*, 2005). As a result unknown stage cases have been treated as and grouped with more advanced stage cancers (Virnig *et al.*, 2009).

Analysis was repeated with and without unknown stage cancer cases to determine how this modified the results.

Additional analysis was also conducted with the cancer stages dichotomised, into less advanced (stage 1 & 2) and more advanced (3, 4 & unknown) cancer stage at diagnosis. The decision for this was to try and account for the uneven distribution across the cancer stages, specifically in breast cancer where the majority of cases are diagnosed at stage 1 and 2; by grouping the later stages together it increased the sample size for that group. Dichotomising cancer stage is a common practice within cancer research (Lindstrom *et al.*, 2009, Haikel *et al.*, 2011) and specifically within breast (Van den Eynden *et al.*, 2005) and colorectal (Lee *et al.*, 2000).

5. Chapter 5: Results

This chapter will outline the findings of the analysis conducted for this study.

The primary aim of this study was to see if there was any evidence of GP quality influencing a patient's cancer stage at diagnosis in breast and colorectal cancer cases.

Data relating to GP quality came from the GP practice profiles that are constructed by the Eastern region public health observatory and additional GP data had come from the NHS information service regarding QOF scores. Cancer and patient data came from NYCRIS, further details of the data acquired for this project are outlined in the methods chapter.

As breast and colorectal cancer differ significantly in the way they present and their symptomology, screening programmes, how they are identified, diagnostic methods etc., it was decided that they should be analysed separately. So the dataset was divided into breast and colorectal cancer and the range of analyses was carried out on both cancer datasets separately.

A range of analyses were used. Initially descriptive and correlation matrixes were used to understand how the data was distributed. From this the decision was made to also separate the data into deciles, in an attempt to account for the positive bias and skew of the QOF data.

A base outcome regression analysis was used, this was most appropriate due to the categorical nature of the data and dependent variable (cancer stage at diagnosis) and then a multi-level regression analysis was then conducted. Once these had been carried out the findings led to the addition of further regression analyses and a trend analysis to investigate certain results more closely.

With regards to the primary research aim, the multi-level analysis showed that the GP practice a patient attends does have an influence upon breast cancer stage at diagnosis, in some cases accounting for over 25% of the variance. The regression analyses of the breast cancer data did show a relationship between QOF and cancer stage at diagnosis and some specific practice variables appear to have an impact upon cancer stage at diagnosis, particularly whether a patient is able to see their preferred GP. Patient variables, specifically age and level of income (a measure of deprivation), were found to produce a significant influence upon cancer stage.

For colorectal cancer the multi-level analysis did not produce significant results, in fact it appears that a patient's GP practice does not account for any of the variance in colorectal cancer stage at diagnosis. Neither was the PCT in which a practice is located found to have a significant influence upon patient cancer stage. However, in the regression analyses patient variables, specifically age and a patient income level, were found to have a significant affect upon cancer stage at diagnosis. The QOF domains and total score were not found to have a significant affect; however, specific practice variables such as those related to elderly patients (those over 65) and a patient's ability to see a doctor within two days were found to have a significant effect on cancer stage at diagnosis.

As previously stated the original dataset of breast and colorectal cancer cases received from NYCRIS contained 28,964 individual cases. After data cleaning the total number of cases within the NYCRIS dataset was n = 25,216 (n = 3,728 cases were excluded, see chapter 4 for further details). These two cancers were separated into individual datasets, breast cancer had 13,610 cases (which was 54% of the original dataset) and colorectal 11,606 cases (46% of the original dataset). The breakdown of each individual dataset and analysis will now be reported in detail, starting with the colorectal cancer results first, followed by the breast cancer results.

5.1. Colorectal cancer

5. 1. 1. Descriptive and distribution analysis

Initially a basic breakdown of each of the cancer types was conducted and the breakdown for colorectal cancer was as follows.

Cancer stage ranged from 1-4 and unknown (further details can be found in Chapter 4; methods). In the colorectal dataset 25.9% of the dataset had an unknown stage recorded and stage 3 and 4 cases, which are the more advanced stages, constituted 42.9% of the dataset (figure 5).

Figure 5. Distribution of colorectal cancer stage.



National data for patient recorded colorectal cancer stage in England is comparable with; stage 1 - 8.7%, stage 2 - 24.2%, stage 3 - 23.6%, stage 4 - 34.3%, and unknown stage 34.3% (Abdel-Rahman *et al.*, 2009).

Within the patient information that was provided by NYCRIS, along with cancer stage, the key variables were age, sex and income domain (which was divided into quintiles, with 1 being the least deprivied and 5 the most deprivied). Age had been categorised into working age (18-64) and retirement age (65+) and within the colorectal dataset there was a greater number of cases from patients of retirement age (73.3%) compared to working age (26.7%).

Stage		Total	
	18-64	65+	
1	279	798	1077
	(25.9%)	(74.1%)	
2	576	1965	2541
	(22.7%)	(77.3%)	
3	643	1657	2300
	(28%)	(72%)	
4	786	1898	2684
	(29.3%)	(70.7%)	
Unknown	820	2184	3004
	(27.3%)	(72.7%)	
Total	3104	8502	11606
	(26.7%)	(73.3%)	

 Table 2. Cross tabulation of colorectal cancer stage and patient age group.

Figure 6. Distribution of colorectal cancer stage at diagnosis by age.



Table 2 and Figure 6 show this distribution, that more cases were found in patients of retirement age, and a chi-square test showed that there was a significant relationship between a patient's age and their cancer stage, X^2 (8) = 34.55, p < .0001.

The sex distribution of cases was reasonably even, with 43% of cases being female and 57% male patients. For Table 3 it can be observed that for each individual stage the distribution between the two sexes follows a similar pattern, when a chi-square test was conducted it found the relationship between cancer stage and sex to be non-significant X^2 (4) = 3.86, p = .426. National trends of colorectal cancer cases by patient sex showed that in 2010, 56% of new colorectal cancer cases were male and 44% female (Iyen-Omofoman *et al.*, 2011).

Stage		Total	
	Female	Male	
1	465	612	1077
	(43.2%)	(56.8%)	
2	1125	1416	2541
	(44.3%)	(55.7%)	
3	991	1309	2300
	(43.1%)	(56.9%)	
4	1157	1527	2684
	(43.1%)	(56.9%)	
Unknown	1252	1752	3004
	(41.7%)	(58.3%)	
Total	4990	6616	11606
	(43%)	(57%)	

 Table 3. Cross tabulation of colorectal cancer stage and patients' sex.

Figure 7.	Distribution	of colorectal	cancer ca	ises based	on the sex	of the patient.
-----------	--------------	---------------	-----------	------------	------------	-----------------



Income domain is separated into quintiles (range is therefore 1-5) with five representing the most deprived and one the least deprived. Distribution of stage across the five income domains ranges with the lowest percentage being the least deprived quintile (1 = 16.2%) and the most deprived quintile having the highest percentage of colorectal cancer cases (5 = 24.2%), the other quintiles range between these two.

Stage	Income domain					Total
	1	2	3	4	5	
1	216	217	193	206	245	1077
	(20%)	(20.2%)	(17.9%)	(19.1%)	(22.8%)	
2	424	497	517	556	547	2541
	(16.7%)	(19.6%)	(20.4%)	(21.8%)	(21.5%)	
3	404	473	412	484	527	2300
	(17.6%)	(20.6%)	(17.9%)	(21%)	(22.9%)	
4	398	488	512	602	684	2684
	(14.8%)	(18.2%)	(19.1%)	(22.4%)	(25.5%)	
Unknown	440	548	584	624	808	3004
	(14.7%)	(18.2%)	(19.4%)	(20.7%)	(27%)	
Total	1882	2223	2218	2472	2811	11606
	(16.2%)	(19.2%)	(19.1%)	(21.3%)	(24.2%)	

Table 4. Cross tabulation of colorectal cancer stage and patient income domain.

Figure 8. Distribution of colorectal cancer cases across the different stages, grouped by patient income domain.



The distributions in the above Table 4 and Figure 8 between cancer stage in colorectal cancer and patient income domain were found to be significant, X^2 (16) = 56.70, p<.0001.

5. 1. 2. QOF data and distributions

The QOF data used was from the 2009/2010 data, the most recent available at the time of the start of this project. QOF is annually reviewed and changes made, such as the retirement or addition of indicators. In 2009/2010 QOF was divided into four domains and these culminate into a total score. The maximum scores for each domain and the maximum total score were:

Clinical domain = 697

Organisational domain = 167.5 (rounded up to 168)

Patient experience domain = 91.5 (rounded up to 92)

Additional services domain = 44

Total score = 1,000 (Note: while the organisational and patient experience domains are rounded up the maximum total score attainable in QOF remains at 1000, instead of 1001)

The distribution of the QOF data is important as it is well documented that there is a positive skew within QOF, with the majority of practices scoring either maximum points or near maximum. Within this dataset there were 792 GP practices, Table 5 below shows a breakdown of the maximum and minimum scores for each of the domains and total score.

	Minimum	Maximum	Standard	Mean	National average
			deviation		(Department of
					Health, 2002)
Clinical domain	486	697	20.63	679.89	668.2
Organisational	102	168	6.56	164.14	161.4
domain					
Patient experience	30	92	17.50	62.94	65.4
domain					
Additional services	29	44	1.78	42.93	42.0
domain					
Total score	722	1000	32.06	949.54	936.9

Table 5. Summary statistics for each of the QOF domains and QOF total score.

The box plots that follow show that there were a number of outlier practices which score

much lower than the mean or even the standard deviation.

Figure 9. Distribution of QOF total scores against colorectal cancer stage.



Figure 10. Distribution of QOF clinical domain scores against colorectal cancer stage.



Figure 11. Distribution of QOF organisational domain scores against colorectal cancer stage.



Figure 12. Distribution of QOF patient experience domain scores against colorectal cancer stage.


The patient experience domain was the only one of the domains which did not produce any outliers.





5. 1. 2. 1. Deciles

From looking at the distribution of scores across the domains and the total QOF score from the figures (9-13) and table (5), as expected there was a bias and the majority of practices were scoring the maximum or near maximum points available. However, there were a number of practices which were outliers and were not scoring as high as the majority of practices, this observation prompted the decision to additionally separate the data into deciles so that the outcome of the top 10% and bottom 10% could be compared; effectively what could be termed as the best 10% of practices and the worst 10% of practices (for more details see chapter 4; methods).

5. 1. 3. Correlation matrixes

All colorectal cancer variables were put into a correlation matrix to investigate and establish whether there were already any existing correlations between the variables, see appendix 2; table 16.

It was expected that certain variables would show a significant interaction as they are related or are components of each other. For example, the QOF total score is the sum of the four individual QOF domains (clinical, organisation, patient experience and additional services). Equally patient income domain is widely used in larger measures of deprivation, such as the practice deprivation score found in the practice profiles, therefore a correlation between these two variables would be expected.

This was shown to be the case. The QOF total score and patient experience domain correlated with all the individual specific variables which make up the QOF domains. The clinical domain correlated significantly with all QOF variables except patient's ability to see their preferred GP. In the organisational domain the exception rating variable was the only non-significant QOF variable and for the additional services domain the exception rate, IDAOPI, patient ability to book an appointment and patient ability to see their preferred GP were all non-significant.

Patient income domain also correlated with the practice variables associated with deprivation (practice deprivation and IDAOPI [Income Domain Affecting Older People Index]). Specifically these were all positive correlations, so as patient deprivation increases so does practice deprivation and all are to the significance level of p = 0.05.

There was a well-recognised correlation between the QOF total score and the variables associated with deprivation, it was a negative correlation so as deprivation increased the QOF total score decreased (p < 0.05).

The only other significant correlation was between the cancer stage at diagnosis and patient income domain (p < 0.05), it was a positive correlation, so as income domain increases and therefore deprivation increases so does the cancer stage.

5. 1. 4. Regression analysis

5. 1. 4. 1. All colorectal data

5. 1. 4. 1. 1. Patient variables

Of the patient variables only age and patient income domain were found to produce any significant results.

Age produced a significant result between stage 4 versus 1, this was a negative coefficient which indicates that patients of working age, compared to those of retirement age, have a greater likelihood of being diagnosed at a more advanced stage.

Patient income domain between stage 1 and stage 4 and unknown stage produced significant positive coefficients, so an increase in patient income domain and therefore their level of deprivation means patients are more likely to be diagnosed with a more advanced cancer stage or an unknown stage at diagnosis. This relationship remained significant between stage 1 versus stage 4 when the analysis was run with just the top and bottom deciles.

Patient sex was not found to have a significant affect upon patient cancer stage at diagnosis.

5. 1. 4. 1. 2. QOF domains and total

No significant relationships or findings were observed between the QOF domain or total scores and the breast cancer stage at diagnosis. This did not change when the analysis was run with just the top and bottom deciles.

5. 1. 4. 1. 3. Practice variables and GP/PCT codes

There was a significant association found between stage 1 and unknown stage colorectal cancer with whether a patient was able to see a doctor within two days, this is a specific indicator from the patient experience domain of QOF.

All other specific practice variables were found to be not significant, these were; cancer reviewing within six months, cancer prevalence, exception rate for cancer indicators, percentage of patients aged 65+, deprivation score for the practice, IDAOPI, percentage satisfied with phone access, percentage able to book appointment >= 2 days ahead, percentage satisfied with opening hours, percentage able to see preferred GP, percentage aged 75+, and percentage aged 85+.

Table 6. Base outcome output for colorectal data, with stage 1 as the baseoutcome.

Full output is available in appendix (4).

Multinor	nial logistic reg	ression N	umber of obs =	11491		
		LR	chi2(84) =	145.84		
		Pr	ob > chi2 =	0.0000		
Log likeli	hood = -17880.	668 Ps	eudo R2 =	0.0041		
Stage	Variable	Relative	Standard	z	P>[z]	[95%
		Risk Ratio	error			confidence
		(rrr)				interval]
1 v 2	Income	1.065	.0318	2.11	0.035	1.005
	domain					1.129
1 v 4	Age	.8313	.0677	-2.27	0.023	.7087
						.9750
	Income	1.121	.0332	3.85	0.000	1.058
	domain					1.188
1 v	Income	1.137	.0332	4.40	0.000	1.074
Unknown	domain					1.204
	Ability to	.2197	.1361	-2.45	.014	.0652
	see Dr					.7399
	within					
	two days					

5. 1. 4. 2. Top and bottom deciles of the colorectal dataset

When the regression analysis was repeated with just the top and bottom 10% of practices, based on the QOF total score, there was only one significant result. This was between stage 1 and stage 4 and patient income domain, it was a positive coefficient which meant as patient income domain increased (patient income was lower) their likelihood of have a more advanced stage of colorectal cancer increased (table 7). All previous significant results became non-significant.

Table 7. Base outcome output, with just the top and bottom deciles of the QOFtotal score, base outcome is stage 1.

Multinomial logistic regression		egression Nur	mber of obs =	2340		
		LR c	chi2(84) =	75.41		
		Pro	b > chi2 =	0.7374		
Log lik	elihood = -3643	.9045 Pse	eudo R2 =	0.0102		
Stage	Variable	Relative Risk	Standard	z	P>[z]	[95%
		Ratio (rrr)	error			confidence
		Ratio (rrr)	error			confidence interval]
1 v 4	Income	Ratio (rrr) 1.139	error .0758	1.96	0.050	confidence interval]

Full output is available in appendix (5).

The regression analysis was repeated with the colorectal dataset being separated into deciles based on each of the four QOF domains individually. Therefore, the regression analysis was repeated with data from the top and bottom deciles of the QOF clinical domain, then repeated with the data from the top and bottom deciles based on the QOF organisational domain and so on. The following variables were all found to be non-significant across the four analyses; patient sex, the QOF domain and total scores, cancer reviewing within six months, cancer prevalence, exception rate for cancer indicators, deprivation score for the practice, IDAOPI, percentage able to book appointment >= 2 days ahead, percentage satisfied with opening hours, percentage able to see preferred GP, percentage aged 75+, and percentage aged 85+.

The significant results are as follows:

5. 1. 4. 2. 1. Clinical domain

Age was found to be significant between stage 1 versus stage 4 and unknown, but both with RRR of <1 which indicates that as patients get older (those of retirement age) they are

more likely to be diagnoised with a less advanced stage of coloretcal cancer (RRR of .695 for stage 4 and .746 for unknown stage).

The specific practice variable of patient satisfaction with phone access was also found to be significant between stage 1 and stage 4 and unknown, with RRR of 3.37 and 3.4 respectively.

Patient income domain quintile produced a significant result between stage 1 and stage unknown, with a RRR of 1.16.

5. 1. 4. 2. 2. Organisational domain

Patient income domain was found to be a significant result between stage 1 and stage 4 (RRR = 1.121) and unknown (RRR = 1.155), the RRR was >1 which suggests that as income domain increases (and therefore the patient's deprivation), the likelihood of a more advanced or unknown stage being recorded increases.

The QOF domain of additional services was found to be significant between stage 1 versus stage 2 (RRR = 1.246) and stage unknown (RRR = 1.270), both with RRR >1 which suggests that as the score on the additional services domain increases so does the likelihood of a more advanced or unknown stage of colorectal cancer.

Patient age was significant between stage 1 and stage 3, with a RRR of .758 implying that younger patients are more likley to be diagnoised with a more advanced stage of colorectal cancer. The practice variable of the proportion of patients over the age of 85 was significant but with a low RRR (>.0001).

The specific practice variable of patient satisfaction with phone access was also found to be significant between stage 1 and stage 4 and stage unknown, with RRR of 3.109 and 2.961 respectively.

5. 1. 4. 2. 3. Patient experience domain

Between stage 1 against stage 2 (RRR = 1.233), 4 (RRR = 1.169) and unknown (RRR = 1.195) patient income domain was a significant result, all with RRR >1 implying that as patient income domain quintile and therefore level of deprivation, increases so does the likelihood of the cancer stage being more advanced or unknown.

The specific practice variable of proportion of elderly patients (65+) within the practice was found to be significant between stage 1 versus 2 and 3, with RRR of 538 and 213 respectively these are exceptionally greater than stage1 and implies that as the proportion of elderly patients increases so does the likelihood so the cancer stage being stage 2 or 3 compared with stage 1.

Other significant practice variables were between stage 1 and stage 4 whether a cancer review was conducted within six months, a RRR of 6.329, and between stage 1 and stage unknown a patient's ability to see their preferred GP had a RRR of .107.

5. 1. 4. 2. 4. Additional services domain

Patient income domain was found to be a significant result between stage 1 and stage 4 (RRR = 1.108) and unknown (RRR = 1.117), the RRR was >1 which suggests that as income domain increases (and therefore the patient deprivation), the likelihood of a more advanced or unknown stage being recorded increases.

The specific practice variable of patient satisfaction with phone access was also found to be significant between stage 1 and stage 3, with a RRR of 2.31 this suggests as satisfaction with phone access increases so does the likelihood of a patient being diagnosed with a more advanced stage of colorectal cancer.

Age was also found to be significant between stage 1 and stage 4, with a RRR of .808, and between stage 1 and unknown stage the specific practice variable of patient's ability to see their doctor within two days was also significant (RRR = .154).

There is the concern that, due to the large number of variables in this analysis a type one error may occur and significant results may be found by chance rather than because they are statistically significant. For this data there are a few considerations as each variable differed in their distribution; some variables have normal and expected distributions, while others are much more varied. For multinomial regression in Stata it is recommended (Institute for digital research and education, no date) to refer to the 'prob > chi2', a measure of 'good-fit', and 'pseudo R2', which is McFadden's pseudo R-adjusted, and these were all <0.05 with the exception of the regression analysis for colorectal cancer with just the top and bottom decile included in the analysis.

A marginal effects analysis was additionally conducted to further investigate, and this found that there were significant results for a patient's income domain, percentage of elderly patients within a practice, and patient satisfaction with opening hours of the practice, this was in line with the signifcant results found prior to the adjustment.

5. 1. 5. Multi-level model

From the regression analysis there were only a small number of significant findings and all but one of these were from patient level variables, therefore it was unsurprising when the multi-level analysis for colorectal cancer did not produce any significant results to suggest a relationship between GP practice or PCT and patient cancer stage at diagnosis. Specifically from the analysis between each of the cancer stages variance is less than 0.01%.

The analysis was repeated with just the top and bottom deciles to see if this would draw out any effect but again the variance attributed to GP practice and PCT does not exceed 0.01%.

5. 1. 6. Dichotomised stage

It was recommended to combine colorectal cancer stages together as an additional analysis. For the previous analyses there had been five cancer stage categories for both breast and colorectal cancer, stage 1-4 and unknown stage. By combining stage 1 and 2, the less advanced stages, together and combining stage 3, 4 and unknown, the more advanced stages, it provided the opportunity for a more direct comparison of the more advanced cancer cases against the less advanced cases (a more detailed explanation is provided in chapter 4; methods).

5. 1. 6. 1. Colorectal cancer stage 1 & 2 combined and against all other stages combined

When cancer stage was dichotomised, the variables of patient age and income domain remained significant results. All other variables were found to be non-significant.

5. 1. 7. Trend analysis

The decision was made to also conduct a trend analysis using the top and bottom deciles of each of the QOF domains and total score.

From the colorectal dataset only the patient experience domain deciles were significant against stage (p = 0.035). The three remaining QOF domains and total score were not significant.

Putting the data into deciles and only taking the top and bottom deciles was considered, as there might be a skew in the distribution of the cancer stage, i.e. those in the top decile will be mainly less advanced stage cases while the bottom decile will be more advanced stages. However, when colorectal cancer stage was cross-tabulated against each of the deciles it became clear that for colorectal cancer the distribution of different stages is representative across the deciles for each of the QOF domain and total scores.

5.2. Breast cancer

5.2.1. Descriptive and distribution analysis

Initially a basic breakdown of each of the cancer types was conducted and the breakdown for breast cancer was as follows.

Cancer stage ranged from 1-4 and unknown, stage 0 cases had been removed as detailed in chapter 4; methods. In the breast cancer dataset (n = 13,556) the majority of cases, 80.92% were recorded as stage 1 or 2. The more advanced stages, 3 and 4, constituted 11.78% of the cases in the dataset. National data for breast cancer stage in England shows that 41% were stage 1, 45% - stage 2, 9% - stage 3, 5% - stage 4, and 8% were unknown (Lyratzopoulos *et al.*, 2012a).





Within the patient information that was provided by NYCRIS, along with the cancer stage the key variables were age and income domain quintile. In the breast dataset, sex was disregarded as a variable due to the natural bias of breast cancer cases, where it is predominantly a female disease with nearly all cases being female. In this particular dataset there were male cases, n = 99, which constituted 0.7% of the total number of breast cancer cases.

Age had been categorised into working age (18-64) and retirement age (65+) and within the breast dataset the distribution was nearly equal with patients of working age making up 55.4% of the dataset while patients of retirement age made up 44.6%. National data for the effect of patient age on breast cancer stage has found that older patients, specifically those 70+ are more likely to be diagnosed with a more advanced stage of breast cancer (Lyratzopoulos *et al.*, 2012a).

Stage		Total	
	18-64	65+	
1	3264	2086	5350
	(61%)	(39%)	
2	3251	2368	5619
	(57.9%)	(42.1%)	
3	526	434	960
	(54.8%)	(45.2%)	
4	249	388	637
	(39.1%)	(60.9%)	
Unknown	222	768	990
	(22.4%)	(77.6%)	
Total	7512	6044	13556
	(55.4%)	(44.6%)	

Table 8. Cross tabulation of breast cancer stage and patient age.

Figure 15. Distribution of breast cancer stage by patient age.



A chi-square test to further analyse the relationship between breast cancer stage and age was conducted and produced a significant result, X^2 (4) = 586.32, p < .0001.

Income domain is separated into quintiles (range is therefore 1-5) with 5 representing the most deprived and one the least deprived. From the Figure 16 below it is difficult to see whether there is any variance in the distribution or potential relationship between the income domain and patient cancer stage due to the higher number of cases which have been diagnosed at the less advanced stages. National data in this area has shown that patients diagnosed with breast cancer are more likely to be living in more affluent areas, and are therefore more likely to have a higher income (income domain 1 = high level income; income domain 5 = low level income); however, it still remains that patients living in deprived areas are more likely to be diagnosed with a more advanced cancer stage (Cuthbertson *et al.*, 2009, Rutherford *et al.*, 2013)(Downing *et al.*, 2007a). The Table 9 and Figure 16 below show the distribution of the data and a chi-square test found there to be a significant relationship between a patient's cancer stage and income domain level, X^2 (16) = 66.33, p < .0001.



Figure 16. Distribution of breast cancer stages by patient income domain.

Stage		Total				
	1	2	3	4	5	
1	1066	1153	1072	1029	1030	5350
-	1000	1155	1072	1025	1000	3330
	(19.9%)	(21.6%)	(20%)	(19.2%)	(19.3%)	
2	1008	1217	1049	1161	1184	5619
	(17.9%)	(21.7%)	(18.7%)	(20.7%)	(21%)	
3	176	183	209	191	201	960
	(18.3%)	(19.1%)	(21.8%)	(19.9%)	(20.9%)	
4	88	110	134	140	165	637
	(13.8%)	(17.3%)	(21%)	(22%)	(25.9%)	
Unknown	141	192	194	219	244	990
	(14.2%)	(19.4%)	(19.6%)	(22.1%)	(24.7%)	
Total	2479	2855	2658	2740	2824	13556
	(18.3%)	(21.1%)	(19.6%)	(20.2%)	(20.8%)	

Table 9. A cross tabulation of patient income domain against cancer stage atdiagnosis for breast cancer.

5.2.2. Screening data

In the case of breast cancer there is a national breast screening programme that was running during the time period that the data has come from. For colorectal cancer, while there are screening programmes in place now, they had not yet been implemented during 2006-2008. For the time period of data requested NYCRIS also had information available regarding screening information and status recorded for patients; for example, whether they were diagnosed following screening or whether they had been screened but were over the guideline age range for the screening programme etc. Within the NYCRIS dataset for breast cancer there was 14,387 cases of breast cancer. Of these just over half (n = 8,636) have information related to screening, i.e. lapsed attender, overage etc., and of these half again were cases of screen detected cancer (n = 4,202). In total 35.6% of the breast cancer cases within the data were detected via screening.

Where no information was available regarding whether a case was screen detected or not the decision was made to treat it as an unscreened case, therefore cases with no information were categorised with the cases which were not screen detected.

When looking at the cancer stage against the screening information, within the breast cancer cases, trends are observable in the impact that screening has. For those cases detected through screening over half (59.08%) were diagnosed at stage 1, compared with the cases which have no screening information where the majority (45.9%) of the cases were diagnosed at stage 2.

National data from 'the second all breast cancer report' (Lawrence *et al.*, 2011) found that in 2007, 32% of breast cancer cases were diagnosed via a screening pathway. It has also been reported that patients who are diagnosed through a screening pathway are also more likely to have a less advanced stage recorded at diagnosis.

A chi-square test did find the relationship between breast cancer stage and whether the cancer was screen detected or not to be significant, X^2 (4) = 1.40, p < .0001, and the distribution of the data is shown below in Figure 17.

Figure 17. Distribution of breast cancer stage by screening pathway.



5. 2. 3. QOF data

As detailed in the colorectal QOF results, the QOF data used was from the 2009/2010 and is divided into four domains and these culminate in total score, the maximum of which is 1,000 points. Within the breast cancer dataset there were 840 GP practices, Table 10 below shows a breakdown of the maximum and minimum scores for each of the domains and total score.

	Minimum	Maximum	Standard	Mean	National average
			deviation		Verdecchia <i>et al.,</i>
					2007b
Clinical domain	486	697	20.62	679.91	668.2
Organisational	98	168	6.94	164.05	161.4
domain					
Patient experience	30	92	17.75	63.48	65.4
domain					
Additional services	29	44	1.83	42.94	42.0
domain					
Total score	722	1000	32.37	950.02	936.9

Table 10. Summary statistics of the QOF domain scores and QOF total score.

The box plots show that there are a number of outlier practices which score much lower

than the mean or even the standard deviation.

Figure 18. Distribution of QOF total scores against breast cancer stage.



Figure 19. Distribution of QOF clinical domain scores against breast cancer stage.



Figure 20. Distribution of QOF organisational domain scores against breast cancer stage.



Figure 21. Distribution of QOF patient experience domain scores against breast cancer stage.



Figure 22. Distribution of QOF additional services domain scores against breast cancer stage.



5.2.4. Correlation matrixes

All breast cancer variables were put into a correlation matrix to investigate and establish whether there were already any existing correlations between the variables; see Appendix 3 Table 17. As with the colorectal dataset it was expected that certain variables would show a significant interaction as they are related or are components of each other.

This was again found to be the case when the deprivation variables were positively correlated with each other, at the p < 0.05 level.

Breast cancer stage was found to correlate with patient age, practice variables related to age (% of practice population over 65, % of patients over 75 and % of patients over 85), patient income domain and practice deprivation variables, and the specific practice variables of patient ability to see a doctor within two days. The majority of individual QOF variables correlated with the total QOF score and the patient experience domain of QOF. The exceptions were in the clinical domain where the only individual variable that was non-significant was the percentage of patients unable to see their preferred GP; in the organisational domain the variable for exception rating was non-significant; and for the additional services domain the variables of the percentage of patients over 85, percentage able to see their preferred GP and patient ability to book an appointment were not found to be significant.

5.2.5. Regression

For the regression analysis, and following analyses, cases within the breast cancer dataset that had been identified and diagnosed through a screening pathway were removed. This decision was made as it was thought that these cases may obscure the results. The primary aim of this project is to investigate the potential association between GP practice quality and cancer stage at diagnosis. The breast cancer screening programme is a national programme conducted externally to GP practices, therefore GPs have little or no direct influence on screening detected breast cancer cases.

5. 2. 5. 1. Breast cancer data, excluding screening detected cases

5. 2. 5. 1. 1. Patient variable

Of the patient variables only age and a patient's income domain were found to produce any significant results.

Between stage 1 and stage 4 and unknown stage there was a significant finding for age and cancer stage at diagnosis. The RRR were 2.147 for stage 1 and stage 4 and 5.262 for stage 1 and stage unknown, with a RRR >1 this implies that a patient of retirement age, compared to working age, is signficantly more likely to be diagnoised with a more advanced and unknown stage breast cancer.

The patient income domain produced a positive correlation at stage 4 against stage 1 breast cancer, with a RRR = 1.094. Thus as income domain increases, meaning that patients are earning a lower income, the likelihood of more advanced and unknown stage breast cancer increases.

5. 2. 5. 1. 2. QOF domains and total

The only significant results were between stage 1 versus stage 4 breast cancer. The QOF domains, clinical (RRR = .8209), organisational (RRR = .8198), patient experience (RRR = .8244) and additional services (RRR = .8028), produced rrr's <1, so as the QOF domain score decreased the prevalence of more advanced stage at diagnosis increased. The QOF total score (RRR = 1.218) also produced a significant result but it had a RRR <1 which suggests that as the QOF total score increases so does the prevalence of more advanced stage breast cancer.

5. 2. 5. 1. 3. Practice variables and GP/PCT codes

There were a number of specific practice variables which produced significant results.

Between stage 2 versus stage 1 the variable for patients being able to see their preferred GP was significant with a RRR = 1.6998.

Between stage 1 and unknown stage breast cancer the variables of; cancer review within six months of diagnosis, cancer prevalence rate within practice, patients' satisfaction with opening hours, and percentage of patients aged 85+, were all significant.

All other specific practice variables were found to be not significant, these were; exception rate for cancer indicators, percentage of patients aged 65+, deprivation score for the practice, IDAOPI, percentage satisfied with phone access, percentage able to see doctor within two days, percentage able to book appointment >= 2 days ahead, and percentage aged 75+.

Table 11. Baseoutcome output for breast cancer, screen detected cases removed,base outcome is stage 1.

Full output is available in appendix (6).

M	Multinomial logistic regression		bs = 8689			
		LR chi2(105)	= 631.59			
		Prob > chi2	= 0.0000			
Lo	g likelihood = -11532.981	Pseudo R2	= 0.0267			
Stage	Variable	Relative Risk	Standard	Z	P>[z]	[95%
		Ratio (rrr)	error			confidence
1	Ability to coo	1.600	1669	1.02	0.053	interval
1 V Z	preferred GP	1.099	.4008	1.93	0.053	.9922
	A	2447	2074	7.02	0.000	4.777
1 v 4	Age	2.147	.2071	7.92	0.000	1.///
						2.594
	Income domain	1.094	.0436	2.25	0.025	1.011
						1.183
	QOF clinical domain	.8209	.0635	-2.55	0.011	.7055
						.9552
	QOF organisational	.8198	.0631	-2.58	0.010	.705
	domain					.9534
	QOF patient	.8244	.0637	-2.50	0.012	.7085
	experience domain					.9592
	QOF additional	.8028	.0649	-2.72	0.007	.6852
	services domain					.9407
	QOF total score	1.218	.0940	2.55	0.011	1.047
						1.417
1 v	Age	5.262	.4884	17.90	0.000	4.387
Unknown						6.312
	Cancer prevalence	4.44e+08	4.05e	2.19	0.029	7.778
	within practice population		+09			2.54e+16
	Cancer review	.3242	.1580	-2.30	0.021	.1247
	conducted within 6 months					.8428
	Patients' satisfaction	13.086	12.67	2.66	0.008	1.962
	with opening hours					87.29
	Percentage of	3.05e-11	3.15e	-2.34	0.019	4.87e-20
	patients aged 85+		-10			.0191

5. 2. 5. 2. Top and bottom deciles of the breast cancer dataset

When the regression analysis was repeated with just the top and bottom 10% of practices, based on the QOF total score, many of the significant results remained or strengthened.

On the patient level, age remained significant and the RRR increase to 2.325 between stage 1 and stage 4 and 6.022 for stage 1 and stage unknown.

The four QOF domains and the QOF total score remained significant between stage 1 and stage 4 breast cancer. The QOF domains and QOF total score also became significant between stage 1 and stage 3. The QOF domains, clinical (RRR = .7022), organisational (RRR = .7158), patient experience (RRR = .6978) and additional services (RRR = .6366), produced rrr's <1, so as the QOF domain score decreased the prevalence of more advanced stage at diagnosis increased. The QOF total score (RRR = 1.429) also produced a significant result but it had a RRR <1 which suggests that as the QOF total score increases so does the prevalence of more advanced stage breast cancer.

Between stage 1 and stage 2 breast cancer the specific variable of a patient's ability to see a doctor within two days became significant with a RRR of .1239.

Between stage 1 and unknown stage breast cancer, the variable of a patient's satisfaction with opening hours remained significant and between stage 1 and stage 4 the variable of percentage of patients' satisfied with phone access became significant.

All other specific practice variables were found to be not significant, these were; cancer review within six months of diagnosis, cancer prevalence rate within practice, exception rate for cancer indicators, deprivation score for the practice, IDAOPI, percentage satisfied with phone access, percentage able to see doctor within two days, percentage able to book

appointment >= 2 days ahead, percentage of patients aged 65+, percentage aged 75+, and percentage of patients aged 85+.

Table 12. Baseoutcome output for breast cancer, screen detected cases removed,with just top and bottom deciles of QOF total score.

Full output is available in appendix (7).

Multino	mial logistic regression	Number of	obs = 1727			
		LR chi2(105) = 195.28			
		Prob > chi2	= 0.0000			
Log like	lihood = -2194.4279	Pseudo R2	= 0.0426			
Stage	Variable	Relative Risk Ratio (rrr)	Standard error	Z	P>[z]	[95% confidence interval]
1 v 2	Ability to see GP within two days	.1239	.1239	-2.09	0.037	.0174 .8795
1 v 3	QOF clinical domain	.7022	.1199	-2.07	.038	.5025 .9813
	QOF organisational domain	.7158	.1225	-1.95	.051	.5118 1.001
	QOF patient experience domain	.6978	.1202	-2.09	.0367	.4978 .978
	QOF additional services domain	.6366	.1121	-2.57	.010	.4509 .8989
	QOF total score	1.429	.2349	2.09	.037	1.022 1.996
1 v 4	Age	2.325	.5205	3.77	<.0001	1.499 3.606
	QOF clinical domain	.5883	.1219	-2.56	.010	.3920 .883
	QOF organisational domain	.5850	.1210	-2.59	.010	.3900 .8775
	QOF patient experience domain	.5954	.1238	-2.49	.013	.3962 .895
	QOF additional services domain	.5638	.1221	-2.65	.008	.3688 .862
	QOF total score	1.706	.3533	2.58	.010	1.137 2.56
	Percentage satisfied with phone access	8.618	9.631	1.93	.05	.9642 77.03

1 v	Age	6.023	1.25	8.66	<.0001	4.011
Unknown						9.043
	Patient	115.16	270.37	2.02	.043	1.156
	satisfaction with opening hours					11473.3

The regression analysis was repeated with the breast dataset being separated into deciles based on each of the four QOF domains individually. Therefore, the regression analysis was repeated with data from the top and bottom deciles of the QOF clinical domain, then repeated with the data from the top and bottom deciles based on the QOF organisational domain and so on. The following variables were all found to be non-significant across the four analyses; exception rate for cancer indicators, deprivation score for the practice, percentage able to book appointment >= 2 days ahead, percentage aged 75+, and percentage aged 85+.

The significant results are as follows:

5. 2. 5. 2. 1. Clinical domain

Age was found to be significant between stage 1 and stage 2, 4 and unknown, these all had rrr's >1 which implies that as patient age increases so does the likelihood of their diagnosis being recorded as a more advanced stage of breast cancer or stage unknown.

Between stage 1 and stage 4 patient income domain was significant with a RRR of 1.1997, so as patient income domain increases (and therefore their deprivation) so does the likelihood that they will have a more advanced stage recorded at diagnosis. The practice variable of IDAOPI was significant between stage 1 and stage 2, with a RRR of .0296.

Some specific practice variables were found to be significant between certain stages, specifically stage 1 versus 3 and unknown stage patient ability to see their preferred GP, the rrr's were both >1, between stage 1 versus unknown stage GP practice opening hours was significant with a RRR >1, and stage 1 versus stage 4 the additional services domain of QOF and the practice variable of a cancer review being conducted within six months were both significant and with rrr's <1.

5. 2. 5. 2. 2. Organisational domain

Age was found to be significant between stage 1 and stage 4 and unknown, these had rrr's of 1.717 and 4.712 respecticaly, suggesting that as a patient's age increases so does the likelihood of their diagnosis being recorded as a more advanced stage of breast cancer or stage unknown.

A patient's income domain was signicant between stage 1 and stage 4 with a RRR = 1.155, while the specific practice variable of a patient's ability to see their preferred GP was significant across stage 1 versus stage 2 and 4, with rrr's >1. Between stage 1 and stage unknonw the prevelance rate of cancer within a practice was significant with a RRR >1 and between stage 1 versus stage 4 all the QOF domains were significant with rrr's <1 while the QOF total score was significant with a RRR >1.

5. 2. 5. 2. 3. Patient experience domain

Age was found to be significant between stage 1 and stage 4 and unknown, these were rrr's >1 suggesting that as a patient's age increases so does the likelihood of their diagnosis being recorded as a more advanced stage of breast cancer or stage unknown.

Between stage 1 versus stage 3 and 4 all the QOF domains were significant, except the additional services domain between stage 1 and stage 4, with rrr's <1, while the QOF total score was significant with rrr's >1.

The specific practice variable for a patient's satisfaction with phone access was found to be significant with a RRR of .0742, which suggests that as a patient's satisfaction increases they are more likely to be diagnoised with a less advanced breast cancer stage.

5. 2. 5. 2. 4. Additional services domain

Age was found to be significant between stage 1 and stage 4 and unknown, these were with rrr's >1 suggesting that as a patients' age increases so does the likelihood of their diagnosis being recorded as a more advanced stage of breast cancer or stage unknown.

Patient income domain between stage 1 against stage 4 and unknown was significant and had rrr's >1, which suggests as a patient deprivation increases so does the likelihood of their being diagnoised with a more advanced or unknown breast cancer stage.

Between stage 1 versus unknown the specific practice variables of the GP practice opening hours, and whether a cancer review had been conducted within six months were all significant.

Between stage 1 versus stage 4 all the QOF domains were significant, with rrr's <1, while the QOF total score was significant with rrr's >1.

As mentioned in the colorectal cancer results there is the concern that, due to the large number of variables in this analysis a type one error may occur and significant results may be found by chance rather than because they are statistically significant. The 'prob > chi2', a measure of 'good-fit', and 'pseudo R2', which is McFadden's pseudo R-adjusted, and these were all <0.05 for the breast cancer regression analyses. A marginal effects analysis was additionally conducted to further investigate, and this found that there were significant results for a patient's income domain, percentage of elderly patients within a practice, and patient satisfaction with opening hours of the practice.

5. 2. 6. Multi-level model

The regression analysis produced a number of results whereby practice variables were found to have a significant affect upon cancer stage at diagnosis, most notably the QOF domains and total score. This was reflected in the multi-level analysis which showed that GP practices and also the PCT contribute to the variance between breast cancer stage at diagnosis.

5. 2. 6. 1. All breast data, screening detected cases excluded

Between the different cancer stages between 12% and 18% of the variance was attributed to the patients' GP practice, it was only between stage 1 and 4 where GP practice did not show any significant affect (<0.0001%).

At the PCT level it was only between stage 1 and 4 that any variance was found, 11%, while between other stages the variance was found to be less than 0.001%.

Table 13.	Multi-level variance at GP and PCT level for breast cancer with
	screening cases excluded.

Stage	GP	РСТ
1 v 2	12%	0.0001%
1 v 3	18%	0.0001%
1 v 4	0.0001%	11%
1 v unknown	13%	0.0001%

5. 2. 6. 2. Breast cancer data with screening detected cases excluded and just the top and bottom 10% of practices included

When just the top and bottom deciles of the QOF total score was included, the GP practice was found to account for between 16-29% of the variance between the cancer stages at diagnosis.

On the PCT level variance ranged between 5-21%, except when stage 1 was compared against stage 3 where the variance attributed to PCT became < 0.001%.

Table 14.	Multi-level variance at GP and PCT level for breast cancer with
	screening cases excluded and just top and bottom deciles.

Stage	GP	РСТ
1 v 2	21%	5%
1 v 3	26%	0.0001%
1 v 4	16%	21%
1 v unknown	29%	7%

5. 2. 7. Dichotomised stage

As with the colorectal dataset, additional analyses were conducted with the breast cancer stages dichotomised, combining stage 1 and 2 together, and combining stage 3, 4 and unknown together.

5. 2. 7. 1. Breast cancer stage 1 & 2 combined and against all other stages combined

When cancer stage was dichotomised, age and whether the cancer was detected through a screening pathway, were the only significant findings; both were a positive coefficient.

When the analysis was done with the top and bottom deciles for the QOF total score the finding with age remained and each of the individual QOF domains along with the total QOF score also became significant results, with all of the domains being negative coefficients and the total QOF score a positive coefficient.

These findings remained when the top and bottom deciles for the patient experience domain were compared. Patient age and the QOF domains and total score remained as significant results and when the top and bottom deciles for the clinical domain were compared the finding for the patient variable of age remains but the QOF domain and total scores become non-significant.

5.2.8. Trend analysis

A trend analysis was conducted using the top and bottom deciles of each of the four QOF domains and the QOF total score against breast cancer stage.

There were no significant findings from any of these analyses.

5. 2.9. Screening age patients removed

As mentioned in chapter 4, there was concern about possible screening effects, similar to a Hawthorne effect, in the breast cancer data.

Once patients aged between 50-70 years old were removed a total of n = 6,373 patients remained. Some descriptive analysis was conducted to observe disributions, in the

case of stage at diagnosis this remained consistent with the larger dataset, with the majority of cases being diagnosed at stage 1 (39.7%) and stage 2 (40.9%).

The distribution of screening information was also conducted and it was found that 34.77% (n = 2,216) were cases which had been detected and diagnosed through screening, the most likely explaination for this is patients entering the screening programme early due to family history, and 20.6% of the screen detected cases where patients were overage (70+) but had remained in the screening programme.

These screen detected cases were additionally removed and the analyses repeated.

5. 2. 9. 1. Regression analysis

5.2.9.1.1. Patient variable

Of the patient variables, age and a patient's income domain were found to produce significant results.

Between stage 1 and stage 4 and unknown stage there was a significant outcome between age and cancer stage at diagnosis, both with rrr's >1 which suggests that a patient of retirement age, compared to a patient of working age, is significantly more likely to be diagnoised with a more advanced and unknown stage breast cancer.

The patient income domain produced a positive correlation at stage 4 against stage 1 breast cancer, this had a RRR of 1.148. Thus as income domain increases, meaning that patients are earning a lower income, the likelihood of more advanced and unknown stage breast cancer increases.

5. 2. 9. 1. 2. QOF domains and total
The only significant results were between stage 1 versus stage 4 breast cancer. The QOF domains, clinical, organisational, patient experience and additional services, produced rrr's <1, so as the QOF domain score decreased the prevalence of more advanced stage at diagnosis increased. The QOF total score also produced a significant result but it had a RRR >1 which suggests that as the QOF total score increases so does the prevalence of more advanced stage breast cancer.

5. 2. 9. 1. 3. Practice variables and GP/PCT codes

There were a number of specific practice variables which produced significant results, these included:

Between stage 2 versus stage 1 the variable for patients being able to see their preferred GP was found to be signifcant.

Variables related to age and the propoportion of elderly patients within a practice were also significant when stage 3, 4 and unknown were compared against stage 1, specifically the variables were, the percentage of elderly (65+) patients within a practice, the percentage of patients aged over 75, and the percentage of patients aged over 85.

Between stage 1 and unknown stage breast cancer, the practice variable of cancer prevalence rate were significant, as was satisfaction with practice opening hours.

All other specific practice variables were found to be not significant, these were; cancer review within six months of diagnosis, deprivation score for the practice, IDAOPI, percentage satisfied with phone access, exception rate for cancer indicators, percentage able to see doctor within two days and percentage able to book appointment >= 2 days ahead.

Table 15. Base outcome output for breast cancer, screen detected cases and patients of screening age removed.

Full output is available in appendix (8).

Multino	mial logistic regression	Number of o	obs = 4101			
		LR chi2(105)) = 441.42			
		Prob > chi2	= 0.0000			
Log like	lihood = -5292.1196	Pseudo R2	= 0.0400			
Stage	Variable	Relative	Standard	z	P>[z]	[95%
		Risk Ratio	error			confidence
		(rrr)				interval]
1 v 2	Patient's ability	2.345	.9388	2.13	0.033	1.070
	to see preferred					5.139
	GP					
1 v 3	Percentage of	9.19e-06	<.0001	-2.36	0.018	6.01e-10
	elderly patients					.1406
	(65+)					
	Percentage of	1.74e+11	1.80e+12	2.49	0.013	257.11
	patients aged					1.18e+20
	75+					
1 v 4	Age	2.424	.3522	6.10	0.000	1.823
						3.223
	Income domain	1.148	.0684	2.32	0.020	1.022
						1.290
	QOF clinical	.7602	.088	-2.37	0.018	.6059
	domain					.9547
	QOF	.7644	.0880	-2.33	0.020	.6099
	organisational					.9579
	domain					
	QOF patient	.7509	.0870	-2.47	0.014	.5982
	experience					.9425
	domain					10 120
	QOF additional	.6997	.8491	-2.94	0.003	.5516
	services domain					.8876

	QOF total score	1.317	.1523	2.38	0.017	1.05
						1.65
	Percentage of	451355.4	2686717	2.19	0.029	3.869
	elderly patients					5.46e+10
	(65+)					
	Percentage of	2.02e-14	2.56e-13	-2.48	0.013	3.15e-25
	patients aged					.0013
	75+					
1 v	Age	5.4609	.7724	12.00	0.000	4.139
unknown						7.205
	Cancer	3.98e+18	5.46e+19	3.12	0.002	8307295
	prevelance					1.90e+30
	Patient	24.42	35.20	2.22	0.027	1.447
	satisfaction with					411.96
	opening hours					
	Proportion of	4.62e-14	7.05e-13	-2.01	0.044	4.65e-27
	patients aged					.4593
	over 85+					

5. 2. 9. 1. 4. Top and bottom deciles of the breast cancer dataset with screening age removed

Based on the QOF total score, some of the results changed when the regression analysis was repeated without the screening age patients and with just the top and bottom 10% of practices.

On the patient level, age remained significant between stage 4 and unknown stage against stage 1, but income domain was no longer significant.

The four QOF domains and the QOF total score were no longer significant between stage 1 and stage 4 breast cancer, but the additional services domain became significant between stage 3 and stage 1.

At stage 4 versus stage 1 breast cancer the specific practice variables of a cancer review within six months, percentage of elderly (65+) patients at the practice, percentage of patients satisfied with phone access, and percentage of patients over 75 all became significant.

Between stage 1 and unknown stage breast cancer the variable of proportion of cancer prevelance within a practice became significant.

All other specific practice variables were found to be not significant, these were; patient income domain quintile, exception rate for cancer indicators, deprivation score for the practice, IDAOPI, percentage able to see their prefered GP, percentage able to see doctor within two days, percentage able to book appointment >= 2 days ahead, and percentage of patients aged 85+.

The analysis was repeated with each of the four QOF domains, taking the top and bottom deciles in each, the significant results are as follows:

Table 16. Base outcome output for breast cancer, screen detected cases and screeningage patient removed, with just top and bottom deciles of QOF total score.

Full output is available in appendix (9).

Multinomial logistic regression		Number of o	obs = 828			
		LR chi2(105)	= 171.36			
		Prob > chi2	= 0.0000			
Log likel	Log likelihood = -1036.5142		= 0.0764			
Stage	Variable	Relative	Standard	Z	P>[z]	[95%
		Risk Ratio	error			confidence
		(rrr)				interval]
1 v 3	QOF additional	.5713	.1406	-2.28	0.023	.3527
	services domain					.9254
1 v 4	Age	3.279	1.176	3.31	0.001	1.624
						6.622
	Cancer review	.0667	.0868	-2.08	0.037	.0052
	within six					.8534
	months					
	Percentage of	1.78e+16	2.84e+17	2.35	0.019	490.5
	elderly patients					6.47e+29
	(65+)					
	Percentage	370.1	741.5	2.95	0.003	7.292
	satisfied with					18783.1
	phone access					
	Percentage of	6.09e-37	1.98e-35	-2.57	0.010	1.40e-64
	patients aged					2.65e-09
	over 75					
1 v	Age	6.293	1.869	6.19	0.000	3.516
unknown						11.26
	Cancer	1.20e+28	3.98e+29	1.95	0.05	.7596
	prevalence					1.90e+56

5. 2. 9. 1. 5. Clinical domain

Age was found to be significant between stage 1 and stage 4 and unknown, these both had rrr's >1 suggesting that as a patient's age increases so does the likelihood of their diagnosis being recorded as a more advanced stage of breast cancer or stage unknown.

Additional practice variables related to age were found to be significant between stage 1 and stage 3, these were the proportion of elderly (65+) patients within the practice and percentage of patients aged 75+ within the practice.

Between stage 1 and stage unknown patient income domain was a significant result with a RRR of 1.207, so as patient income domain increases (and therefore their deprivation) so does the likelihood that they will have a more advanced or unknown stage recorded at diagnosis.

Some specific practice variables were found to be significant between certain stages, specifically stage 1 versus 4 the variable of cancer review within six months was significant and between stage 1 versus unknown cancer prevelance within the practice was also significant.

5. 2. 9. 1. 6. Patient experience domain

Age was found to be significant between stage 1 and stage 4 and unknown.

The specific practice variables of a patient's ability to see their preferred GP and patient satisfaction with practice opening hours was significant between stage 1 and 2. Also between stage 1 versus stage 4 all the QOF domains were significant with rrr's <1, while the QOF total score was significant with a RRR of 2.324.

The rate of cancer prevelance within a practice was significant between stage 1 and unknown stage.

5. 2. 9. 1. 7. Organisational domain

Age was found to be significant between stage 1 and stage unknown, with a RRR of 3.887, suggesting that as a patient's age increases so does the likelihood of their diagnosis being recorded as a more advanced stage of breast cancer or stage unknown.

Patient income domain was signifcant with a RRR of 1.276 between stage 1 and stage 4 breast cancer.

Between stage 1 versus stage 4 all the QOF domains were significant with rrr's <1, while the QOF total score was significant with a RRR of 1.840.

Specific variables which were significant were between stage 1 and stage 2 where the percentage of patients able to see their preferred GP was significant, and between stage 1 and stage unknown where the rate of cancer prevelance was also significant.

5. 2. 9. 1. 8. Additional services domain

Age was found to be significant between stage 1 and stage 4 and stage unknown. Between stage 1 versus stage 4 the practice variables of the proportion of elderly patients (65+) and the proportion of patients aged over 75 were found to be significant.

Patient income domain was significant between stage 1 and stage 4 and unknown stage, both with rrr's >1.

Between stage 1 and stage 4 the additional services domain of QOF was significant with a RRR of .7510. Remaining significant results were the specific practice variables of cancer prevalence within the practice, the exception rate of the practice and patient satisfaction with practice opening hours, which were all signifcant between stage 1 and unknown stage.

5.2.9.1.9. Multi-level model

5. 2. 9. 1. 9. 1. All breast data, screening detected cases and patients of screening age excluded

A multi-level analysis was repeated on this dataset.

Between stage 1 versus stage 2 and unknown stage between 17.5% and 24.9% was attributed to the GP practice level, while between stage 1 versus stage 3 and stage 4 variance was <0.0001%. At the PCT level between stage 1 and stage 3 had the highest variance attributed to PCT level, 13.1%, while at all other stages it was 0.0002% or lower.

Table 17. Multi-level variance at GP and PCT level for breast cancer with screening detected case and patients of screening age excluded.

Stage	GP	РСТ
1 v 2	24.9%	0.0002%
1 v 3	<0.0001%	13.1%
1 v 4	<0.0001%	0.0002%
1 v unknown	17.5%	0.0001%

5. 2. 9. 1. 9. 2. All breast data, screening detected cases and patients of screening age excluded and just the top and bottom deciles based on practices total QOF score.

With this repeated analysis the variance attributed to GP practice level ranged between 32.14% and 42.9%, while at the PCT level the highest variance was 0.0009% between stage 1 and stage 3 breast cancer.

Table 18. Multi-level variance at GP and PCT level for breast cancer with screening cases and patients of screening age excluded and just top and bottom deciles.

Stage	GP	РСТ
1 v 2	32.14%	<0.0001%
1 v 3	36.66%	0.0009%
1 v 4	41.79%	<0.0001%
1 v unknown	42.9%	0.0005%

6. Chapter 6 – Discussion

This chapter brings together and discusses the information so far presented within this thesis. This includes a summary of the findings and a detailed interpretation of the results from the different analyses which were conducted. Possible explanations for the findings and overlaps with current research are also discussed, along with where the findings fit within the wider context of this research area.

6.1. Aims and objectives

- The aim of this project was to investigate whether there was a relationship between GP practice quality and patient cancer stage at diagnosis.
- The objective of this project was to use a secondary data analysis method by utilising and obtaining data from existing health databases is order to analyse if there was a potential link between GP practice quality and patient cancer stage at diagnosis in breast and colorectal cancer in the North East region of England.

6.2. Key findings

The objective of this research project was met, in that data was obtained from existing health databases, specifically NYCRIS, the GP practice profiles and the NHS IC, and analysis was successfully carried out to investigate the potential link between GP practice quality and cancer stage at diagnosis. This research project also met the aim by finding a link between GP practice quality and cancer stage in breast cancer and links between aspects of GP practice quality and both breast and colorectal cancer stage.

Specifically, between 12% and 18% of the variance in breast cancer stage at diagnosis could be attributed to the variance at the GP practice level. When just the top and bottom 10% of practices, based on their QOF total score were compared, this increased to between 16% and 29%. It was also observed that the PCT a practice was located in also contributed to some of the variance in cancer stage at diagnosis. Specifically when stage 1 and stage 4 were compared, 11% of the variance was attributable to the PCT and when just the top and bottom 10% of practices were analysed this increased to 21%.

A range of analyses were conducted to try and identify and understand more specific variables that could influence a patient's cancer stage at diagnosis. From the regression

analysis of the breast cancer data some specific variables relating to quality were found to have a significant effect upon cancer stage at diagnosis. The QOF total score and each of the individual domains were found to be significant, as well as: the prevalence of cancer within a practice, whether a patient is given a review by their GP within six months of diagnosis, a patient's ability to see their preferred GP when making an appointment and the opening hours of the GP practice.

For colorectal cancer evidence of a link between GP practice quality and cancer stage at diagnosis was not found. In the regression analysis, where specific variables which make up the QOF scores were individually analysed, a significant link was found between one of the variables, patient ability to see a GP within two working days, and patient cancer stage at diagnosis.

Patient income domain and practice deprivation had a significant effect on cancer stage at diagnosis in both breast and colorectal cancer. That as deprivation and patient income domain increased so does the likelihood and relative risk of the patient being diagnosed with a more advanced or unknown cancer stage.

Age was found to be a significant variable in both cancers, in colorectal cancer as age decreased the likelihood of being diagnosed with a more advanced or unknown cancer stage increased. However, in the breast cancer analysis the reverse was found, as patient age increased so did the likelihood and relative risk of a more advanced or unknown cancer stage.

Patient sex was not included as a variable in the breast dataset, due to it being a predominantly female disease. For the colorectal analyses it was not found to contribute or have a significant influence on colorectal cancer stage.

6.3. Interpretation of findings

To begin with, a number of descriptive and distributional analyses were conducted to further examine and understand the make-up of the data that had been brought together. When investigating the QOF data it was found that the overall QOF score and individual domains were positively skewed, with many of the practices scoring the maximum amount or close to maximum score. This effect is well documented, as it serves a purpose for the practice to meet QOF standards and obtain as high a score as possible to receive the maximum amount of funding (Department of Health, 2002, Downing *et al.*, 2007b, Steel and Willems, 2010). However, what was identified in this project was while the majority of practices scored highly, there were a number of outlying practices which scored significantly lower, and even below national averages.

Previous research has identified a number of practice characteristics which can affect and influence QOF scores and attainment, specifically the size of a practice (Wang *et al.*, 2006) and the deprivation level of the area the practice is located in (Wright *et al.*, 2006). A correlation was found between QOF domains (excluding the additional services domain) and total score and deprivation levels within a practice and patient income domain in both breast and colorectal cancer. Therefore, it could be suggested that these outlying practices are potentially located in deprived areas and as such are attaining lower QOF scores because of this.

The exception to this was the patient experience domain. The distributions for this particular domain did not produce any outliers; one possible explanation for this could be that the patient experience domain is smaller (max. of 92 points) in comparison to the clinical (max. of 697 points) and organisational (max. of 168 points) domains. However, the additional services domain is the smallest with a maximum points score of 44, and outliers

were found when the distribution was observed in both breast and colorectal cancer. Scores for the patient experience domain come from the GP patient survey so a possible explanation could be the survey itself, that there is little variation in this domain because the results of the survey are biased or have little variation.

The GP patient survey is a national level survey that has been conducted annually since 2007, and bi-annually since 2011. Responses from the survey contribute to the patient experience domain of QOF and previous research has identified that variance in responses is low, with a significant number of respondents reporting high levels of satisfaction (Kontopantelis *et al.*, 2010, Roland *et al.*, 2009). In addition, in their assessment of the GP patient survey Campbell *et al.* (2013) found a positive bias within their data, of patients having a favourable impression of primary care. More recent research has now specifically linked the GP survey and QOF, to investigate the effect of patient experience on quality of primary care (Llanwarne *et al.*, 2013) and confirms, as this project suggests, associations between QOF and quality of care with patient experience.

Patient surveys are reguarly used within research as an outcome measure, equally they are used to create healthcare measures such as the patient experience domain of QOF with little evidence base regarding their validity. While, as highlighted above, there is a range of previous research which has looked at bias and experience of respondents it is only recently that the validity of individual items within the GP patient survey has been researched. Lyratzopoulos et al. (2011) investigated the reliability and correlations of the individual questions within the GP patient survey, finding that while a small sub-set of questions had lower relliability the majoirty of questions had excellent reliability.

A correlation analysis was also conducted to investigate how the range of variables within the data interacted, particularly as some of the variables contribute to each other. As expected, the QOF domain scores and QOF total score were found to correlate with the

majority of specific QOF and practice profile indicators in both the breast and colorectal data.

Variables related to deprivation (patient income domain, practice deprivation score and IDAOPI (Income Domain Affecting Older People Index)), were found to correlate together in both the breast and colorectal cancer data. This was an unsurprising finding as patient income domain contributes to indicators of deprivation, such as the Index of Multiple Deprivation (IMD), which is then used to calculate scores such as practice deprivation and IDAOPI.

The QOF total score and variables associated with deprivation were found to correlate together, again this is an established and well recognised association, that practices in deprived areas attain lower scores in QOF (Wright *et al.*, 2006, Downing *et al.*, 2007b).

6.3.1. Colorectal

The distribution and descriptive analyses showed that there were a greater number of patients of retirement age (73.3%) compared to working age (26.7%) and this is a commonly observed and expected distribution within cancer populations, as aging is known to be a key cause of the development of cancer (Rutherford *et al.*, 2013, Boreham *et al.*, 2002).

The sex distribution of cases was nearly even, with 43% of cases being female and 57% male, and this is in line with national statistics for colorectal cancer (Cancer Research UK, 2013).

In the correlation analysis it was found that patient cancer stage at diagnosis and patient income domain were correlated; those who had a higher income domain quintile and therefore were receiving more financial support and benefits were more likely to have

a more advanced or unknown stage of cancer. This is a well-established correlation, that patients of low socio-economic status, of which a low income is a part, tend to have more advanced stages of cancer at diagnosis. It is also a common association that patients from low socio-economic backgrounds have higher incidence rates of cancer (Una *et al.*, 2000, Kontopantelis *et al.*, 2010, Lyratzopoulos *et al.*, 2011, Roland *et al.*, 2009).

In the regression analysis when stage 1 and stage 4 were compared it was found that patient age had a significant effect. A RRR of .8313 shows that patients of working age were more likely to be diagnosed with the more advanced stage 4, compared to patients of working age. Similar findings have been found in previous research, specifically, Bowel Cancer UK (2012) conducted research into the experiences of younger bowel cancer patients and found that 69% of younger patients were diagnosed with a more advanced or unknown stage of cancer. It is suggested that this may be due to preconceptions regarding the age profile of high risk patients. Increasing age is established as a risk factor and cause of cancer (Rutherford *et al.*, 2013, Adams *et al.*, 2004a, Boreham *et al.*, 2002, Collerton *et al.*, 2009), and in colorectal cancer the focus has been on the high risk to older populations. This was certainly the finding of Bowel Cancer UK (2012) where younger patients reported being misdiagnosed with other conditions and had delays of up to six months to receive a diagnosis. However, other research has found that only 13% of patients who go on to receive a diagnosis of bowel cancer wait more than two months for a referral for diagnosis (Lyratzopoulos *et al.*, 2013).

Patient income domain also produced significant results, as patients reported a lower income, the likelihood of a more advanced or unknown cancer stage increased, with rrr's ranging from 1.065 when stage 1 and stage 2 were compared to 1.137 when stage 1 and stage unknown were compared in the analysis. Patient income domain was the only available measure from NYCRIS and has been used in this project as an indicator of patient

deprivation. Income domain quintile is a component of wider known measures of deprivation and socio-economic status, specifically the national measure of the IMD. There is a well-recognised link between cancer stage and deprivation, or socio-economic status, and the findings of this research support previous research (Iyen-Omofoman *et al.*, 2011, Parikh - Patel *et al.*, 2006, Forrest *et al.*, 2014).

It had been expected to find an association between patients' sex and their cancer stage at diagnosis would be found, as previous research had found delays in female patients receiving a diagnosis and for being diagnosed with a more advanced or unknown stage of colorectal cancer compared with male patients (Lyratzopoulos et al., 2012a, Doran et al., 2014). In the case of the study conducted by Bowel Cancer UK (2012) this was a small survey (n = 109) of young people who had been diagnosed with bowel cancer and therefore it is difficult to compare the results. However, the study by Neal and Allgar (2005) used national data for six cancers, including bowel, with a total sample size of n = 65,192, which could be considered more comparable with this study where the sample size for bowel data was n = 11,606. The data for the Neal and Allgar study came from the National Survey of NHS Patients: Cancer (Boreham et al., 2002, Department of Health, 2002) and the survey was conducted in 2000, compared with the data for this present study coming from 2006-2008. It could be that finding that sex did not prove to have a significant effect upon cancer stage at diagnosis, in the regression analysis of this present study, suggests that the inequality found by Neal and Allgar may have been due to chance, at least within the North East region of England.

No significant association was found between the QOF domain scores and total score with cancer stage. This was unexpected as colorectal cancer during the time period of the data did not have a screening programme in the North East of England and cases would have been diagnosed primarily through a symptomatic route via a patient's GP. Therefore,

it had been hypothesised that GP quality, as measured by QOF, would influence colorectal cancer stage.

Despite none of the QOF domains or total score showing an association, one of the specific practice variables from QOF did prove to be significant. 'A patient's ability to see a doctor within two days' is a variable from the patient experience domain of QOF, with an RRR of .2197. This shows that as a patient reports being unable to see a doctor within two days of asking for an appointment then the likelihood of them being diagnosed with an unknown colorectal cancer stage increases. This specific QOF indicator has previously been linked to emergency admissions for cancer (Kontopantelis *et al.*, 2010, Bottle *et al.*, 2012).

Following on from this, when the regression analysis was repeated with just the top and bottom 10% of practices, other specific variables became significant; the proportion of elderly patients within a practice and a patient's ability to speak with a GP via telephone. The association with age is well recognised (Iyen-Omofoman *et al.*, 2011, Rutherford *et al.*, 2013) and there is a range of previous research that has highlighted the variable of a patient's access to GP services as an influence upon a patient's cancer diagnosis and outcomes (Bain and Campbell, 2000, Campbell *et al.*, 2001, Launoy *et al.*, 1992, Parikh-Patel *et al.*, 2006, Stevenson *et al.*, 2003).

Following the multinomial regression analyses, a trend analysis was conducted on the individual QOF domains against patient colorectal cancer stage and it was found that the patient experience domain was significantly associated with colorectal cancer stage, further supporting the findings from the regression analysis. Previous research has identified that performance in the GP patient survey and the patient experience domain of QOF is strongly linked, and that both are linked to a practice's performance in achieving higher QOF scores, indicators, and aspects of patient experience, to be significantly

associated with patient outcomes for cancer (Kontopantelis *et al.*, 2010, Llanwarne *et al.*, 2013, Lyratzopoulos *et al.*, 2012b).

The multi-level analysis did not find any significant variance between breast cancer stage at the GP practice level. With few findings from the regression analysis this was unsurprising but as discussed previously it had been hypothesised and expected that GP quality would have an influence upon colorectal cancer stage at diagnosis, due to the nature of diagnostic pathways for colorectal cancer at this time.

6.3.2. Breast

The descriptive and distribution analyses found that the majority of patients had been diagnosed with less advanced stages of breast cancer; 80.92% had a diagnosis of stage 1 or 2 (Lyratzopoulos *et al.*, 2012a). This higher proportion of cancer cases being diagnosed at less advanced stages is an expected pattern in breast cancer. There is a national screening programme for breast cancer in England and the screening information obtained revealed that 35.61% of the breast cancer cases in the data were identified through screening which compares to the national average of 32% (Lawrence *et al.*, 2011). Of the screened cases 92.47% were diagnosed with stage 1 or 2 breast cancer.

The distribution between the two age categories was almost even, with patients of retirement age constituting 44.6% of the breast cancer data and 55.4% of the patients being of working age. The distribution of breast cancer stage and patient age was found to be significant, specifically that patients of retirement age had more advanced or unknown stage at diagnosis which supports previous research findings (Lyratzopoulos *et al.*, 2012a, Bastiaannet *et al.*, 2010, Cuthbertson *et al.*, 2009, Adams *et al.*, 2004a).

The correlation analysis provided a range of findings which were similar to the colorectal cancer data correlation analysis. Specifically breast cancer stage was found to

correlate with patient income domain; as a patient's income increases, the likelihood of more advanced breast cancer stage at diagnosis reduces and this finding supports previous research (Adams *et al.*, 2004b, Una *et al.*, 2000, Rutherford *et al.*, 2013).

Patient age was found to significantly correlate with breast cancer stage, but this time a patient's age was a positive correlation, whereby patients of retirement age were more likely to have a more advanced or unknown cancer stage at diagnosis compared to patients of working age (Boreham *et al.*, 2002, Cuthbertson *et al.*, 2009, Lyratzopoulos *et al.*, 2012a). Lyratzopoulos *et al.* (2012a) found patients aged >70 years to have a higher frequency of more advanced breast cancer stage at diagnosis and suggested that this could be linked to patient level of deprivation; those of low socio-economic status were more frequently diagnosed with a more advanced breast cancer stage. Cuthbertson *et al.* (2009) also suggested that this effect could be associated with the age restrictions on the national breast cancer screening programme. In England during this time period, the advised age range for screening was females aged 50-70. In females over the age of 70 only 7% of cases are screen detected, compared with the national average of 32% (Lawrence *et al.*, 2011).

Screening information for the breast cancer data was available and while this information was excluded from the later and more advanced analyses it was included in the initial and descriptive analyses. In the correlation analysis it was found that patients who had no information or were not diagnosed through a screening pathway were more likely to have a more advanced or unknown cancer stage at diagnosis. This finding fits with previous research that breast cancer screening identifies breast cancer at earlier and less advanced stages (Lawrence *et al.*, 2011).

In the regression analysis it was found that patient age had a significant association (RRR ranged from 2.424 to 5.461) with breast cancer stage, continuing the findings from the correlation analysis that patients of retirement age are more likely to be diagnosed

with a more advanced or unknown cancer stage. Within the practice profile there are specific variables related to elderly patients, specifically the percentage of patients within a practice who are over 75, the proportion of patients who are classed as elderly (65+), and the percentage of patients within the practice who are over 85. All three of these variables also produced a significant association between increased age and a greater likelihood of more advanced or unknown breast cancer stage. This is a trend that has been observed in previous cancer research and also within breast cancer specific research (Adams *et al.*, 2004a, Cimprich *et al.*, 2002, Cuthbertson *et al.*, 2009, Richardson *et al.*, 1992, Boreham *et al.*, 2002, Rutherford *et al.*, 2013, Lyratzopoulos *et al.*, 2012a, Bastiaannet *et al.*, 2010).

The findings surrounding the QOF domains and total score was of interest, with the domains producing an RRR of <1 while the total score was >1. This was an interesting finding as such results have not previously been reported. However, this specific and particular analysis had not been done previously. An explanation or suggestion has yet to be formulated, despite contact and conversation with members of the NHS information centre, it therefore appears to be an idiosyncratic result and finding.

A number of specific variables from the patient experience domain were found to be significant in the regression analysis, including opening hours of the practice and patients being able to see their preferred GP. Both of these variables are from the patient experience domain and these findings suggest that this may be a key area that contributes to patient cancer stage at diagnosis. This is a similar finding to data from the regression analysis of the colorectal data and previous research has found an association between patient experience and satisfaction and cancer outcomes (Llanwarne *et al.*, 2013, Kontopantelis *et al.*, 2010, Bottle *et al.*, 2012).

Specific variables from the QOF clinical domain were also found to be significant. Firstly, the cancer review variables, which is an indicator of whether a GP performs a

review of the cases within three months of diagnosis once a diagnosis has been made. This particular indicator has been highlighted as a problematic and questionable indicator within QOF. Adams *et al.* (2011) in their study reported that GP and primary care teams did not feel that the current cancer review format was helpful and that there was scope for improvement within this area. Equally the cancer charity, Macmillan developed an alternative cancer care review template which was trialled amongst a group of GPs and was found to be more useful and user friendly (Macmillan, 2012).

Secondly, the variable of cancer prevalence, which is the prevalence of cancer cases diagnosed within the practice population; specifically it was found that as the prevalence of cancer cases increases in a practice so does the likelihood of breast cancer cases being diagnosed with an unknown stage. This could suggest and direct towards previous research and findings such as the inverse care law, that practices which are dealing with a high volume of healthcare issues struggle to deal with demand and as a result the overall care and quality of that care is diminished (McLean *et al.*, 2006, Mercer and Watt, 2007, Watt, 2002).

When additional regression analyses were conducted with just the top and bottom 10% of practices, a number of other specific variables were found to have a significant association. These were; the practice opening hours, a patient's ability to see their preferred GP and a patient's ability to see a doctor within two days. All three of these variables are indicators from the patient experience domain of QOF, therefore further adding support to the findings of this and previous research (Bottle *et al.*, 2012), of the association between patient experience and cancer stage.

It should be noted that while a number of significant findings, between stage 1 and stage 4 and stage unknown and between stage 1 and stage 3 in the top and bottom decile analysis were found, there is a potential issue of power. From the distribution of cancer

stage, within the breast cancer dataset, there is a higher proportion of cases diagnosed at stage 1 and 2, a trend which remains even after screen detected cases are removed. This creates a potential argument for bias within the results as a smaller group of more advanced stage patients have been compared to a larger group of less advanced stage patients. However, this bias in numbers, as mentioned, is representative of the distribution in cancer stage within breast caner nationally, even if proportionally they are biased. Dichotimising cancer stage was a method used to try and reduce this bias, while still retaining a represenative sample.

The trend analysis, between cancer stage and the individual QOF domains and total score, did not identify any significant results. This was a surprising result as the QOF domains and total score had previously provided a significant correlation in the regression analysis.

In the multi-level analysis a relationship was found between GP practice quality and cancer stage at diagnosis. This was an unsurprising finding as the QOF domains and total score had been found to be significant in the regression analysis, along with a range of specific practice level variables. When this analysis was conducted with the top and bottom 10% of practices, the association between GP quality and breast cancer stage nearly doubled in the majority of the results.

As yet there is no research that has looked specifically at breast cancer stage at diagnosis and GP practice quality, as measured by QOF. Other measures of assessing quality have been used, such as referral rates for breast cancer and these have provided mixed results (Rubin *et al.*, 2011, Potter *et al.*, 2007, Cornford *et al.*, 2004). Time from presentation to receiving a diagnosis and survival outcomes for breast cancer are significantly better compared with other cancer types (Baughan *et al.*, 2009, Allemani *et al.*, 2010, Coleman *et al.*, 2003, Møller *et al.*, 2009, Thomson and Forman, 2009). However,

the findings from this project highlight that there is still room for improvement and indicate that GPs contribute significantly to this area.

6.4. Interpretation of results in wider context

The key finding of this research was the evidence of a significant link between GP practice quality and patient cancer stage. While this was more clearly demonstrated and found in the breast cancer dataset, there were findings in the colorectal cancer dataset that demonstrated a significant relationship between aspects of GP practice quality and patient cancer stage. The combination of different analyses meant that it was possible to uncover these more specific variables that related to GP practices and their provision of quality. Specifically in both breast and colorectal cancer many of these specific variables were from the patient experience domain of QOF; in breast cancer, additional variables from the clinical domain were also significant.

It could be suggested that in the breast cancer findings, the significant specific variables from the regression analysis are the key contributors on the variance in quality observed in the multi-level model. If so this suggests that patient experience at a primary care level is key to practice quality and increasing the likelihood of patients being diagnosed with a less advanced breast cancer stage.

Patient experience and satisfaction is a well-recognised component of primary healthcare. Since the late 1980s, Howie (Howie *et al.*, 1997, Howie *et al.*, 2004, Howie *et al.*, 1989, Howie *et al.*, 1991, Howie *et al.*, 1999) has researched the impact of GP consultations and their length on patient satisfaction and outcomes and highlighted continually the importance of a patient leaving a consultation feeling understood, able to cope with their symptoms and satisfied. Recent research by Llanwarne *et al.* (2013)

examined the relationship between QOF and GP patient survey data to see if there was a relationship between clinical quality and patient experience. While associations were found and the strongest associations were found between quality of care and access which supports the findings of this research, it was also highlighted that aspects such as the quality of interpersonal care should be considered separately. This again demostrates that while a greater understanding is being gained; patient experience and the provision of primary care are still complex areas which can be influenced by a range of factors.

Previous research has identified a range of factors which can affect GPs' decisions regarding potential cancer cases, such as: a GP's sex (Robertson *et al.*, 2004), whether the GP works full or part time (Parkerton *et al.*, 2003), the size of the practice (Hippisley-Cox *et al.*, 1997, Wang *et al.*, 2006), the number of previous consultations (Lyratzopoulos *et al.*, 2012a), co-morbidity (Jiwa *et al.*, 2004), and a GP's training (Pockney *et al.*, 2009, Wade *et al.*, 2010).

GPs are often considered to be 'gatekeepers' between primary and secondary care, and it has been suggested that this role within a healthcare system can have a negative effect upon patient cancer outcomes (Vedsted and Olesen, 2011). However, in other countries that have GPs as 'gatekeepers' cancer outcomes do not appear to be affected by this form of healthcare structure and it is instead suggested that there are other organisational and resource factors that are a greater influence upon cancer outcomes (Brown *et al.*, 2014, Rubin *et al.*, 2011). It could, therefore, be suggested that the variance and significant factors observed in this study are not associated with the GPs and practice characteristics but instead some other unaccounted for factor and influence. While the total score of the organisational domain of QOF was included in the analysis perhaps the inclusion of individual QOF items from this domain could be included in future research.

A patient's psychological and individual factors can also contribute to their own experience and consultation with a GP. It is well-recognised that many patients delay before presenting symptoms to their GP (de Nooijer *et al.*, 2001, Macdonald *et al.*, 2006, Neal *et al.*, 2008b, Tromp *et al.*, 2005, Pitiphat *et al.*, 2002), and this can be for a range of reasons from simple time constraints (Shack *et al.*, 2008) to personal beliefs such as feeling undeserving of healthcare action (Corner *et al.*, 2006).

Geographical influences have also been found to affect patient access to primary care services and ultimately in some cases, patient cancer outcomes. Patients who live in rural areas tend to be diagnosed with a more advanced cancer stage at diagnosis and report more problems accessing services (Bain and Campbell, 2000, Campbell *et al.*, 2001, Launoy *et al.*, 1992, Liff *et al.*, 1991, Parikh-Patel *et al.*, 2006, Lovett *et al.*, 2002, Pitchforth *et al.*, 2002, Jones *et al.*, 2008, Goddard *et al.*, 2010, Baird and Wright, 2006). However, research has also suggested the opposite effect, in that close proximity to a cancer centre is associated with delays in diagnosis and treatment (Robertson *et al.*, 2004, Tørring *et al.*, 2013).

The issue of access is an important component of patient experience and satisfaction, not just in terms of geography and being able to travel to a GP or primary care provider, but there is also a growing issue regarding access to these services. Specifically many of the points from the GP patient survey, which are used as indicators by QOF, are related to being able to access a GP by means of an appointment or phone consultation. Llanwarne et al (2013) recently supported this concept in their investigation into the association between QOF and patient experience, finding that aspects of the GP patient survey related to access had the strongest correlation with clinical score from QOF.

Research that has utilised data from the GP patient survey has found that overall, patients report being satisfied and report positive experiences of primary care (Bottle *et al.*,

2008, Lyratzopoulos *et al.*, 2012b). Participation in the GP patient survey, like QOF, is voluntary and Nagraj *et al.* (2013) conducted a study to look at the disenrollment rates of GP practices from the scheme. They found that GPs who had dropped out were most likely to be from practices which had received low scores, however there was still substantial drop out from practices with higher scores.

Patient income domain was used in this project as a measure of deprivation. Income domain is used along with other indicators to create the IMD, a wider and national measure of deprivation and socio-economic status. It was a significant finding in this project for both breast and colorectal cancer that patients with a low level income were more likely to be diagnosed with a more advanced breast or colorectal cancer stage. Patient deprivation has been previously linked with more advanced cancer stage, but it has also been significantly linked with reduced and problematic access to primary care services, with GP practices located in deprived areas showing worse health outcomes and higher rates on ill health (Forrest et al., 2014, Una et al., 2000, Macdonald et al., 2006, Kontopantelis et al., 2010, Baird and Wright, 2006, McLean et al., 2006, Rutherford et al., 2013, Strong et al., 2006, Wright et al., 2006). It could therefore be suggested that variables related to deprivation such as income domain are related and contribute to patient satisfaction and that was found in the correlation analysis of the variables in both breast and colorectal cancer (p > .05 between patient experience domain and patient income domain, practice deprivation level and IDAOPI). This finding is supported by previous research which has examined the link between GP practice performance and socio-economic status (Richardson *et al.*, 1992, Wang *et al.*, 2006).

Research in other disease areas has highlighted similar findings and issues. Levene *et al.* (2010) conducted a cross-sectional national study of patient factors affecting coronary heart disease mortality and found variation in mortality across the country to be

significantly associated with patient factors, such as socioeconomic status and ethnicity, while measures of clinical performance and practice quality were not signifcant. Bottle *et al.* (2008) reflected this in their earlier study which suggested improvements in primary care quality would not equate to improved outcomes and reduced secondary care burdens.

Looking at the influence of GP quality on cancer stage at diagnosis and using cancer stage at diagnosis as the outcome measure against QOF and practice profile data as a measure of GP quality is a novel approach which has not been used previously. As a contrast, GP referrals have previously been used as a measure for primary care cancer outcomes and quality and similar results have been found (Haikel *et al.*, 2011, Neal *et al.*, 2008b, Potter *et al.*, 2007, Neal *et al.*, 2007, Kirwan *et al.*, 2002).

Foot *et al.* (2011) conducted an inquiry, for the King's fund, into the quality of GP diagnosis and referrals. This national review studied variables and factors that influence referral rates, finding that while there is a large body of research in this area, the findings are inconsistent. There is evidence that GPs have a substantial influence on referral rates, but what specific GP factors and variables cause that relationship are unclear and any suggestions were found to be wide ranging, see table 19 below. The findings of this study echo this, that GPs clearly have a significant influence upon patient cancer diagnosis, in particular patient experience is a key component of this, but an explanation as to how this influence works is not yet clear.

Table 19. Factors associated with referral rate, taken from Foot et al. (2010).

GP or practice factors	Patient factors	Structural factors
GP beliefs or expectations about	Severity of symptoms	Distance to specialist
benefits of referral		service
GP age or experience	Desire for referral	Area deprivation
GP gender	Age	Availability or
		accessibility of specialist
		care
Degree of training in relevant	Gender	Availability of community
specialty		alternatives to specialist
		care
GP-patient relationship,	Social class	Time available for
congruence between GP's and		consultation
patient's attitudes		
GP relationship with specialist	Diagnosis	
Practice size	Co-morbidities	
Fund-holding history	Help-seeking behaviour	
Services available in practice	Perception of the problem	
GP psychological characteristics	Attitudes towards	
– for example, ability to tolerate	treatment	
uncertainty, concern that non-		
referral might damage patient		
relationships		

6. 5. Strengths of the study

Selecting just two cancer types and using data from the Northern and Yorkshire region of England was of benefit for a range of reasons. Initially it provided focus for the project and these limits also aided in maintaining an achievable time scale for this study, as too broad a focus and a larger amount of data would have significantly increased the required time scale.

Working with just one cancer registry was also of benefit as they were able to advise and recommend cancers to focus upon in addition to advising on questions regarding ethics. As a result, breast and colorectal cancer were selected as they had the highest completeness rate within NYCRIS, but are also two of the most common cancers within the UK and as such are a high priority for research. Using data from just the Northern and Yorkshire regions of England also became a strength, as geographical differences between regions have been observed in previous research especially between Northern and Southern regions (Walters *et al.*, 2011, Goddard *et al.*, 2010, Bambra and Popham, 2010). Therefore, narrowing the focus of the study by selecting breast and colorectal cancer with northern regions of England, not only made this study achievable within the time constraints but the impact of this research was also increased.

Prior to any analyses taking place a number of ethics applications had to be made. Due to the nature of the research and the possibility of potentially identifiable patient data being used, the NIGB were consulted. At the point at which ethics applications were being made for this study, the NHS REC and NIGB had not dealt with this specific data combination approach and a number of discussions regarding methodology and treatment of data were held with the NIGB. This meant that for ethical approval, this study and its methodology was reviewed by three distinct organisations, NIGB, NHS REC, and University

ethics, and granted approval. This is a rigorous process and a strength of the study which benefited both from having been reviewed by and having had the input of a number of external organisations and institutions.

While the national colorectal screening programme had not fully taken effect for the time period of data used in this study (2008-2008) the national breast screening programme was in effect. NYCRIS collects information regarding cancer cases identified through screening and was able to provide this data so that cases within the breast cancer dataset that were screen detected, could be excluded. This accounted for 35.6% of the breast cancer cases which were then excluded reducing any potential skewing of the analysis and results.

While some preparation of the NYCRIS data was required, one of the benefits of using the data from the practice profiles and QOF was that it is made publically available and the data has already been prepared and searched for errors.

The range of analyses used were also a strength of the study as it created the opportunity to look at the specific, as well as the overall effects of a wide range and number of variables. Separating key variables, such as patient demographics and the QOF domains and total scores and analysing them against breast and colorectal cancer stage provided a more in-depth understanding of the data. It also provided the opportunity to test well recognised associations, such as the effect of age upon cancer stage. Conducting a multi-level analysis gave an overall view of whether GP practice quality was associated with patient cancer stage, while also conducting a regression analysis provided details about which specific variables were significantly associated. For example, while colorectal cancer stage was found in the multi-level analysis to not be significantly affected by GP practice quality, it was found in the regression analysis that variables from the patient experience domain of QOF did have a significant affect upon patient cancer stage.

6. 6. Limitations of the study

QOF is a national and government backed quality scheme and while the use of such a large healthcare dataset can be seen as a strength of the study, QOF does have its limitations. Previous research has criticised the validity of QOF and questioned whether it is an effective measure of quality (Steel and Willems, 2010, de Wet et al., 2012, Downing et al., 2007b, Short, 2007). In terms of disease indicators and specifically those related to cancer, QOF is limited, in fact at the time of this project there were only three points within QOF which were cancer specific (Downing *et al.*, 2007b, Office of National Statistics, 2012). In previous research it is also well documented that QOF has a positive bias, with the majority of practices scoring highly and this was reflected in the descriptive analysis of this project. While dividing the practices into deciles and using just the top and bottom practices to try and account for this positive bias was a solution that has previously been used (Wilson et al., 2010, Møller et al., 2012), it is not possible to remove the bias completely. Even the lower performing practices achieve over 80% of the total available QOF points, therefore there remains a small difference between the highest and lowest performing practices. This small level of variation could potentially explain some of the negative and non-significant results, in that variation in GP practices was found to not have an affect upon the cancer stage of a patient simply because there was no variation in the GP practices. However, this suggestion had been the motivation for exploring and using the methodology of comparing top and bottom deciles practices to provide a potentially more suitable sample for comparison. A suggestion would be to use an alternative measure of primary care quality but, as previously discussed, at the time of this research QOF was the most comprehensive and national measure of primary care quality available.

While breast and colorectal cancer were identified as common cancers, the number of cancers that had a good completeness rate of cancer stage at diagnosis was limited. The

consideration at the start of this project had been to include at least three of the most common and priority cancer types for analysis, of which breast and colorectal are two, but also other cancer types such as lung. Lung cancer was of particular interest due to its poor survival rate, particularly in comparison to other common cancers like breast and colorectal (Holmberg *et al.*, 2010, Neal *et al.*, 2007, Thomson and Forman, 2009, Verdecchia *et al.*, 2007a). Upon consultation with NYCRIS it was discovered that cancer types such as lung had very low recording rates for cancer stage, less than 10%. However, despite being one of the better recorded cancer types, of the colorectal data received from NYCRIS, nearly 50% of the cases were assigned an unknown stage of colorectal cancer, but this is in line with national statistics.

An alternative to using data from NYCRIS may have been to use data from another cancer registry or an alternative data source, such as the General Practice Records Database (GPRD). The GPRD has been widely used within research (Wood and Martinez, 2004, Glaser *et al.*, 2013, Rachet *et al.*, 2010, Hwang *et al.*, 2009), but for this particular project it would have raised issues of access, specifically a longer ethics process. The GPRD is also not disease specific and the cancer registries obtain their data from a range of healthcare resources, including the GPRD, so hold better and more detailed data that was of benefit to this project.

Working with the data, once it was received, was a process which took longer than anticipated. Specifically, the data cleaning took longer than hoped as there were a range of small problems including errors in the data, missing and incomplete information, finding a method to merge the different databases, and formatting and software issues. For example, Stata is widely used within healthcare research but is not used by the NHS, so data which was received from NYCRIS and ERPHO, had to be converted. Efforts were made to keep the analysis straightforward so as not to over-manipulate the data; for the analysis

this meant separating the data on occasion and running a number of individual tests, which took more time. In essence there were a number of small and wide ranging issues which arose while working with the data which caused delays and meant the process took longer than anticipated.

In the case of the analysis of the colorectal dataset there was a lack of significant results for which a possible explanation may be found in the design of the study.

While a large number of practices were included in this analysis, a number were excluded as part of the ethical process due to small numbers. The excluded practices had seen less than five cases of colorectal cancer in a three year period and as such they were likely to be a small or single-handed practice. Equally if a practice does not participate in QOF or has a small list size it is excluded from QOF and these practices were also removed from the analysis. The practices that remained in the analysis could, therefore, be considered biased, as they do not capture the full range of practice types within the geographical areas studied. Previous research has suggested that in some cases these small and single-handed practices are likely to be located in areas of high deprivation, areas with a transient population, and in areas where disease incidence and co-morbidity is high (Wang *et al.*, 2006, Campbell *et al.*, 2001, Saxena *et al.*, 2007). However, equally within these studies the quality of care provided by small and single-handed practices is not dissimilar to that of larger practices, for example, in Wang *et al.* (2006) they found smaller practices scored fewer QOF points but this was primarily within the prganisational domain of QOF, not clinical care.

Attempting to address this problem was part of the rationale for repeating the analysis with just the top and bottom decile based on QOF scores, to try and gain a better perspective on the range of practice performance. Again, however, in doing this the

number of patient cases and practices included in the analysis was further reduced, from

11,491 colorectal cases to just 2,340.

7. Chapter 7 – Conclusions

This concluding chapter presents the key findings of this thesis, followed by a reflection and critique of the strengths and limitations of the project as a whole. From this, suggestions for directions and improvements for future work in this area of research are made. In light of the findings and conclusion of this thesis, recommendations for future health and primary care policy are made, before a final summary of this project is presented.
7.1. Key findings

The key findings of this project were as follows:

- From the systematic review there was found to be a lack in research that had investigated primary care quality and its impact upon cancer diagnosis. Previous research was also found to rely on self-reporting questionnaires from GPs regarding their adherence to guidelines, identifying a lack of research that had effectively utilised existing healthcare databases and sources.
- An association between GP practice quality and breast cancer was found in the multi-level analysis, with GP quality accounting for between 12 – 18% of the variance between breast cancer stage. No variance, less than .01%, was found between GP practice quality and colorectal cancer stage.
- A number of significant associations were found between both breast and colorectal cancer stages and specific GP practice indicators, most notably indicators associated with patient experience and satisfaction such as; patients' reported ability to see a doctor within two days and opening hours of the practice.
- Well recognised associations between cancer stage and the patient variables of age and income domain, were also found to be significant in both breast and colorectal cancer. Specifically in breast cancer, older patients and those with a lower income were more likely to be diagnosed with a more advanced stage of breast cancer.
 Colorectal patients who are younger and have a lower income are more likely to be diagnosed with a more advanced stage of colorectal cancer.

7.2. Strengths of the project

Conducting a systematic narrative review prior to the analysis was beneficial as it provided a more rigorous rationale for the study but also aided in informing and directing the methodology. For example, the findings that only a small number (n = 2) of papers had utilised QOF in their research highlighted the need for research in that area, but also lent support to the objective to utilise existing healthcare databases. The methodology of the systematic review, such as the hand searching of reference sections for additional papers, the use of more than one database and the use of a second reviewer within the systematic review all helped to ensure papers were not missed and also reduced researcher bias and provided an outside/second opinion.

Using data from just the Northern and Yorkshire region of England also became a strength, as geographical differences between regions has been observed in previous research especially between Northern and Southern regions (Walters *et al.*, 2011, Goddard *et al.*, 2010, Bambra and Popham, 2010).

Selecting just two cancer types was a strength of this project for a number of reasons. Firstly it provided focus for the project. Breast and colorectal cancer are two of the most common cancers within the UK and as such are a high priority for research, therefore, by selecting breast and colorectal cancer it also increases the impact of this research. It would have made it difficult to complete the project in the timescale if other or all cancer types had been included.

Breast and colorectal cancer differ in a number of ways, from the profile of patients they affect, symptomology, diagnostic pathways etc. (Jiwa *et al.*, 2008, Cornford *et al.*, 2004, Bekkink *et al.*, 2010, Cancer Research UK, 2013). Focusing on just two differing

cancer types provided the opportunity to explore and analyse whether GP practice quality affected breast and colorectal cancer in different way.

From the perspective of data quality and analysis, focusing on two of the most common cancers ensured a good sample size for this project. Out of the most common cancers, NYCRIS had the best reporting rates for breast and colorectal cancer, which was essential as cancer stage at diagnosis was being used as the outcome measure for this project. In the case of breast cancer, NYCRIS held information regarding screen detected cases, which meant screen detected cases which have no or little GP involvement in presentation and diagnosis, could be excluded and reduce skewing the analysis and results.

With the data that was received from NYCRIS, the process of data cleaning identified common areas where errors occurred. A procedure was developed to find and identify missing information and using this procedure 1,437 cases with fields of missing or incorrect data were found and the correct information was given to NYCRIS. The procedure used was also disseminated back to NYCRIS. Conversely, data from the practice profiles and QOF is publically available and has therefore already been prepared and checked for errors.

The use of secondary data analysis and existing databases in health research is becoming more common (Adams *et al.*, 2004b, Downing *et al.*, 2007b, de Wet *et al.*, 2012, Ivbijaro *et al.*, 2008, All Party Parliamentary Group on Cancer, 2009, Holmberg *et al.*, 2010, Lyratzopoulos *et al.*, 2013, Llanwarne *et al.*, 2013). The practice profiles were only created and made publicly available in late 2010, during the second year of this project and since then cancer specific practice profiles have also been created and made available in December 2012. At the point at which the ethics application was being made for this research the NHS REC and NIGB had not dealt with this specific data combination approach. That this research required working with the NIGB on ethical issues I believe is a strength as

it meant and demonstrated that the research had a new and novel approach and also underwent close and considered scrutiny.

The range of analyses used were also a strength of the study as it created the opportunity to look at the specific, as well as the overall effects of a wide range and number of variables. For example, while colorectal cancer stage was found in the multi-level analysis to not be significantly affected by GP practice quality, it was found in the regression analysis that variables from the patient experience domain of QOF did have a significant affect upon patient cancer stage. In the breast cancer dataset the incorporation of additional analysis with all patients of screening age (50-70 years) excluded was another strength of the research as it ensured that potential for confounding by variation of screening uptake and any screening/Hawthorne effect that may occur within a practice was accounted for.

I believe an overall strength of this project has been the continued input of individuals, organisations and institutions external to this project, which has meant that this project has been continually reviewed throughout each stage. This has included a second reviewer for the systematic review, contact regarding ethics and ethical approval from the NIGB, NHS REC, and Durham University ethics, guidance from statisticians within Durham University, opportunities to discuss issues with other health researchers within FUSE (The Centre for Translational Research in Public Health), and annual reviews of the project by Durham University School of Medicine and Health.

7.3. Limitations of the project

The systematic narrative review which was conducted prior to analysis had some limitations. While two databases were used and searched there was overlap between the search results, due to both databases specialising in medical and biomedical studies, therefore, the inclusion of an additional database(s), such as PubMed, may have been of benefit and produced additional papers which may have been missed. While a more rigorous review, such as a meta-analysis, would have been the aim it was not possible to conduct because of the varied methodologies and outcome measures of the papers included. This in itself became a strength and finding of the review regarding the inconsistent approach to quality of primary cancer care research.

While the use of a national scheme and database such as QOF can be viewed as a strength, particularly in light of the systematic review highlighting the lack of research that had utilised QOF as a research resource, QOF does have its weaknesses. These have been previously discussed, such as criticisms of validity (Steel and Willems, 2010, de Wet *et al.*, 2012, Downing *et al.*, 2007b, Short, 2007), and limitations of cancer specific items (Downing *et al.*, 2007b, Office of National Statistics, 2012). Since this research was undertaken, in line with the move from research councils like the ESRC to utilise large datasets and secondary analysis, there has been an increase in research projects of this type. As such a greater understanding of the limitations and considerations that must be undertaken when using large datasets such as QOF have been indentified. Specifically Saunders and Abel (2014) reviewed this issue in a publication earlier this year that provides an outline on the considerations around the design of large ecological studies which use varied outcome measures, and certainly any future research in this area should follow this guidance.

There are a number of considerations around study design which while they can be considered and discussed it was simply not practical or feasible to carry these out. For example, in their article Saunders & Abel (2014) highlighted the issue of comparing individual data against aggregated group data. Ideally instead of using totals and averages from the GP survey for a practice, linking individual patient's cancer data and outcomes with a patient's individual response to a GP patient survey would be the best option. However, GP patient surveys are not completed by all patients, only a selective number of surveys are sent out to patients, and equally it would be difficult to gain permissions for that particular level of indivudal patient data from NHS and ethics organisations.

Within this study there were also a large number of variables which were included in the analysis, because of this there was the potential that a type one error may occur and signifcant results may be the result of chance rather than an observable effect. This was a concern for the study design and findings regarding this multiple testing and while steps were taken to reduce the risk of this issue of multiple testing it was not possible, and therefore remains a limitation, to eliminate the problem altogether.

In the multi-nomial regression analyses there were 7 patient and 18 GP variables, and this analysis was being conducted multiple times, therefore, at least one of the signifcant findings could be assumed to be signifcant by chance. Measures of fit were investigated, for multinomial regression in Stata it is recommended (Institute for digital research and education, no date) to refer to the 'prob > chi2' and 'pseudo R2', these were all <0.05 with the exception of the regression analysis for colorectal cancer with just the top and bottom decile included in the analysis. The repetition of analyses with just the top and bottom deciles of GP practices also provided a sense check of sorts. While some variables did change in significance the majoirty of findings from the larger analyses remained in the refined analyses, which suggests the findings are not simply by chance. Equally once intial

analyses were conducted reduced variable models, where variables with no correlation were removed and analyses were conducted again, showed that signifcant results remained. There is still a risk that the same signifcant results are coming up time and again by chance, but it is not possible to eliminate all type one error, however the repition of analyses using specific sample groups and reduced variable models does provide an opportunity to observe changes in signifcant findings.

Breast and colorectal cancer were good cancer types to focus on for this project, but the availability of cancers with a good completeness rate of cancer stage at diagnosis was a problem. The consideration at the start of this project had been to include at least three of the most common and priority cancer types for analysis, of which breast and colorectal are two, but also other cancer types such as lung. However, upon consultation with NYCRIS it was discovered that cancer types such as lung had very low recording rates for cancer stage, less than 10%, while breast and colorectal had some of the highest rates.

Despite being one of the better recorded cancer types, the colorectal data received from NYCRIS had nearly 50% of the cases assigned to an unknown stage of colorectal cancer. However, this is in line with national statistics.

An alternative may have been to use data from another cancer registry, but NYCRIS is one of the leading cancer registries for colorectal cancer and has the highest rate of completeness for colorectal cancer data. Another alternative to using cancer registry data would have been to use the General Practice Records Database (GPRD), and this database has been widely used within research (Wood and Martinez, 2004, Glaser *et al.*, 2013, Rachet *et al.*, 2010, Hwang *et al.*, 2009). For this particular project using the GPRD would have raised issues of access, specifically a longer ethics process. The GPRD is not disease specific, while the cancer registries are, and the cancer registries obtain their data from a

range of healthcare resources, including the GPRD, so hold better and more detailed data that was of benefit to this project.

My own experience and knowledge was a limitation for this project, particularly in the beginning. While I had experience of research and conducting a large scale study, I had not previously studied or worked within the area of NHS and healthcare research. Specifically, I had no previous experience of NHS or NIGB ethic procedures and this was a large part of the early stages of the project, taking a total of nine months.

For the data management and analysis it was recommended to use the statistical software package Stata. This was not a statistical software package I had prior experience of using and therefore it required me to spend time learning, attend workshops, and simple trial and error on how the software worked, which took time. I had also not used multilevel modelling as an analysis method before, which again required attending workshops, seeking help from statisticians and trial and error.

Working with the data once I had received it was also a process which took longer than anticipated. Specifically data cleaning, for which there was a range of small problems from; errors in the data, missing and incomplete information, finding a method to merge the different databases and formatting and software issues. For example, Stata is widely used within healthcare research but is not used by the NHS, so data that was received from NYCRIS and ERPHO had to be converted. Efforts were made to keep the analysis straightforward and not over-manipulate the data; for the analysis this meant separating the data on occasion and running a number of individual tests, which took more time. In essence there were a number of small and wide ranging issues which arose while working with the data which caused delays and meant the process took longer than anticipated.

7.4. Suggestions for future research and policy

There are two key primary directions that future research in this area should take. The first would be to include more cancer types. What this project has demonstrated is that the level of influence that GP quality has upon a patient's cancer stage, varied. It has been established in previous research that the diagnosis, treatment and outcomes of different cancer types can vary widely (Allgar and Neal, 2005a, Baughan *et al.*, 2009, de Nooijer *et al.*, 2001, Rubin *et al.*, 2011, Jones *et al.*, 2009, Jones *et al.*, 2007, Cancer Research UK, 2013), which is why with over 200 different cancer types, understanding which cancer types are currently most, or least, influenced by GP quality is of importance for guiding and informing future policy and research.

With this in mind the addition and/or inclusion of more cancer types, such as the other most common cancers of prostate, lung and skin, would be of benefit. In this project while there were some similar results between breast and colorectal cancer there were also some distinct findings for both cancers. Therefore, exploring what other cancer types are, or are not, associated with GP practice quality would be of benefit to identify cancer types which perhaps need to be prioritised at that level.

Breast and colorectal cancer should also be included in any future research as they continue to be two of the most common cancers but also there is now more up-to-date data available for these two cancers, compared to time range of data used for this project. In particular a screening programme has since been introduced for colorectal cancer and new guidelines for the diagnosis and treatment of colorectal cancer have been introduced (Macmillan, 2012, Chew-Graham *et al.*, 2013).

The second key direction is the extension of the geographical area to include data from other cancer registries and/or national data. This project was only conducted with data

from the North East region of England and its findings may differ in other regions of the country.

Each region of England presents different geographical issues and these mean that different regions often face different challenges (Department of Health, 2013, National Cancer Intelligence Network, 2014, Walters *et al.*, 2011, Rabe-Hesketh and Skrondal, 2012, Institute for digital research and education, nd, Goddard *et al.*, 2010) and in particular it has been previously identified that there is a continued and clear North/South divide (Walters *et al.*, 2011, Goddard *et al.*, 2010, Whitehead and Doran, 2011, Rachet *et al.*, 2010). Therefore, conducting this research in different geographies would not only provide the opportunity to investigate geography as a factor in the association between GP practice quality and cancer stage, but also enable more accurate and tailored findings for each region of the country.

This project has demonstrated that multiple healthcare data sources can successfully be brought together, combined and analysed in a variety of ways. As outlined by the ESRC, it was one of the key aims and compulsory aspects of this project to utilise and combine existing sources of healthcare data. While this was a novel approach at the start of this project, there is a growing interest and momentum within health research towards using and creating combined healthcare databases and secondary data analysis.

Since the start of this project in 2009, other healthcare data has become available. Most notably the NCIN has produced GP practice cancer profiles, which first became available in 2012, and databases such as QOF and NYCRIS have been updated. In the case of NYCRIS, cancer registries in England still operate on a regional level but the data from each registry is now collated in a central register, ENCORE, which enables registration staff to collate further information with reference to staging, such as pathology reports, imaging data etc. There have also been recent developments within the overall management of

NHS data, with the introduction in 2013 of the General Practice Extraction Service (GPES). The GPES is now responsible for centrally managing and collating primary care data in England, including QOF.

The key benefit of both of these initiatives is that regional data is now centrally held and national data is therefore available from one source. For example, prior to ENCORE, acquiring national data would have required seeking approval and requesting the information from each of the regional cancer registries. As a result future research should look to utilise these collated databases, and in the case of furthering this research, look to replicate this project with national level data.

While there are national surveys of patient satisfaction and experience of primary care, GP practices do also conduct their own local and practice surveys of patient satisfaction. As the area of patient experience and satisfaction was a key finding from this project, the inclusion of more and wider ranging patient survey data would be of benefit in future research.

With the range of results in both breast and colorectal cases that demonstrated significant associations between the patient experience domain and specific QOF indicators from the patient experience domain, with cancer stage at diagnosis, it is suggested that the area of patient experience should be a focus of future research and policy. GPs and primary care providers have been identified as key in not just providing access to secondary healthcare and specialist services but actively contributing to improving early cancer diagnosis, outcomes and prevention (Richards, 2009, Daly and Collins, 2007, Thomson and Forman, 2009, Allgar and Neal, 2005b, Barrett *et al.*, 2010). Indicators from the patient experience domain of QOF are centred on access to GP services and this is an area that has been highlighted as a barrier to early diagnosis and future health outcomes (Daly and

Collins, 2007, Una *et al.*, 2000, Hippisley-Cox *et al.*, 2001, Robertson *et al.*, 2004, Stevenson *et al.*, 2003).

The inclusion of further details regarding GP practices' characteristics may also be a consideration for future research, as previous research has found an association between GP characteristics, such as; GPs' qualifications (United Nations, 2007) and practice size (Walters *et al.*, 2011), with the quality outcomes of the practice and patient experience and satisfaction.

A growing focus on patient experience and satisfaction has already begun, both within research and healthcare organisations, and this project supports that direction of focus. The findings of this project found that indicators of patient experience and satisfaction had a significant effect upon cancer stage in both breast and colorectal cancer. Many of these indicators related to a patient's access to their GP, such as their reported ability to see a doctor within two days and the opening hours of the practice, and previous research has produced similar findings. Therefore, in terms of policy it would seem that working towards improving a patient's access to GP services and GPs' relationships with patients to improve satisfaction should be a priority for healthcare policy.

There are also a number of theoretical and methodological concepts that are acknowledged and discussed in this thesis, that future research should look to address and incorporate. In particular the issues highlighted by Saunders and Abel (2014) regarding the generalisation of group/practice level data means that consideration about the use of alternative data to QOF is an implication for future research.

The data that has been used in this research has moved forward signifcantly, not just improvements within QOF but equally a wider range of data resources are also now available. In particular the development by the National Cancer Intelligence Network

(2014) of GP practice cancer profiles provides a more cancer specific alterntive to use as a measure of practice quality compared to QOF. These profiles annually collect cancer specific data from GP practices and contain and provide details related to waiting times and screening which could be incorporated with the cancer registry data as outcome measure alongside cancer stage at diagnosis. However, while these profiles are publically available they are again practice level measures of primary care quality where individual patient level data would be the best option.

There is now a cancer specific national patient survey (Quality Health NHS England, 2013), which while mainly focusing on treatment and longer term care provides data collected with regards to diagnosis and GP/patient interaction. The national cancer patient survey also collects a range of demographic patient information which is not included in QOF, such as patients' ethnicty, sexual orientation, employment status and the presence of other long term conditions. Again broadening this research to incorpate this data provides cancer specific data, but again this is at an aggregated group level where individual patient level data would be preferable.

7.5. Summary of the project

The aim of this project was to investigate the potential link between GP practice quality and cancer stage at diagnosis, in breast and colorectal cancer in the North East of England. The objective was to achieve this by obtaining data from existing healthcare sources and databases and explore the potential link by using regression and multi-level analysis methods. This project was funded by the ESRC as part of an e-health infrastructure initiative, in collaboration with the NIHR, to use and combine existing healthcare datasets for secondary data analysis.

Once ethical approval was gained from the NIGB, NHS research and ethics committee and Durham University School of medicine and health ethics committee, patient data was obtained from NYCRIS regarding breast and colorectal cancer cases between 2006-2008, and GP practice data was obtained from ERPHO and the NHS information centre. All data was checked for errors before being converted and merged into Stata, with one dataset for colorectal cancer and the other for breast cancer.

The two datasets were analysed separately using Stata and a range of statistical analyses; descriptive and distributional analyses, chi-squared test, correlation matrixes, regression analysis and multi-level analysis. From the analysis the results were that while GP practice quality was found to contribute almost no variance for cancer stage at diagnosis in colorectal cancer, an association was found between breast cancer stage and GP practice quality. From the regression analysis, specific practice indicators from the patient experience domain of QOF were found to have a significant impact on cancer stage in both breast and colorectal cancer. Associations between cancer stage and patient age and income domain were also found in both breast and colorectal cancer.

This project was successful in meeting its aims and objectives. Different datasets were combined and analysed to find an association between GP practice quality and breast cancer and while a similar association was not found with colorectal cancer specific GP practice variables such as patient experience were found to have a significant affect upon cancer stage.

It is hoped these findings can be used to direct and prompt future research and policy. It is suggested that this research could be expanded to include other cancer types and geographical regions of England and that further investigation into the effect and influence of patient experience and satisfaction on cancer stage would be particularly recommended for future policy research. Since this project was started the datasets used have also been

improved and updated, and new sources of data, i.e. cancer practice profiles, ENCORE and GPES, have been created and made available. This project has demonstrated that such datasets can successfully be combined and analysed and it is hoped that future research will utilise these new and existing datasets.

8. References

- ABDEL-RAHMAN, M., STOCKTON, D., RACHET, B., HAKULINEN, T. & COLEMAN, M. 2009. What if cancer survival in Britain were the same as in Europe: how many deaths are avoidable&quest. *British Journal of Cancer*, 101, S115-S124.
- ABEL, G. A., FRIESE, C. R., MAGAZU, L. S., RICHARDSON, L. C., FERNANDEZ, M. E., DE ZENGOTITA, J. J. & EARLE, C. C. 2008. Delays in referral and diagnosis for chronic hematologic malignancies: a literature review. *Leukemia & Lymphoma*, 49, 8.
- ADAMS, E., BOULTON, M., ROSE, P., LUND, S., RICHARDSON, A., WILSON, S. & WATSON, E. 2011. Views of cancer care reviews in primary care: a qualitative study. *British Journal of General Practice*, 61, e173-e182.
- ADAMS, J., AUDISIO, R. A., WHITE, M. & FORMAN, D. 2004a. Age-related variations in progression of cancer at diagnosis and completeness of cancer registry data. *Surgical Oncology*, 13, 175-179.
- ADAMS, J., WHITE, M. & FORMAN, D. 2004b. Are there socioeconomic gradients in stage and grade of breast cancer at diagnosis? Cross sectional analysis of UK cancer registry data. *BMJ: British Medical Journal*, 329, 142.
- ADAMS, J. L., MEHROTRA, A., THOMAS, J. W. & MCGLYNN, E. A. 2010. Physician Cost Profiling — Reliability and Risk of Misclassification. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 362, 1014-1021.
- ALL PARTY PARLIAMENTARY GROUP ON CANCER 2009. Report of the all party parliamentary group on cancer's inquiry into inequalities in cancer.
- ALLEMANI, C., STORM, H., VOOGD, A. C., HOLLI, K., IZARZUGAZA, I., TORRELLA-RAMOS, A., BIELSKA-LASOTA, M., AARELEID, T., ARDANAZ, E. & COLONNA, M. 2010. Variation in 'standard care'for breast cancer across Europe: a EUROCARE-3 high resolution study. European Journal of Cancer, 46, 1528-1536.
- ALLGAR, V. L. & NEAL, R. D. 2005a. Delays in the diagnosis of six cancers: analysis of data from the National Survey of NHS Patients: Cancer. *British Journal of Cancer*, 92, 1959-1970.
- ALLGAR, V. L. & NEAL, R. D. 2005b. General practictioners' management of cancer in England: Secondary analysis of data from the National Survey of NHS Patients -Cancer. *European Journal of Cancer Care*, 14 (5), 409-416.
- ANDERSEN, B. L., CACIOPPO, J. T. & ROBERTS, D. C. 1995. Delay in seeking a cancer diagnosis: delay stages and psychophysiological comparison processes. *British Journal of Social Psychology*, 34, 33-52.
- ARBER, S., MCKINLAY, J., ADAMS, A., MARCEAU, L., LINK, C. & O'DONNELL, A. 2006. Patient characteristics and inequalities in doctors' diagnostic and management strategies relating to CHD: a video-simulation experiment. *Social Science & Medicine*, 62, 103-115.
- ASHWORTH, M., LLOYD, D., SMITH, R., WAGNER, A. & ROWLANDS, G. 2007. Social deprivation and statin prescribing: a cross-sectional analysis using data from the new UK general practitioner 'Quality and Outcomes Framework'. *Journal of Public Health*, 29, 40-47.
- ASTHANA, S. & GIBSON, A. 2008a. Deprivation, demography, and the distribution of general practice:: challenging the conventional wisdom of inverse care. *The British Journal of General Practice*, 58, 720.
- ASTHANA, S. & GIBSON, A. 2008b. Health care equity, health equity and resource allocation: towards a normative approach to achieving the core principles of the NHS. *Radical Statistics*, 96, 6.

- BAIN, N. S. C. & CAMPBELL, N. C. 2000. Treating patients with colorectal cancer in rural and urban areas: A qualitative study of the patients' perspective. *Family Practice*, 17 (6), 475-479.
- BAIRATI, I., JOBIN, E., FILLION, L., LAROCHELLE, M. & VINCENT, L. 2007. Determinants of delay for breast cancer diagnosis. *Cancer detection and prevention*, 31, 323-331.
- BAIRD, A. G. & WRIGHT, N. 2006. Poor access to care: Rural health deprivation? *British Journal of General Practice*, 56 (529), 567-568.
- BAKHAI, M., HOPSTER, D. & WAKEEL, R. 2010. A retrospective study comparing the accuracy of prehistology diagnosis and surgical excision of malignant melanomas by general practitioners and hospital specialists. *Clinical and Experimental Dermatology*, 35 (1), 63-67.
- BAMBRA, C. & POPHAM, F. 2010. Worklessness and regional differences in the social gradient in general health: Evidence from the 2001 English census. *Health & place*, 16, 1014-1021.
- BARRETT, J., SHARP, D., STAPLEY, S., STABB, C. & HAMILTON, W. 2010. Pathways to the diagnosis of ovarian cancer in the UK: a cohort study in primary care. *BJOG: An International Journal of Obstetrics & Gynaecology*, 117, 610-614.
- BARTON, M. B., HARRIS, R. & FLETCHER, S. W. 1999. Does this patient have breast cancer? JAMA: the journal of the American Medical Association, 282, 1270-1280.
- BARWICK, T. W., SCOTT, S. B. & AMBROSE, N. S. 2004. The two week referral for colorectal cancer: A retrospective analysis. *Colorectal Disease*, 6, 6.
- BASTIAANNET, E., LIEFERS, G. J., DE CRAEN, A. J. M., KUPPEN, P. J. K., VAN DE WATER, W., PORTIELJE, J. E. A., VAN DER GEEST, L. G. M., JANSSEN-HEIJNEN, M. L. G., DEKKERS, O. M., VAN DE VELDE, C. J. H. & WESTENDORP, R. G. J. 2010. Breast cancer in elderly compared to younger patients in the Netherlands: stage at diagnosis, treatment and survival in 127,805 unselected patients. *Breast Cancer Research and Treatment*, 124, 801-807.
- BAUGHAN, P., O'NEILL, B. & FLETCHER, E. 2009. Auditing the diagnosis of cancer in primary care: The experience in Scotland. *British Journal of Cancer*, 101 (SUPPL. 2), S87-S91.
- BECHER, T. 1999. Quality in the professions. *Studies in Higher Education*, 24, 225-235.
- BEKKINK, O. M., MCCOWAN, C., FALK, G. A., TELJEUR, C., VAN DE LAAR, F. A. & FAHEY, T. 2010. Diagnostic accuracy systematic review of rectal bleeding in combination with other symptoms, signs and tests in relation to colorectal cancer. *British Journal of Cancer*, 102 (1), 48-58.
- BELL, T., BRANSTON, L., NEWCOMBE, R. & BARTON, G. 1999. Interventions to improve uptake of breast screening in inner city Cardiff general practices with ethnic minority lists. *Ethnicity and health*, 4 (4), 277-284.
- BIRCH, K., FIELD, S. & SCRIVENS, E. 2000. *Quality in general practice*, Radcliffe Press.
- BLUMENTHAL, D. 1996a. Quality of care—what is it? *New England Journal of Medicine*, 335, 891-894.
- BLUMENTHAL, D. 1996b. Quality of health care. Part 4: The origins of the quality-of-care debate. *The New England journal of medicine*, 335, 1146.
- BLUMENTHAL, D. 1997. The future of quality measurement and management in a transforming health care system. *JAMA: the journal of the American Medical Association,* 278, 1622-1625.
- BLUMENTHAL, D. 2012. Performance improvement in health care—seizing the moment. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 366, 1953-1955.
- BONNER, J. A., HARARI, P. M., GIRALT, J., COHEN, R. B., JONES, C. U., SUR, R. K., RABEN, D.,
 BASELGA, J., SPENCER, S. A. & ZHU, J. 2010. Radiotherapy plus cetuximab for
 locoregionally advanced head and neck cancer: 5-year survival data from a phase 3

randomised trial, and relation between cetuximab-induced rash and survival. *The Lancet Oncology*, **11**, 21-28.

- BOREHAM, R., AIREY, C., ERENS, B. & TOBIN, R. 2002. National surveys of NHS patients. *General practice*.
- BOTTLE, A., GNANI, S., SAXENA, S., AYLIN, P., MAINOUS, A., III & MAJEED, A. 2008. Association Between Quality of Primary Care and Hospitalization for Coronary Heart Disease in England: National Cross-sectional Study. *Journal of General Internal Medicine*, 23, 135-141.
- BOTTLE, A., TSANG, C., PARSONS, C., MAJEED, A., SOLJAK, M. & AYLIN, P. 2012. Association between patient and general practice characteristics and unplanned first-time admissions for cancer: observational study. *British Journal of Cancer*, 107, 1213-1219.
- BOWEL CANCER UK (2012). Never too young; the experience of younger bowel cancer patients'.
- BRENNER, H., BOUVIER, A. M., FOSCHI, R., HACKL, M., LARSEN, I. K., LEMMENS, V., MANGONE, L. & FRANCISCI, S. 2012. Progress in colorectal cancer survival in Europe from the late 1980s to the early 21st century: The EUROCARE study. International Journal of Cancer, 131, 1649-1658.
- BREWSTER, D., CLARK, D., STOCKTON, D., MUNRO, A. & STEELE, R. 2011. Characteristics of patients dying within 30 days of diagnosis of breast or colorectal cancer in Scotland, 2003–2007. British Journal of Cancer, 104, 60-67.
- BROOK, R. H. & MCGLYNN, E. A. 1996. Measuring quality of care. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 335, 5.
- BROWN, S., CASTELLI, M., HUNTER, D. J., ERSKINE, J., VEDSTED, P., FOOT, C. & RUBIN, G.
 2014. How might healthcare systems influence speed of cancer diagnosis: A narrative review. *Social Science & Medicine*, 116, 56-63.
- CAMPBELL, J., CARTER, M., DAVEY, A., ROBERTS, M. J., ELLIOTT, M. N. & ROLAND, M. 2013. Accessing primary care: a simulated patient study. *British Journal of General Practice*, 63, 171-176.
- CAMPBELL, N., ELLIOTT, A., SHARP, L., RITCHIE, L., CASSIDY, J. & LITTLE, J. 2001. Rural and urban differences in stage at diagnosis of colorectal and lung cancers. *British Journal of Cancer*, 84, 910.
- CAMPBELL, N. C., MACLEOD, U. & WELLER, D. 2002a. Primary care oncology: Essential if high quality cancer care is to be achieved for all. *Family Practice*, 19 (6), 577-578.
- CAMPBELL, S., BRASPENNING, J., HUTCHINSON, A. & MARSHALL, M. 2002b. Research methods used in developing and applying quality indicators in primary care. *Quality and Safety in Health Care*, 11, 358-364.
- CAMPBELL, S., BRASPENNING, J., HUTCHINSON, A. & MARSHALL, M. 2003. Improving the quality of health care: Research methods used in developing and applying quality indicators in primary care. *BMJ: British Medical Journal*, 326, 816.
- CAMPBELL, S. M., ROLAND, M. O. & BUETOW, S. A. 2000. Defining quality of care. *Social* science & medicine (1982), 51, 1611.
- CANCER RESEARCH UK. 2013. *Cancer statistics* [Online]. Available: http://www.cancerresearchuk.org/cancer-info/cancerstats/incidence/ 2013].
- CARNEY, P. A., DIETRICH, A. J., FREEMAN JR, D. H. & MOTT, L. A. 1993. The periodic health examination provided to asymptomatic older women: An assessment using standardized patients. *Annals of Internal Medicine*, 119 (2), 129-135.
- CARNEY, P., O'Neill, S. & O'Neill, C. 2013. Determinants of breast cancer screening uptake in women, evidence from the British Household Panel Survey. *Social science and medicine*, 82, 108-114.
- CHARLTON, R. 2013. GP commissioning in England. Clinical Medicine, 13, 24-6.

- CHEW-GRAHAM, C. A., HUNTER, C., LANGER, S., STENHOFF, A., DRINKWATER, J., GUTHRIE,
 E. A. & SALMON, P. 2013. How QOF is shaping primary care review consultations: a longitudinal qualitative study. *BMC family practice*, 14, 103.
- CICCOLALLO, L., CAPOCACCIA, R., COLEMAN, M. P., BERRINO, F., COEBERGH, J. W. W., DAMHUIS, R. A. M., FAIVRE, J., MARTINEZ-GARCIA, C., MØLLER, H., PONZ DE LEON, M., LAUNOY, G., RAVERDY, N., WILLIAMS, E. M. I. & GATTA, G. 2005. Survival differences between European and US patients with colorectal cancer: role of stage at diagnosis and surgery. *Gut*, 54, 268-273.
- CIMPRICH, B., RONIS, D. L. & MARTINEZ RAMOS, G. 2002. Age at diagnosis and quality of life in breast cancer survivors. *Cancer practice*, 10, 85-93.
- COLEMAN, M., GATTA, G., VERDECCHIA, A., ESTEVE, J., SANT, M., STORM, H., ALLEMANI, C., CICCOLALLO, L., SANTAQUILANI, M. & BERRINO, F. 2003. EUROCARE-3 summary: cancer survival in Europe at the end of the 20th century. *Annals of oncology*, 14, v128.
- COLEMAN, M. P., QUARESMA, M., BERRINO, F., LUTZ, J. M., DE ANGELIS, R., CAPOCACCIA, R., BAILI, P., RACHET, B., GATTA, G. & HAKULINEN, T. 2008. Cancer survival in five continents: a worldwide population-based study (CONCORD). *The Lancet Oncology*, 9, 730-756.
- COLLERTON, J., DAVIES, K., JAGGER, C., KINGSTON, A., BOND, J., ECCLES, M. P., ROBINSON, L. A., MARTIN-RUIZ, C., VON ZGLINICKI, T. & JAMES, O. F. 2009. Health and disease in 85 year olds: baseline findings from the Newcastle 85+ cohort study. *BMJ: British Medical Journal*, 339.
- COMBER, H., CRONIN, D., DEADY, S., OLORCAIN, P. & RIORDAN, P. 2005. Delays in treatment in the cancer services: impact on cancer stage and survival. *Irish Medical Journal*, 98, 2.
- CONWAY, D., BREWSTER, D., MCKINNEY, P., STARK, J., MCMAHON, A. & MACPHERSON, L. 2007. Widening socio-economic inequalities in oral cancer incidence in Scotland, 1976–2002. *British Journal of Cancer*, 96, 818-820.
- CORNER, J., HOPKINSON, J. & ROFFE, L. 2006. Experience of health changes and reasons for delay in seeking care: a UK study of the months prior to the diagnosis of lung cancer. *Social Science & Medicine*, 62, 1381-1391.
- CORNFORD, C. S., HARLEY, J. & OSWALD, N. 2004. The '2-week rule' for suspected breast carcinoma: A qualitative study of the views of patients and professionals. *British Journal of General Practice*, 54, 4.
- COX, E. & SCHMUECKER, K. 2010. Well North of fair: The implications of the Spending Review for the North of England.: Insitute for Public Policy Research.
- CRAWFORD, S. M. 2009. Opportunities for better cancer outcomes missed in UK primary care. *The Lancet Oncology*, 10 (1), 2-3.
- CUI, X., ROSNER, B., WILLETT, W. C. & HANKINSON, S. E. 2011. Dietary fat, fiber, and carbohydrate intake in relation to risk of endometrial cancer. *Cancer Epidemiology Biomarkers & Prevention*, 20, 978-989.
- CURCIN, V., SOLJAK, M. & MAJEED, A. 2012. Managing and exploiting routinely collected NHS data for research. *Informatics in primary care*, 20, 225-231.
- CUTHBERTSON, S. A., GOYDER, E. C. & POOLE, J. 2009. Inequalities in breast cancer stage at diagnosis in the Trent region, and implications for the NHS Breast Screening Programme. *Journal of Public Health*, 31, 398-405.
- DALY, H. & COLLINS, C. 2007. Barriers to early diagnosis of cancer in primary care: A needs assessment of GPs. *Irish Medical Journal*, 100.
- DARZI 2008. NHS Next Stage Review Leading Local Change. *In:* DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH (ed.). www.dh.gov.uk/publications: Department of Health,.

- DAVIS, D. J. & RINGSTED, C. 2006. Accreditation of undergraduate and graduate medical education: how do the standards contribute to quality? *Advances in health sciences education*, 11, 305-313.
- DAVIS, R. 2010. Antidepressant use rises as recession feeds wave of worry. *The Guardian,* 11.
- DE NOOIJER, J., LECHNER, L. & DE VRIES, H. 2001. A qualitative study on detecting cancer symptoms and seeking medical help; an application of Andersen's model of total patient delay. *Patient education and counseling*, 42, 145-157.
- DE WET, C., MCKAY, J. & BOWIE, P. 2012. Combining QOF data with the care bundle approach may provide a more meaningful measure of quality in general practice. *BMC health services research*, 12, 351.
- DEBNATH, D., DIELEHNER, N. & GUNNING, K. A. 2002. Guidelines, compliance, and effectiveness: a 12 months' audit in an acute district general healthcare trust on the two week rule for suspected colorectal cancer. *Postgraduate Medical Journal*, 78, 748-51.
- DELAMOTHE, T. 2008. NHS at 60: Universality, equity, and quality of care. *BMJ: British Medical Journal*, 336, 1278.
- DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH 2002. National Survey of NHS Patients: General Practice, 2002. In: DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH (ed.). London: Department of Health,.
- DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH 2013. Improving outcomes: A strategy for cancer third annual report.
- DORAN, T., KONTOPANTELIS, E., REEVES, D., SUTTON, M. & RYAN, A. M. 2014. Setting performance targets in pay for performance programmes: what can we learn from QOF?
- DOWNING, A., PRAKASH, K., GILTHORPE, M. S., MIKELJEVIC, J. S. & FORMAN, D. 2007a. Socioeconomic background in relation to stage at diagnosis, treatment and survival in women with breast cancer. *Br J Cancer*, 96, 836-840.
- DOWNING, A., RUDGE, G., CHENG, Y., TU, Y. K., KEEN, J. & GILTHORPE, M. S. 2007b. Do the UK government's new Quality and Outcomes Framework (QOF) scores adequately measure primary care performance? A cross-sectional survey of routine healthcare data. *BMC Health Services Research*, 7.
- EFRAIMSSON, E. Ö., HILLERVIK, C. & EHRENBERG, A. 2008. Effects of COPD self care management education at a nurse - led primary health care clinic. *Scandinavian journal of caring sciences*, 22, 178-185.
- EVANS, H. S. & MØLLER, H. 2003. Recent trends in prostate cancer incidence and mortality in southeast England. *European urology*, 43, 337-341.
- FEDERICI, A., GIORGI ROSSI, P., BARTOLOZZI, F., FARCHI, S., BORGIA, P. & GUASTICCHI, G. 2005. Survey on colorectal cancer screening knowledge, attitudes, and practices of general practice physicians in Lazio, Italy. *Preventive Medicine*, 41, 30-5.
- FERN, L. A., CAMPBELL, C., EDEN, T. O., GRANT, R., LEWIS, I., MACLEOD, U., WELLER, D. & WHELAN, J. 2011. How frequently do young people with potential cancer symptoms present in primary care? *The British Journal of General Practice*, 61, e223.
- FERNALD, D. H., COOMBS, L., DEALLEAUME, L., WEST, D. & PARNES, B. 2012. An Assessment of the Hawthorne Effect in Practice-based Research. *The Journal of the American Board of Family Medicine*, 25, 83-86.
- FORREST, L. F., WHITE, M., RUBIN, G. & ADAMS, J. 2014. The role of patient, tumour and system factors in socioeconomic inequalities in lung cancer treatment: population-based study. *Br J Cancer*.
- FOX, R. & FLETCHER, J. 2007. Alarm symptoms in primary care. *British Medical Journal*, 334 (7602), 1013-1014.

- FUNG, T. T., HU, F. B., WU, K., CHIUVE, S. E., FUCHS, C. S. & GIOVANNUCCI, E. 2010. The Mediterranean and Dietary Approaches to Stop Hypertension (DASH) diets and colorectal cancer. *The American journal of clinical nutrition*, 92, 1429-1435.
- GATRELL, A., GARNETT, S., RIGBY, J., MADDOCKS, A. & KIRWAN, M. 1998. Uptake of screening for breast cancer in South Lancashire. *Public Health*, 112 (5), 297-301.
- GATTA, G., ZIGON, G., AARELEID, T., ARDANAZ, E., BIELSKA-LASOTA, M., GALCERAN, J., GÓZDZ, S., HAKULINEN, T., MARTINEZ-GARCIA, C. & PLESKO, I. 2010. Patterns of care for European colorectal cancer patients diagnosed 1996-1998: a EUROCARE High Resolution Study. Acta Oncologica, 49, 776-783.
- GAVAGAN, T. F., DU, H., SAVER, B. G., ADAMS, G. J., GRAHAM, D. M., MCCRAY, R. & GOODRICK, G. K. 2010. Effect of financial incentives on improvement in medical quality indicators for primary care. *Journal of the American Board of Family Medicine: JABFM*, 23, 622-31.
- GLASER, A. W., FRASER, L. K., CORNER, J., FELTBOWER, R., MORRIS, E. J., HARTWELL, G. & RICHARDS, M. 2013. Patient-reported outcomes of cancer survivors in England 1–5 years after diagnosis: a cross-sectional survey. *BMJ open*, 3.
- GODDARD, M., GRAVELLE, H., HOLE, A. & MARINI, G. 2010. Where did all the GPs go? Increasing supply and geographical equity in England and Scotland. *Journal of Health Services Research & Policy*, 15, 28-35.
- GORIN, S. S., ASHFORD, A. R., LANTIGUA, R., HAJIANI, F., FRANCO, R., HECK, J. E. & GEMSON, D. 2007. Intraurban influences on physician colorectal cancer screening practices. *Journal of the National Medical Association*, 99, 9.
- GORMLEY, G. J., CATNEY, D., MCCALL, J. R., REILLY, P. M. & GAVIN, A. T. 2006. Prostatespecific antigen testing: Uncovering primary care influences. *BJUI British Journal of Urology International*, 98 (5), 996-1000.
- GØTZSCHE, P. C., HARTLING, O. J., NIELSEN, M., BRODERSEN, J. & JØRGENSEN, K. J. 2009. Breast screening: the facts—or maybe not. *Bmj*, 338.
- GOULDING, J. M. R., LEVINE, S., BLIZARD, R. A., DEROIDE, F. & SWALE, V. J. 2009. Dermatological surgery: A comparison of activity and outcomes in primary and secondary care. *British Journal of Dermatology*, 161 (1), 110-114.
- GRIFFITHS, P., MURRELLS, T., MABEN, J., JONES, S. & ASHWORTH, M. 2010. Nurse staffing and quality of care in UK general practice: cross-sectional study using routinely collected data. *The British Journal of General Practice*, 60, e36.
- GUTIERREZ, R. 2005. Use of the term 'relative risk ratio' [Online]. Available: http://www.stata.com/statalist/archive/2005-04/msg00678.html [Accessed June 2014].
- HAAS, J. S., FITZMAURICE, G., BRAWARSKY, P., LIANG, S.-Y., HIATT, R. A., KLABUNDE, C. N., BROWN, M. L. & PHILLIPS, K. A. 2007. Association of regional variation in primary care physicians' colorectal cancer screening recommendations with individual use of colorectal cancer screening. *Preventing Chronic Disease*, 4, A90.
- HAGGERTY, J., TUDIVER, F., BROWN, J. B., HERBERT, C., CIAMPI, A. & GUIBERT, R. 2005. Patients' anxiety and expectations: how they influence family physicians' decisions to order cancer screening tests. *Canadian Family Physician*, 51, 1658-9.
- HAHN, K. M., BONDY, M. L., SELVAN, M., LUND, M. J., LIFF, J. M., FLAGG, E. W., BRINTON, L. A., PORTER, P., ELEY, J. W. & COATES, R. J. 2007. Factors associated with advanced disease stage at diagnosis in a population-based study of patients with newly diagnosed breast cancer. *American journal of epidemiology*, 166, 1035-1044.
- HAIKEL, S., DAWE, N., LEKAKIS, G., BLACK, M. & MITCHELL, D. 2011. The Effect of Increasing Two-Week Wait Referrals for Head and Neck Cancer in East Kent. *Bulletin of The Royal College of Surgeons of England*, 93, 3.

- HAM, C. 2012. What will the Health and Social Care Bill mean for the NHS in England? British Medical Journal, 344, 2.
- HAMILTON, W., PETERS, T. J., BANKHEAD, C. & SHARP, D. 2009. Risk of ovarian cancer in women with symptoms in primary care: Population based case-control study. *British Medical Journal,* 339 (7721), 616.
- HAMILTON, W., PETERS, T. J., ROUND, A. & SHARP, D. 2005. What are the clinical features of lung cancer before the diagnosis is made? A population based case-control study. *Thorax*, 60 (12), 1059-1065.
- HANSEN, C., WILKINSON, D., HANSEN, M. & SOYER, H. P. 2009. Factors contributing to incomplete excision of nonmelanoma skin cancer by Australian general practitioners. *Archives of Dermatology*, 145, 1253-60.
- HANSEN, R. P., OLESEN, F., SØRENSEN, H. T., SOKOLOWSKI, I. & SØNDERGAARD, J. 2008. Socioeconomic patient characteristics predict delay in cancer diagnosis: a Danish cohort study. *BMC Health Services Research*, **8**, 49.
- HEATH, I., HIPPISLEY-COX, J. & SMEETH, L. 2007. Measuring Quality through Performance: Measuring performance and missing the point? *BMJ: British Medical Journal*, 335, 1075.
- HEROLD, A. H., RIKER, A. I., WARNER, E. A., WOODARD, L. J., BROWNLEE, H. J., JR., PENCEV,
 D., OLDENSKI, R. J. & BRADY, P. G. 1997. Evidence of gender bias in patients undergoing flexible sigmoidoscopy. *Cancer Detection & Prevention*, 21, 7.
- HIPPISLEY-COX, J., HARDY, C., PRINGLE, M., FIELDING, K., CARLISLE, R., CHILVERS, C. & AVERY, A. 1997. Are patients who present late with cancer registered with low referring practices? *British Journal of General Practice*, 47, 731-2.
- HIPPISLEY-COX, J., PRINGLE, M., COUPLAND, C., HAMMERSLEY, V. & WILSON, A. 2001. Do single handed practices offer poorer care? Cross sectional survey of processes and outcomes. *British Medical Journal*, 323, 320-323.
- HOFFMAN, R. M., BLUME, P. & GILLILAND, F. 1998. Prostate-specific antigen testing practices and outcomes. *Journal of General Internal Medicine*, 13, 106-10.
- HOFVIND, S., PONTI, A., PATNICK, J., ASCUNCE, N., NJOR, S., BROEDERS, M., GIORDANO, L., FRIGERIO, A. & TÖRNBERG, S. 2012. False-positive results in mammographic screening for breast cancer in Europe: a literature review and survey of service screening programmes. *Journal of Medical Screening*, 19, 57-66.
- HOLMBERG, L., SANDIN, F., BRAY, F., RICHARDS, M., SPICER, J., LAMBE, M., KLINT, Å., PEAKE, M., STRAND, T.-E. & LINKLATER, K. 2010. National comparisons of lung cancer survival in England, Norway and Sweden 2001–2004: differences occur early in follow-up. *Thorax*, 65, 436-441.
- HOWIE, J., HEANEY, D. & MAXWELL, M. 1994. Evaluating care of patients reporting pain in fundholding practices. *British Medical Journal*, 309, 705-710.
- HOWIE, J., HEANEY, D. & MAXWELL, M. 1997. Measuring quality in general practice. Pilot study of a needs, process and outcome measure. *Occasional paper series; Royal College of General Practitioners,,* February, 32.
- HOWIE, J., HEANEY, D. & MAXWELL, M. 2004. Quality, core values and the general practice consultation: issues of definition, measurement and delivery. *Family Practice*, 21, 458-468.
- HOWIE, J., PORTER, A. & FORBES, J. 1989. Quality and the use of time in general practice: widening the discussion. *British Medical Journal*, 298, 1008-1010.
- HOWIE, J., PORTER, A., HEANEY, D. & HOPTON, J. 1991. Long to short consultation ratio: a proxy measure of quality of care for general practice. *The British Journal of General Practice*, 41, 48.

- HOWIE, J. G. R., HEANEY, D. J., MAXWELL, M., WALKER, J. J., FREEMAN, G. K. & RAI, H. 1999. Quality at general practice consultations: cross sectional survey. *British Medical Journal*, 319, 738-743.
- HOWLADER, N., RIES, L. A., MARIOTTO, A. B., REICHMAN, M. E., RUHL, J. & CRONIN, K. A. 2010. Improved estimates of cancer-specific survival rates from population-based data. *Journal of the National Cancer Institute*, 102, 1584-1598.
- HWANG, S.-H., PARK, D. J., JEE, Y. S., KIM, M.-C., KIM, H.-H., LEE, H.-J., YANG, H.-K. & LEE, K.
 U. 2009. Actual 3-year survival after laparoscopy-assisted gastrectomy for gastric cancer. *Archives of Surgery*, 144, 559.
- INSTITUTE FOR DIGITAL RESEARCH AND EDUCATION. No date. *Stata annotated output multinomial logistic regression* [Online]. Available: http://www.ats.ucla.edu/stat/stata/output/stata mlogit output.htm.
- IVBIJARO, G., KOLKIEWICZ, L., MCGEE, L. & GIKUNOO, M. 2008. Addressing long-term physical healthcare needs in a forensic mental health inpatient population using the UK primary care Quality and Outcomes Framework (QOF): an audit. *Mental health in family medicine*, 5, 51.
- IYEN-OMOFOMAN, B., HUBBARD, R. B., SMITH, C. J., SPARKS, E., BRADLEY, E., BOURKE, A. & TATA, L. J. 2011. The distribution of lung cancer across sectors of society in the United Kingdom: a study using national primary care data. *BMC public health*, 11, 857.
- JACK, R., DAVIES, E. & MØLLER, H. 2009. Breast cancer incidence, stage, treatment and survival in ethnic groups in South East England. *British Journal of Cancer*, 100, 545-550.
- JACK, R., MØLLER, H., ROBSON, T. & DAVIES, E. 2014. Breast cancer screening uptake among women from different ethnic groups in London: a population-based cohort study. *BMJ: British Medical Journal open*, 4 (10).
- JARMAN, B., PIETER, D., VAN DER VEEN, A., KOOL, R., AYLIN, P., BOTTLE, A., WESTERT, G. & JONES, S. 2010. The hospital standardised mortality ratio: a powerful tool for Dutch hospitals to assess their quality of care? *Quality and Safety in Health Care*, 19, 9-13.
- JEMAL, A., BRAY, F., CENTER, M. M., FERLAY, J., WARD, E. & FORMAN, D. 2011. Global cancer statistics. *CA: a cancer journal for clinicians*, 61, 69-90.
- JIWA, M., GORDON, M., ARNET, H., EE, H., BULSARA, M. & COLWELL, B. 2008. Referring patients to specialists: A structured vignette survey of Australian and British GPs. *BMC Family Practice*, 9.
- JIWA, M., REID, J., HANDLEY, C., GRIMWOOD, J., WARD, S., TURNER, K., IBBOTSON, M. & THORMAN, N. 2004. Less haste more speed: Factors that prolong the interval form presentation to diagnosis in some cancers. *Family Practice*, 21 (3), 299-303.
- JOHN, S. K. P., JONES, O. M., HORSEMAN, N., THOMAS, P., HOWELL, R. D. & FOZARD, J. B. J. 2007. Inter general practice variability in use of referral guidelines for colorectal cancer. *Colorectal Disease*, 9 (8), 731-735.
- JOHNSON, E. K., DAIGNAULT, S., ZHANG, Y. & LEE, C. T. 2008. Patterns of hematuria referral to urologists: does a gender disparity exist? *Urology*, **72**, **5**.
- JOHNSON, N., MILES, T., BAILEY, D., TYLKO-HILL, K., DAS, N., AHSON, G., WARING, K., ACHESON, N., VOSS, M. & GORDON, J. 2011. Delays in treating endometrial cancer in the South West of England. *British Journal of Cancer*, 104, 1836-1839.
- JONES, A., HAYNES, R., SAUERZAPF, V., CRAWFORD, S., ZHAO, H. & FORMAN, D. 2008. Travel times to health care and survival from cancers in Northern England. *European Journal of Cancer*, 44, 269-274.
- JONES, R., CHARLTON, J., LATINOVIC, R. & GULLIFORD, M. C. 2009. Alarm symptoms and identification of non-cancer diagnoses in primary care: Cohort study. *British Medical Journal*, 339, 3.

- JONES, R., LATINOVIC, R., CHARLTON, J. & GULLIFORD, M. C. 2007. Alarm symptoms in early diagnosis of cancer in primary care: cohort study using General Practice Research Database. *British Medical Journal*, 334, 1040.
- JONES, R., RUBIN, G. & HUNGIN, P. 2001. Is the two week rule for cancer referrals working?: Not too well. *BMJ: British Medical Journal*, 322, 1555.
- KA'ANO'I, M. E., BRAUN, K. L. & GOTAY, C. C. 2004. Primary care physicians' knowledge, attitudes and practices related to cancer screening and cancer prevention clinical trials. Pacific health dialog : a publication of the Pacific Basin Officers Training Program and the Fiji School of Medicine, 11 (2), 160-165.
- KARIM-KOS, H. E., DE VRIES, E., SOERJOMATARAM, I., LEMMENS, V., SIESLING, S. & COEBERGH, J. W. W. 2008. Recent trends of cancer in Europe: a combined approach of incidence, survival and mortality for 17 cancer sites since the 1990s. *European Journal of Cancer*, 44, 1345-1389.
- KATZ, S. J., HISLOP, T. G., THOMAS, D. B. & LARSON, E. B. 1993. Delay from symptom to diagnosis and treatment of breast cancer in Washington State and British Columbia. *Medical care*, 31, 264-268.
- KEATING, N. L., LANDRUM, M. B., ARORA, N. K., MALIN, J. L., GANZ, P. A., VAN RYN, M. & WEEKS, J. C. 2010. Cancer patients' roles in treatment decisions: Do characteristics of the decision influence roles? *Journal of Clinical Oncology*, 28, 4364-4370.
- KHAWAJA, A. R. & ALLAN, S. M. 2001. Audit of referral practice to a fast-access breast clinic before the guaranteed 2-week wait. *Annals of the Royal College of Surgeons of England*, 83, 58-60.
- KIRAN, T., HUTCHINGS, A., DHALLA, I., FURLONG, C. & JACOBSON, B. 2010. The association between quality of primary care, deprivation and cardiovascular outcomes: a crosssectional study using data from the UK Quality and Outcomes Framework. *Journal* of Epidemiology and Community Health, 64, 927-934.
- KIRWAN, J. M. J., TINCELLO, D. G., HEROD, J. J. O., FROST, O. & KINGSTON, R. E. 2002. Effect of delays in primary care referral on survival of women with epithelial ovarian cancer: Retrospective audit. *British Medical Journal*, 324 (7330), 148-151.
- KLABUNDE, C. N., FRAME, P. S., MEADOW, A., JONES, E., NADEL, M. & VERNON, S. W. 2003. A national survey of primary care physicians' colorectal cancer screening recommendations and practices. *Preventive Medicine*, 36, 352-62.
- KONTOPANTELIS, E., ROLAND, M. & REEVES, D. 2010. Patient experience of access to primary care: identification of predictors in a national patient survey. *BMC family practice*, 11, 61.
- LAL, S. K., BARRISON, A., HEEREN, T. & SCHROY, I. P. C. 2004. A national survey of flexible sigmoidoscopy training in primary care graduate and postgraduate education programs. *American Journal of Gastroenterology*, 99 (5), 830-836.
- LANCET ONCOLOGY 2001. The changing face of UK primary cancer care. *Lancet Oncology*, 2.
- LAUNOY, G., LE COUTOUR, X., GIGNOUX, M., POTTIER, D. & DUGLEUX, G. 1992. Influence of rural environment on diagnosis, treatment, and prognosis of colorectal cancer. *Journal of Epidemiology and Community Health*, 46, 365-367.
- LAWRENCE, G., KEARINS, O., LAGORD, C., CHEUNG, S., SIDHU, J. & SAGAR, C. 2011. The seond all breast cancer report. *National cancer intelligence network report.*
- LEE, J. C., CHOW, N. H., WANG, S. T. & HUANG, S. M. 2000. Prognostic value of vascular endothelial growth factor expression in colorectal cancer patients. *European Journal of Cancer*, 36, 748-753.
- LEVENE, L. S., BAKER, R., BANKART, M. G. & KHUNTI, K. 2010. Association of features of primary health care with coronary heart disease mortality. *JAMA*, 304, 2028-2034.

- LIFF, J. M., CHOW, W. H. & GREENBERG, R. S. 1991. Rural–urban differences in stage at diagnosis. Possible relationship to cancer screening. *Cancer*, 67, 1454-1459.
- LINDSTROM, A. K., TOT, T., STENDAHL, U., SYRJANEN, S., SYRJANEN, K. & HELLBERG, D. 2009. Discrepancies in expression and prognostic value of tumor markers in adenocarcinoma and squamous cell carcinoma in cervical cancer. *Anticancer Research*, 29, 2577-8.
- LINSEISEN, J., ROHRMANN, S., BUENO-DE-MESQUITA, B., BÜCHNER, F. L., BOSHUIZEN, H. C., AGUDO, A., GRAM, I. T., DAHM, C. C., OVERVAD, K. & EGEBERG, R. 2011. Consumption of meat and fish and risk of lung cancer: results from the European Prospective Investigation into Cancer and Nutrition. *Cancer Causes & Control*, 22, 909-918.
- LLANWARNE, N. R., ABEL, G. A., ELLIOTT, M. N., PADDISON, C. A. M., LYRATZOPOULOS, G., CAMPBELL, J. L. & ROLAND, M. 2013. Relationship Between Clinical Quality and Patient Experience: Analysis of Data From the English Quality and Outcomes Framework and the National GP Patient Survey. *The Annals of Family Medicine*, 11, 467-472.
- LOVETT, A., HAYNES, R., SÜNNENBERG, G. & GALE, S. 2002. Car travel time and accessibility by bus to general practitioner services: a study using patient registers and GIS. *Social Science & Medicine*, 55, 97-111.
- LUKE, D. A. 2004. *Multilevel modeling*, SAGE Publications, Incorporated.
- LYON, D., KNOWLES, J., SLATER, B. & KENNEDY, R. 2009. Improving the early presentation of cancer symptoms in disadvantaged communities: putting local people in control. *British Journal of Cancer*, 101, S49-S54.
- LYRATZOPOULOS, G., ABEL, G., BARBIERE, J., BROWN, C., ROUS, B. & GREENBERG, D. 2012a. Variation in advanced stage at diagnosis of lung and female breast cancer in an English region 2006–2009. *British Journal of Cancer*, 106, 1068-1075.
- LYRATZOPOULOS, G., ABEL, G. A., MCPHAIL, S., NEAL, R. D. & RUBIN, G. P. 2013. Measures of promptness of cancer diagnosis in primary care: secondary analysis of national audit data on patients with 18 common and rarer cancers. *Br J Cancer*, 108, 686-690.
- LYRATZOPOULOS, G., ELLIOTT, M., BARBIERE, J. M., HENDERSON, A., STAETSKY, L., PADDISON, C., CAMPBELL, J. & ROLAND, M. 2012b. Understanding ethnic and other socio-demographic differences in patient experience of primary care: evidence from the English General Practice Patient Survey. *BMJ Quality & Safety*, 21, 21-29.
- LYRATZOPOULOS, G., ELLIOTT, M. N., BARBIERE, J. M., STAETSKY, L., PADDISON, C. A., CAMPBELL, J. & ROLAND, M. 2011. How can Health Care Organizations be Reliably Compared?: Lessons From a National Survey of Patient Experience. *Medical Care*, 49, 724-733 10.1097/MLR.0b013e31821b3482.
- MACDONALD, S., MACLEOD, U., CAMPBELL, N., WELLER, D. & MITCHELL, E. 2006. Systematic review of factors influencing patient and practitioner delay in diagnosis of upper gastrointestinal cancer. *British Journal of Cancer*, 94, 1272-1280.
- MACMILLAN 2012. Evaluation of Macmillan's cancer care review template.
- MAJEED, A., LESTER, H. & BINDMAN, A. B. 2007. Measuring Quality through Performance: Improving the quality of care with performance indicators. *BMJ: British Medical Journal*, 335, 916.
- MANNION, R. 2011. General practitioner-led commissioning in the NHS: progress, prospects and pitfalls. *British Medical Bulletin*, 97, 7-15.
- MCCARNEY, R., WARNER, J., ILIFFE, S., VAN HASELEN, R., GRIFFIN, M. & FISHER, P. 2007. The Hawthorne Effect: a randomised, controlled trial. *BMC medical research methodology*, **7**, 30.

- MCGREGOR, S. E., HILSDEN, R. J., MURRAY, A. & BRYANT, H. E. 2004. Colorectal cancer screening: Practices and opinions of primary care physicians. *Preventive Medicine*, 39 (2), 279-285.
- MCKIE, C., AHMAD, U., FELLOWS, S., MEIKLE, D., STAFFORD, F., THOMSON, P., WELCH, A. & PALERI, V. 2008. The 2-week rule for suspected head and neck cancer in the United Kingdom: referral patterns, diagnostic efficacy of the guidelines and compliance. *Oral oncology*, 44, 851-856.
- MCLEAN, G., SUTTON, M. & GUTHRIE, B. 2006. Deprivation and quality of primary care services: evidence for persistence of the inverse care law from the UK Quality and Outcomes Framework. *Journal of Epidemiology and Community Health*, 60, 917-922.
- MELIA, J., COULSON, P., COLEMAN, D. & MOSS, S. 2008. Urological referral of asymptomatic men in general practice in England. *British Journal of Cancer*, 98, 1176-81.
- MERCER, S. W. & WATT, G. C. 2007. The inverse care law: clinical primary care encounters in deprived and affluent areas of Scotland. *The Annals of Family Medicine*, 5, 503-510.
- MERRILL, R. M., SLOAN, A., ANDERSON, A. E. & RYKER, K. 2011. Unstaged cancer in the United States: a population-based study. *BMC cancer*, 11, 402.
- MØLLER, H., LINKLATER, K. & ROBINSON, D. 2009. A visual summary of the EUROCARE-4 results: a UK perspective. *British Journal of Cancer*, 101, S110-S114.
- MØLLER, H., SANDIN, F., ROBINSON, D., BRAY, F., KLINT, Å., LINKLATER, K. M., LAMBERT, P. C., PÅHLMAN, L., HOLMBERG, L. & MORRIS, E. 2012. Colorectal cancer survival in socioeconomic groups in England: variation is mainly in the short term after diagnosis. *European Journal of Cancer*, 48, 46-53.
- MORRIS, E. J., SANDIN, F., LAMBERT, P. C., BRAY, F., KLINT, Å., LINKLATER, K., ROBINSON, D., PÅHLMAN, L., HOLMBERG, L. & MØLLER, H. 2011. A population-based comparison of the survival of patients with colorectal cancer in England, Norway and Sweden between 1996 and 2004. *Gut*, 60, 1087-1093.
- MURCHIE, P., CAMPBELL, N. C., DELANEY, E. K., DINANT, G. J., HANNAFORD, P. C., JOHANSSON, L., LEE, A. J., ROLLANO, P. & SPIGT, M. 2012. Comparing diagnostic delay in cancer: a cross-sectional study in three European countries with primary care-led health care systems. *Family Practice*, 29, 69-78.
- NAGRAJ, S., ABEL, G., PADDISON, C., PAYNE, R., ELLIOTT, M., CAMPBELL, J. & ROLAND, M. 2013. Changing practice as a quality indicator for primary care: analysis of data on voluntary disenrollment from the English GP Patient Survey. *BMC Family Practice*, 14, 89.
- NATIONAL CANCER INTELLIGENCE NETWORK. 2014. *General practice profiles for cancer* [Online]. Available:

http://www.ncin.org.uk/cancer_information_tools/profiles/gp_profiles.

- NATIONAL INSTITUTE FOR HEALTH AND CLINICAL EXCELLENCE 2012. Information for people who use NHS services. *In:* NICE QUALITY STANDARDS (ed.). National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence,.
- NATIONAL QUALITY BOARD 2011. Quality Governance in the NHS A guide for provider boards. National Quality Board,.
- NEAL, R. & ALLGAR, V. 2005. Sociodemographic factors and delays in the diagnosis of six cancers: analysis of data from the 'National Survey of NHS Patients: Cancer'. *British Journal of Cancer*, 92, 1971-1975.
- NEAL, R. D., ALLGAR, V. L., ALI, N., LEESE, B., HEYWOOD, P., PROCTOR, G. & EVANS, J. 2007. Stage, survival and delays in lung, colorectal, prostate and ovarian cancer: comparison between diagnostic routes. Royal College of General Practitioners.

- NEAL, R. D., CANNINGS-JOHN, R., HOOD, K., SOWDEN, J., LAWRENCE, H., JONES, C. & JONES, J. 2008a. Excision of malignant melanomas in North Wales: Effect of location and surgeon on time to diagnosis and quality of excision. *Family Practice*, 25 (4), 221-227.
- NEAL, R. D., PASTERFIELD, D., WILKINSON, C., HOOD, K., MAKIN, M. & LAWRENCE, H. 2008b. Determining patient and primary care delay in the diagnosis of cancer lessons from a pilot study of patients referred for suspected cancer. *BMC Family Practice*, 9, 9.
- NEUSS, M. N., DESCH, C. E., MCNIFF, K. K., EISENBERG, P. D., GESME, D. H., JACOBSON, J. O., JAHANZEB, M., PADBERG, J. J., RAINEY, J. M. & GUO, J. J. 2005. A process for measuring the quality of cancer care: The Quality Oncology Practice Initiative. *Journal of Clinical Oncology*, 23, 6233-6239.
- OFFICE OF NATIONAL STATISTICS 2012. Cancer Incidence and Mortality in the United Kingdom, 2008-10.
- PARIKH PATEL, A., BATES, J. H. & CAMPLEMAN, S. 2006. Colorectal cancer stage at diagnosis by socioeconomic and urban/rural status in California, 1988-2000. *Cancer*, 107, 1189-1195.
- PARKERTON, P. H., WAGNER, E. H., SMITH, D. G. & STRALEY, H. L. 2003. Effect of part-time practice on patient outcomes. *Journal of General Internal Medicine*, 18 (9), 717-724.
- PARKIN, D. M. & BRAY, F. 2009. Evaluation of data quality in the cancer registry: Principles and methods Part II. Completeness. *European Journal of Cancer*, 45, 756-764.
- PASCOE, G. C. 1983. Patient satisfaction in primary health care: A literature review and analysis. *Evaluation and Program Planning*, 6, 185-210.
- PASCOE, S. W., NEAL, R. D., HEYWOOD, P. I., ALLGAR, V. I., MILES, J. N. V. & STEFOSKI-MIKELJEVIC, J. 2008. Identifying patients with a cancer diagnosis using general practice medical records and Cancer Registry data. *Family Practice*, 25 (4), 215-220.
- PENDLETON, J., CURRY, R. W., KASERIAN, A., CHANG, M., ANAI, S., NAKAMURA, K., ABDOUSH, P. & ROSSER, C. J. 2008. Knowledge and attitudes of primary care physicians regarding prostate cancer screening. *Journal of the National Medical Association*, 100 (6), 666-670.
- PERRY, C. & THURSTON, M. 2008. Introduction of the primary care cancer nursing role in a GP practice. *British journal of community nursing*, 13 (8), 367-372.
- PITCHFORTH, E., RUSSELL, E. & VAN DER POL, M. 2002. Access to specialist cancer care: is it equitable? *British Journal of Cancer*, 87, 1221-1226.
- PITIPHAT, W., DIEHL, S. R., LASKARIS, G., CARTSOS, V., DOUGLASS, C. W. & ZAVRAS, A. I. 2002. Factors Associated with Delay in the Diagnosis of Oral Cancer. *Journal of Dental Research*, 81, 192-197.
- POCKNEY, P., PRIMROSE, J., GEORGE, S., JAYATILLEKE, N., LEPPARD, B., SMITH, H., LITTLE, P., KNEEBONE, R. & LOWY, A. 2009. Recognition of skin malignancy by general practitioners: Observational study using data from a population-based randomised controlled trial. *British Journal of Cancer*, 100 (1), 24-27.
- POTTER, S., GOVINDARAJULU, S., SHERE, M., BRADDON, F., CURRAN, G., GREENWOOD, R., SAHU, A. K. & CAWTHORN, S. J. 2007. Referral patterns, cancer diagnoses, and waiting times after introduction of two week wait rule for breast cancer: prospective cohort study. *British Medical Journal*, 335.
- QUAGLIA, A., TAVILLA, A., SHACK, L., BRENNER, H., JANSSEN-HEIJNEN, M., ALLEMANI, C., COLONNA, M., GRANDE, E., GROSCLAUDE, P. & VERCELLI, M. 2009. The cancer survival gap between elderly and middle-aged patients in Europe is widening. *European Journal of Cancer*, 45, 1006-1016.

- QUALITY HEALTH NHS ENGLAND 2013. National cancer patient experience survey 2012-2013 national report.
- RABE-HESKETH, S. & SKRONDAL, A. 2012. *Multilevel and longitudinal modeling using stata: Volume II; categorical responses, counts, and survival,* Texas, USA, Stata press.
- RACHET, B., ELLIS, L., MARINGE, C., CHU, T., NUR, U., QUARESMA, M., SHAH, A., WALTERS,
 S., WOODS, L. & FORMAN, D. 2010. Socioeconomic inequalities in cancer survival in England after the NHS cancer plan. *British Journal of Cancer*, 103, 446-453.
- RAINE, R., WONG, W., SCHOLES, S., ASHTON, C., OBICHERE, A. & AMBLER, G. 2010. Social variations in access to hospital care for patients with colorectal, breast, and lung cancer between 1999 and 2006: retrospective analysis of hospital episode statistics. *BMJ: British Medical Journal*, 340.
- REGNIER, K., KOPELOW, M., LANE, D. & ALDEN, E. 2005. Accreditation for learning and change: quality and improvement as the outcome. *Journal of Continuing Education in the Health Professions*, 25, 174-182.
- RICHARDS, M. 2007. EUROCARE-4 studies bring new data on cancer survival. *The Lancet Oncology*, 8, 752-753.
- RICHARDS, M. 2009. The national awareness and early diagnosis initiative in England: assembling the evidence. *British Journal of Cancer*, 101, S1-S4.
- RICHARDSON, J., LANGHOLZ, B., BERNSTEIN, L., BURCIAGA, C., DANLEY, K. & ROSS, R. 1992. Stage and delay in breast cancer diagnosis by race, socioeconomic status, age and year. *British Journal of Cancer*, 65, 922.
- ROBERTSON, R., CAMPBELL, N., SMITH, S., DONNAN, P., SULLIVAN, F., DUFFY, R., RITCHIE, L., MILLAR, D., CASSIDY, J. & MUNRO, A. 2004. Factors influencing time from presentation to treatment of colorectal and breast cancer in urban and rural areas. *British Journal of Cancer*, 90, 1479-1485.
- ROETZHEIM, R. G., VAN DURME, D. J., BROWNLEE, H. J., JR., HEROLD, A. H., PAMIES, R. J. & WOODARD, L. 1991. Compliance with screening mammography. Survey of primary care physicians. *Journal of the Florida Medical Association*, 78, 426-9.
- ROLAND, M., ELLIOTT, M., LYRATZOPOULOS, G., BARBIERE, J., PARKER, R. A., SMITH, P., BOWER, P. & CAMPBELL, J. 2009. Reliability of patient responses in pay for performance schemes: analysis of national General Practitioner Patient Survey data in England. *BMJ*, 339.
- ROLAND, M., GUTHRIE, B. & THOMÉ, D. C. 2012. Primary medical care in the United kingdom. *The Journal of the American Board of Family Medicine*, 25, S6-S11.
- ROWLINGSON, B., LAWSON, E., TAYLOR, B. & DIGGLE, P. J. 2013. Mapping English GP prescribing data: a tool for monitoring health-service inequalities. *BMJ open*, 3.
- RUBIN, G., VEDSTED, P. & EMERY, J. 2011. Improving cancer outcomes: better access to diagnostics in primary care could be critical. *British Journal of General Practice*, 61, 317-318.
- RUTHERFORD, M., HINCHLIFFE, S., ABEL, G., LYRATZOPOULOS, G., LAMBERT, P. & GREENBERG, D. 2013. How much of the deprivation gap in cancer survival can be explained by variation in stage at diagnosis: An example from breast cancer in the East of England. *International Journal of Cancer*.
- SALINAS, A. M., VILLARREAL, E., GARZA, M. E., FRAIRE, J. M., LOPEZ, J. J. & NUNEZ, G. M. 1998a. Quality differences between rural and urban primary care: the case of a cervical cancer screening programme. *International Journal for Quality in Health Care*, 10, 235-40.
- SALINAS, A. M., VILLARREAL, E., GARZA, M. E., FRAIRE, J. M., LOPEZ, J. J. & NUÑEZ, G. M. 1998b. Quality differences between rural and urban primary care: the case of a cervical cancer screening programme. *International Journal for Quality in Health Care*, 10, 235-240.

- SANT, M., ALLEMANI, C., SANTAQUILANI, M., KNIJN, A., MARCHESI, F. & CAPOCACCIA, R. 2009. EUROCARE-4. Survival of cancer patients diagnosed in 1995–1999. Results and commentary. *European Journal of Cancer*, 45, 931-991.
- SANTORA, L., MAHONEY, M., LAWVERE, S., ENGLERT, J., SYMONS, A. & MIRAND, A. 2003a. Breast cancer screening beliefs by practice location. *BMC public health*, **3**, **9**.
- SANTORA, L. M., MAHONEY, M. C., LAWVERE, S., ENGLERT, J. J., SYMONS, A. B. & MIRAND, A. L. 2003b. Breast cancer screening beliefs by practice location. *BMC public health*, 3, 9.
- SAUNDERS, C. & ABEL, G. 2014. Ecological studies: use with caution. *British Journal of General Practice*, 64, 65-66.
- SAXENA, S., CAR, J., ELDRED, D., SOLJAK, M., & MAJED, A. (2007). Practice size, caseload, deprivation and quality of care of patients with coronary heart disease, hypertension and stroke in primary care: national cross-sectional study. *BMC Health Services Research*, *7*(1), 96.
- SCRIVENS, E. 1995. *Accreditation: Protecting the professional or the consumer?*, Open University Press Buckingham.
- SCRIVENS, E. 2002. Accreditation and the regulation of quality in health services. *In:* SALTMAN, R. B., BUSSE, R. & MOSSIALOS, E. (eds.) *Regulating entrepreneurial behaviour in European health care systems.* Buckingham: UK: Open University.
- SHACK, L., JORDAN, C., THOMSON, C. S., MAK, V. & MØLLER, H. 2008. Variation in incidence of breast, lung and cervical cancer and malignant melanoma of skin by socioeconomic group in England. *BMC cancer*, 8, 271.
- SHIEH, K., GAO, F., RISTVEDT, S., SCHOOTMAN, M. & EARLY, D. 2005. The Impact of Physicians' Health Beliefs on Colorectal Cancer Screening Practices. *Digestive Diseases and Sciences*, 50, 809-814.
- SHORT, K. 2007. QOF vs NICE. The British Journal of General Practice, 57, 501.
- SIGFRID, L., TURNER, C., CROOK, D. & RAY, S. 2006. Using the UK primary care Quality and Outcomes Framework to audit health care equity: preliminary data on diabetes management. *Journal of Public Health*, 28, 221-225.
- SMITH, A., LIGHTFOOT, T. & ROMAN, E. 2012. Comment on 'Childhood leukaemia and socioeconomic status in England and Wales 1976–2005: evidence of higher incidence in relatively affluent communities persists over time'. *British Journal of Cancer*, 107, 217-218.
- SMITH, H. E. & HERBERT, C. P. 1993. Preventive practice among primary care physicians in British Columbia: Relation to recommendations of the Canadian Task Force on the periodic health examination. *Canadian Medical Association Journal*, 149 (12), 1795-1800.
- SMITH, J. A. & MAYS, N. 2012. GP led commissioning: time for a cool appraisal. *British Medical Journal*, 344.
- SORUM, P. C., SHIM, J., CHASSEIGNE, G., BONNIN-SCAON, S., COGNEAU, J. & MULLET, E. 2003. Why do primary care physicians in the United States and France order prostate-specific antigen tests for asymptomatic patients? *Medical Decision Making*, 23 (4), 301-313.
- STEEL, N. & WILLEMS, S. 2010. Learning from the QOF: a review of existing research. *The quality and outcomes framework: QOF transforming general practice*, 31.
- STEVENSON, L., CAMPBELL, N. C. & KIEHLMANN, P. A. 2003. Providing cancer services to remote and rural areas: Consensus study. *British Journal of Cancer*, 89 (5), 821-827.
- STOKES-LAMPARD, H., WILSON, S., ALLAN, T., WADDELL, C. & KEHOE, S. 2005. Vaginal vault smears 'know more do less': A questionnaire survey of primary health care practitioners. *Cytopathology*, 16 (5), 244-251.
- STRONG, M., MAHESWARAN, R. & RADFORD, J. 2006. Socioeconomic deprivation, coronary heart disease prevalence and quality of care: a practice-level analysis in Rotherham

using data from the new UK general practitioner Quality and Outcomes Framework. *Journal of Public Health*, 28, 39.

- TARLOV, E., ZENK, S. N., CAMPBELL, R. T., WARNECKE, R. B. & BLOCK, R. 2009.
 Characteristics of mammography facility locations and stage of breast cancer at diagnosis in Chicago. *Journal of Urban Health*, 86, 196-213.
- TATE, A. R., MARTIN, A. G., MURRAY-THOMAS, T., ANDERSON, S. R. & CASSELL, J. A. 2009. Determining the date of diagnosis—is it a simple matter? The impact of different approaches to dating diagnosis on estimates of delayed care for ovarian cancer in UK primary care. BMC Medical Research Methodology, 9, 42.
- THIRU, K., HASSEY, A. & SULLIVAN, F. 2003. Systematic review of scope and quality of electronic patient record data in primary care. *BMJ: British Medical Journal*, 326, 1070.
- THOMSON, C. & FORMAN, D. 2009. Cancer survival in England and the influence of early diagnosis: what can we learn from recent EUROCARE results&quest. *British Journal of Cancer*, 101, S102-S109.
- TORJESEN, I. 2010. Recession medicine. British Medical Journal, 340.
- TØRRING, M. L., FRYDENBERG, M., HANSEN, R. P., OLESEN, F. & VEDSTED, P. 2013. Evidence of increasing mortality with longer diagnostic intervals for five common cancers: A cohort study in primary care. *European Journal of Cancer*, 49, 2187-2198.
- TROMP, D. M., BROUHA, X. D. R., HORDIJK, G. J., WINNUBST, J. A. M. & DE LEEUW, J. R. J. 2005. Patient factors associated with delay in primary care among patients with head and neck carcinoma: A case-series analysis. *Family Practice*, 22 (5), 554-559.
- TWOROGER, S. S., ROSNER, B. A., WILLETT, W. C. & HANKINSON, S. E. 2011. The combined influence of multiple sex and growth hormones on risk of postmenopausal breast cancer: a nested case-control study. *Breast Cancer Res*, 13, R99.
- UNA, M., ROSS, S., WATT, G. C. M., TWELVES, C., GEORGE, W. D. & GILLIS, C. 2000. Primary and secondary care management of women with early breast cancer from affluent and deprived areas: Retrospective review of hospital and general practice records. *British Medical Journal*, 320 (7247), 1442-1445.
- UNITED NATIONS. 2007. World population will increase by 2.5 billion by 2050; people over 60 to increase over 60 to increase by more than 1 billion. [Online]. Available: http://www.un.org/News/Press/docs/2007/pop952.doc.htm 2013].
- VAN DEN EYNDEN, G., VAN DER AUWERA, I., VAN LAERE, S., COLPAERT, C., TURLEY, H., HARRIS, A., VAN DAM, P., DIRIX, L., VERMEULEN, P. & VAN MARCK, E. 2005. Angiogenesis and hypoxia in lymph node metastases is predicted by the angiogenesis and hypoxia in the primary tumour in patients with breast cancer. *British journal of cancer*, 93, 1128-1136.
- VEDAVANAM, S., STEEL, N., BROADBENT, J., MAISEY, S. & HOWE, A. 2009. Recorded quality of care for depression in general practice: an observational study. *The British Journal of General Practice*, 59, e32.
- VEDSTED, P. & OLESEN, F. 2011. Are the serious problems in cancer survival partly rooted in gatekeeper principles? An ecologic study. *British Journal of General Practice*, 61, e508-e512.
- VERDECCHIA, A., FRANCISCI, S., BRENNER, H., GATTA, G., MICHELI, A., MANGONE, L. & KUNKLER, I. 2007a. Recent cancer survival in Europe: a 2000-02 period analysis of EUROCARE-4 data. *The Lancet Oncology*, **8**, 784-796.
- VERDECCHIA, A., FRANCISCI, S., BRENNER, H., GATTA, G., MICHELI, A., MANGONE, L. & KUNKLER, I. 2007b. Recent cancer survival in Europe: a 2000–02 period analysis of EUROCARE-4 data. *The Lancet Oncology*, **8**, 784-796.

- VIRNIG, B. A., BAXTER, N. N., HABERMANN, E. B., FELDMAN, R. D. & BRADLEY, C. J. 2009. A Matter Of Race: Early-Versus Late-Stage Cancer Diagnosis. *Health Affairs*, 28, 160-168.
- WADE, J., SMITH, H., HANKINS, M. & LLEWELLYN, C. 2010. Conducting oral examinations for cancer in general practice: What are the barriers? *Family Practice*, 27 (1), 77-84.
- WALKER, K., NEUBURGER, J., GROENE, O., CROMWELL, D. A. & VAN DER MEULEN, J. 2013. Public reporting of surgeon outcomes: low numbers of procedures lead to false complacency. *The Lancet*, 382, 1674-1677.
- WALTERS, S., QUARESMA, M., COLEMAN, M. P., GORDON, E., FORMAN, D. & RACHET, B.
 2011. Geographical variation in cancer survival in England, 1991–2006: an analysis by Cancer Network. *Journal of Epidemiology and Community Health*, 65, 1044-1052.
- WANG, Y., O'DONNELL, C. A., MACKAY, D. F. & WATT, G. C. M. 2006. Practice size and quality attainment under the new GMS contract: A cross-sectional analysis. *British Journal of General Practice*, 56 (532), 830-835.
- WATT, G. 2002. The inverse care law today. Lancet, 360, 252-253.
- WEBB, J. B. & KHANNA, A. 2006. Can we rely on a general practitioner's referral letter to a skin lesion clinic to prioritize appointments and does it make a difference to the patient's prognosis? *Annals of the Royal College of Surgeons of England*, 88, 40-5.
- WHITEHEAD, M. & DORAN, T. 2011. The north-south health divide. *British Medical Journal*, 342.
- WHYNES, D. K. 2008. Could CT screening for lung cancer ever be cost effective in the United Kingdom? *Cost Effectiveness and Resource Allocation*, 6, 5.
- WILKINSON, E. 2009. Questions remain over validity of EUROCARE data. *The Lancet*, 374, 964-965.
- WILSON, K. M., MUCCI, L. A., ROSNER, B. A. & WILLETT, W. C. 2010. A prospective study on dietary acrylamide intake and the risk for breast, endometrial, and ovarian cancers. *Cancer Epidemiology Biomarkers & Prevention*, 19, 2503-2515.
- WOOD, L. & MARTINEZ, C. 2004. The General Practice Research Database: Role in pharmacovigilance. *Drug Safety*, 27 (12), 871-881.
- WRIGHT, J., MARTIN, D., COCKINGS, S. & POLACK, C. 2006. Overall Quality of Outcomes Framework scores lower in practices in deprived areas. *The British Journal of General Practice*, 56, 277.
- XILOMENOS, A., MAURI, D., KAMPOSIORAS, K., GKINOSATI, A., ZACHARIAS, G.,
 SIDIROPOULOU, V., PAPADOPOULOS, P., CHATZIMICHALIS, G., GOLFINOPOULOS,
 V., PEPONI, C. & PANHELLENIC ASSOCIATION FOR CONTINUAL MEDICAL, R. 2006.
 Colorectal cancer screening awareness among physicians in Greece. BMC
 Gastroenterology, 6, 18.
- YABROFF, K. R., SARAIYA, M., MEISSNER, H. I., HAGGSTROM, D. A., WIDEROFF, L., YUAN, G., BERKOWITZ, Z., DAVIS, W. W., BENARD, V. B. & COUGHLIN, S. S. 2009. Specialty differences in primary care physician reports of Papanicolaou test screening practices: A national survey, 2006 to 2007. *Annals of Internal Medicine*, 151 (9), 602-611.
- YOUL, P. H., JACKSON, C., OLDENBURG, B., BROWN, C., DUNN, J. & AITKEN, J. 2006. Attitudes, knowledge and practice of CRC screening among GPs in Queensland. *Australian Family Physician*, 35, 547-50.
- ZHOU, H., LAWSON, A. B., HEBERT, J. R., SLATE, E. H. & HILL, E. G. 2008. A Bayesian hierarchical modeling approach for studying the factors affecting the stage at diagnosis of prostate cancer. *Statistics in medicine*, **27**, 1468-1489.

9. Appendix

Appendix 1. Ethical approval letter from NHS REC

Sunderland Research Ethics Committee

Room 002

TEDCO Business Centre

Viking Business Park

Jarrow

Tyne & Wear

NE32 3DT

Telephone: 0191 428 3566

Facsimile: 0191 428 3432

07 January 2011

Ms. Helen Wareham

Wolfson Research Institute

Durham University, Queen's Campus

Stockton on Tees

TS17 6BH

Dear Ms. Wareham

Full title of study: Does good practice quality equate to earlier cancer stage at diagnosis?

REC reference number: 11/H0904/4

The Proportionate Review Sub Committee of the Sunderland Research Ethics Committee reviewed the above application on 14 January 2011 via email correspondence.

Ethical Opinion

The Committee's main concern was that insufficient detail was given on the way data is to be processed before regression analysis and therefore it is not clear how the research question will be answered.

The name of a statistician is given but not details of the way data will be processed. More information was requested on the way data is to be processed before regression analysis.

The cancer stages of patients when they are referred for breast colorectal and lung cancer are to be extracted from the Northern and Yorkshire Cancer Registry and Information Service. More information was requested on how this data will be prepared for regression analysis.

Information on GP practice quality is given by sex, age band, deprivation index, patient satisfaction, practice demographics. How will this information be quantified for regression analysis?

More information on the regression analysis needs to be given. 4. Will all 2500 patient cancer records be used in the analysis?

You kindly responded to the queries as follows:

The data that will be used for this research is coming from existing databases, which have been widely used for analysis and research. Initial preparation will involve moving the data from excel files, as they will be supplied by NYCRIS and from the public health observatory websites in this format, and combining them into stata. The cancer staging data will be linked with the relevant practice data from the practice profiles through the GP practice code, which NYCRIS will supply along with the cancer data.

In the case of the cancer data, staging data for all three cancers will be in the TNM staging system. It is the aim that all cancer records that are provide by NYCRIS should be used.

The GP practice information is already in an interval format as many of the variables, particularly the ones being used in this research, have come from the QOF and GP patient survey data. The majority of this data, with the exception of deprivation index, is provided as a percentage and provides upper and lower confidence intervals for each variable as well as comparable data for PCT and national level. It was decided that a regression analysis, specifically using general linear or stepwise models, would be best as these allow for the combination of interval and nominal datasets. There is also the potential to use multi-level modeling as an additional method of analysis to further investigate the relationship between practice quality and cancer stage at diagnosis should any link be found via the regression analysis.

On behalf of the Committee, the sub committee gave a favourable ethical opinion of the above research on the basis described in the application form, protocol and supporting documentation, subject to the conditions specified below.

Ethical review of research sites

The favourable opinion applies to all NHS sites taking part in the study, subject to management permission being obtained from the NHS/HSC R&D office prior to the start of the study (see 'Conditions of the favourable opinion' below).

Conditions of the favourable opinion

The favourable opinion is subject to the following conditions being met prior to the start of the study.

<u>Management permission or approval must be obtained from each host organisation</u> prior to the start of the study at the site concerned.

The favourable opinion is subject to the following conditions being met prior to the start of the study.

<u>Management permission or approval must be obtained from each host</u> <u>organisation prior to the start of the study at the site concerned.</u>

Management permission ("R&D approval") should be sought from all NHS organisation(s) involved in the study in accordance with NHS research governance arrangements. Guidance on applying for NHS permission for research is available in the Integrated Research Application System (IRAS) or at <u>http://www.rdforum.nhs.uk</u>.

Where a NHS organisation's role in the study is limited to identifying and referring potential participants to research sites ("participant identification centre"), guidance should be sought from the R&D office on the information it requires to give permission for this activity.

For non-NHS sites, site management permission should be obtained in accordance with the procedures of the relevant host organisation.

Sponsors are not required to notify the Committee of approvals from host organisations.

Approved Documents

The documents reviewed and approved were:

Document	Version	Date	
REC application	IRAS 3.1	30 December 2010	
Peer Review Letter	1	07 December 2010	
Protocol	1	30 December 2010	
Evidence of insurance or indemnity	1 - Professional Indemnity	05 July 2010	
Evidence of insurance or indemnity	1 - Employer''s Liability	02 July 2010	
Investigator CV	1	30 December 2010	
Investigator CV	1	20 December 2010	
Email correspondence from NIGB	1		

Membership of the Proportionate Review Sub Committee

The members of the sub-committee who took part in the review are listed on the attached sheet.
Statement of compliance

The Committee is constituted in accordance with the Governance Arrangements for Research Ethics Committees (July 2001) and complies fully with the Standard Operating Procedures for Research Ethics Committees in the UK.

After Ethical Review

Now that you have completed the application process please visit the National Research Ethics Service website >After Review

You are invited to give your view of the service that you have received from the National Research Ethics Service and the application procedure. If you wish to make your views known please use the feedback form available on the website.

The attached document 'After ethical review – guidance for researchers' gives detailed guidance on reporting requirements for studies with a favourable opinion, including:

- Notifying substantial amendments
- Adding new sites and investigators
- Progress and safety reports
- Notifying the end of the study

The NRES website also provides guidance on these topics, which is updated in the light of changes in reporting requirements or procedures.

We would also like to inform you that we consult regularly with stakeholders to improve our service. If you would like to join our Reference Group please email <u>referencegroup@nres.npsa.nhs.uk</u>

11/H0904/4

Please quote this number on all correspondence

With the Committee's best wishes for the success of this project.

Yours sincerely

Cheryl Anderson

Vice Chair

Email: leigh.pollard@nhs.net

Enclosures: List of names and professions of members who took part in the review

'After ethical review – guidance for researchers'

Copy to:

Professor D Petley Dept of Geography, Durham University, South Road,

Durham, DH1 3LE

Sunderland Research Ethics Committee

Attendance at PRS Sub-Committee of the REC meeting on 14 January 2011 via email correspondence

Mrs Cheryl Anderson

Vice Chair

Lay Member

Mrs Gaynor Mitchell

Lay Member

Mrs J Ryan

Expert Member (Co-Opted)

Table 20. Appendix 2, correlation table of colorectal cancer variables. *p = <.05

	Sex	Age2	Stage	income~n	qofC	qofO	qofP	qofA qo	fTotal ca	nce~wV ca	nce~vV ex	cept~V el	derlyv de	priv~V	IDAOPIV ph	onea~V dr	twod~V bo	okingV op	enho~V pe	rfer~V se	vent~\ ei	ghty~V
Sex	1.0000																					
Age2	0.0423*	1.0000																				
Stage	-0.0159	-0.0271*	1.0000																			
incomedomain	-0.0090	0.0244^{*}	0.0531*	1.0000																		
qofC	-0.0054	0.0037	0.0062	-0.0670*	1.0000																	
qof0	0.0132	-0.0004	0.0026	-0.0458*	0.2997*	1.0000																
qofP	0.0241*	-0.0019	-0.0178	-0.1704*	0.1462*	0.1101*	1.0000															
qofA	0.0114	-0.0050	0.0099	0.0048	0.4866*	0.2452*	0.0253*	1.0000														
qofTotal	0.0128	0.0007	-0.0046	-0.1450*	0.8095*	0.4694*	0.6622*	0.4302*	1.0000													
cancerrevi~V	-0.0029	0.0061	0.0108	-0.0204*	0.4868*	0.1544*	0.1243*	0.2146*	0.4228*	1.0000												
cancerprevV	0.0083	0.0080	-0.0100	-0.1738*	0.0899*	0.0622*	0.1917*	0.0400*	0.1773*	0.0047	1.0000											
exceptionr~V	0.0046	0.0065	-0.0091	0.0028	-0.1681*	-0.0099	-0.0568*	-0.0152	-0.1408*	-0.2775*	0.0495*	1.0000										
elder lyv	0.0069	0.0260*	-0.0010	-0.2288*	0.0941*	0.0543*	0.2053*	0.0453*	0.1850 *	0.0976*	0.5043*	0.0261*	1.0000									
deprivationV	-0.0189*	-0.0019	$0.0217 \pm$	0.4969*	-0.1319*	-0.0879*	-0.2957*	-0.0203*	-0.2649*	-0.0435*	-0.3436*	-0.0168	-0.4584*	1.0000								
IDAOPIV	-0.0161	-0.0030	0.0212^{+}	0.4836*	-0.1411*	-0.0457*	-0.2690*	-0.0175	-0.2476*	-0.0642*	-0.3658*	0.0184^{\pm}	-0.5109*	0.9196	0.0168	0.5075*	0.0724*	0.1524*	-0.0022	0.1375*	-0.2379*	
phoneaccessV	0.0102	-0.0048	-0.0090	-0.1119*	0.1107*	0.0808*	0.6503*	0.0577*	0.4444*	0.1241*	0.1393*	0.0102	0.0905*	-0.1685	• -0.0249*	0.3280*	0.1021*	0.0974*	-0.0782*	0.0732*	0.1073*	
drtwodaysV	-0.0000	-0.0010	-0.0229*	-0.1497*	0.1309*	0.0733*	0.6284*	0.0463*	0.4425*	$0.1398 \pm$	$0.1140 \pm$	-0.1081*	0.2166*	-0.2481	0.0047	0.3521*	0.0751*	0.1722^{\pm}	0.0042	0.2393*	-0.2122*	
bookingV	0.0172	0.0011	-0.0100	-0.1438*	0.0827*	0.1089^{*}	0.7899*	0.0168	$0.5075 \pm$	0.0724*	0.1524*	-0.0022	0.1375*	-0.2379	• 0.0394*	0.1782*	0.0872*	0.4541*	0.0432*	0.9298*	-0.4086*	
openhoursV	-0.0056	-0.0015	0.0065	0.0360*	0.0514*	0.0773*	0.5145*	-0.0249*	0.3280*	$0.1021 \pm$	0.0974*	-0.0782*	0.0732*	0.1073	• 0.0426*	0.1635*	0.0648*	0.3763*	0.0705*	0.7243*	-0.4316*	
perferredGPV	0.0144	-0.0050	-0.0104	-0.1117*	0.0090	0.0563*	0.6172*	0.0047	0.3521*	0.0751*	0.1722*	0.0042	0.2393*	-0.2122	•							
seventyfiveV	0.0055	$0.0272 \pm$	-0.0037	-0.2117*	0.0866*	0.0630*	0.1980 *	0.0394*	0.1782*	0.0872*	0.4541*	0.0432*	0.9298*	-0.4086	 IDAOPIV p 	honea~V d	rtwod~V b	ookingV o	penho~V p	erfer~V s	event~V	
eightyfiveV	0.0074	0.0231*	-0.0096	-0.2251*	0.0798*	0.0492*	0.1841*	0.0426*	0.1635*	0.0648*	0.3763*	0.0705*	0.7243*	-0.4316								$0.2197 \pm$
1															1.0000							$0.0767 \pm$

Table 21. Appendix 3, correlation table of breast cancer variables. * p = <.05

	Sex	Age	stage '	income~n	qofC	qofO	qofP	qofA qof	FTotal ca	a~rrevV ca	a~prevV e	xcept~V e	lderlyv de	priv- I	DAOPIV phor	nea~V drt	wod~v boo	kingV ope	nin~V pre	fer~V sev	ent~v eig	hty~V
Sex Age stage	1.0000 -0.0276* -0.0159	1.0000 0.1936*	1.0000																			
income_dom~n qofC	-0.0005	0.0365*	0.0608*	1.0000 -0.0525*	1.0000	1 0000																
qofP qofA	-0.0049	0.0002	-0.0135	-0.1568*	0.1433*	0.0911*	1.0000 0.0279*	1,0000														
qofTotal cancerrevV	-0.0040 -0.0032	0.0117 0.0141	-0.0122 -0.0148	-0.1280* -0.0128	0.8076* 0.4815*	0.4699* 0.1918*	0.6589* 0.0797*	0.4531* 0.2347*	1.0000 0.4032*	1.0000												
cancerprevV exceptionr~V elderlvV	-0.0027 -0.0030 -0.0004	0.0175* -0.0136 0.0449*	-0.0044 -0.0080 -0.0160	-0.1767* -0.0052 -0.2188*	0.1085* -0.1388* 0.0992*	0.0943* -0.0118 0.0310*	0.1928* -0.0572* 0.1885*	0.0242*	0.1965*	-0.0254* -0.2407*	1.0000	1.0000	1 0000									
deprivationV IDAOPIV	0.0030	-0.0100 -0.0113	0.0441* 0.0456*	0.5077* 0.4921*	-0.1310* -0.1362*	-0.0866* -0.0472*	-0.2873* -0.2690*	-0.0285* -0.0247*	-0.2607*	-0.0211* -0.0273*	-0.3578* -0.3854*	-0.0011 0.0308*	-0.4442* -0.5077*	1.0000 0.9153*	£ 1.0000							
phoneaccessV drtwodaysV bookingV	-0.0120 -0.0152	-0.0099	-0.0097 -0.0181* -0.0108	-0.1092* -0.1474* -0.1369*	0.1024* 0.1170* 0.0979*	0.0654* 0.0788*	0.6691* 0.6548* 0.8108*	0.0412*	0.4469*	0.0792*	0.1557*	0.0049	0.0856* -	-0.1739	-0.1772* -0.2432*	1.0000 0.3842* 0.6915*	1.0000 0.2713*	1 0000				
openinghou~V preferGPV	-0.0137	-0.0008	0.0119	0.0447*	0.0550*	0.0965*	0.5259*	-0.0381* -0.0138	0.3413*	0.0435*	0.1634* 0.1192* 0.1707*	-0.009/ -0.0710* -0.0004	0.1235* -	-0.2378 0.1089 -0.1978	0.0717* -0.1979*	0.4922*	0.4815* 0.3947*	0.4291*	1.0000 0.4400*	1.0000		
seventyfiveV eightyfiveV	0.0018	0.0514* 0.0407*	-0.0170* -0.0264*	-0.2032* -0.2156*	0.0835* 0.0583*	0.0274* 0.0169*	0.1787* 0.1732*	0.0222*	0.1575*	0.0432*	0.4544*	0.0350*	0.9322* -	-0.3965*	t −0.4329* t −0.4198*	0.0936* 0.1281*	0.1591* 0.1376*	0.1277* 0.1422*	0.0577* 0.0387*	0.1899* 0.1791*	1.0000 0.8195*	1.0000

Multinomial log	istic regres	ssion		Number	of obs	= 11491
				LR chi	.2(84)	= 145.84
				Prob >	· chi2	= 0.0000
Log likelihood :	= -17880.668	3		Pseudo	• R2	= 0.0041
Stage	RRR	Std. Err.	Z	₽> z	[95% Con	f. Interval]
+-						
1	(base outco	ome)				
+-						
2						
Sex	1.032102	.076307	0.43	0.669	.8928742	1.19304
Age2	1.160068	.0975249	1.77	0.077	.9838401	1.367863
incomedomain	1.065076	.0317825	2.11	0.035	1.00457	1.129226
qofC	1.030055	.0610158	0.50	0.617	.9171473	1.156863
qofO	1.030545	.0609877	0.51	0.611	.9176832	1.157287
qofP	1.022179	.0605732	0.37	0.711	.9100932	1.14807
qofA	1.047298	.065228	0.74	0.458	.9269489	1.183273
qofTotal	.9723868	.0575794	-0.47	0.636	.8658359	1.09205
cancerrevi~V	1.197309	.578635	0.37	0.709	.4643419	3.08727

cancerprevV	I	.1904272	1.5864	-0.20	0.842	1.54e-08	2348928
exceptionr~V		.7155785	.4900084	-0.49	0.625	.1869726	2.73865
elderlyV		17.38697	53.40134	0.93	0.352	.0422565	7154.096
deprivationV	l	.9934199	.0093556	-0.70	0.483	.9752515	1.011927
IDAOPIV		.5018519	.6859069	-0.50	0.614	.0344504	7.310662
phoneaccessV		1.15257	.4161332	0.39	0.694	.5679922	2.338794
drtwodaysV		.6972154	.4446193	-0.57	0.572	.1997789	2.433237
bookingV		1.323565	.6834361	0.54	0.587	.4810814	3.641428
openhoursV		.9459607	.7995883	-0.07	0.948	.1804602	4.958664
perferredGPV		1.178247	.4607914	0.42	0.675	.5474527	2.535865
seventyfiveV		.0047524	.030498	-0.83	0.405	1.64e-08	1378.366
eightyfiveV		.0537416	.506442	-0.31	0.756	5.12e-10	5645837
	-+-						
3	I						
Sex	Ι	.9861577	.0740705	-0.19	0.853	.8511626	1.142563
Age2		.8795283	.0733831	-1.54	0.124	.7468445	1.035785
incomedomain	l	1.057005	.0319976	1.83	0.067	.9961153	1.121617
qofC		1.039984	.0624736	0.65	0.514	.9244721	1.16993
qofO		1.042611	.0625695	0.70	0.487	.9269141	1.172748
qofP		1.041033	.06256	0.67	0.503	.9253633	1.171161
qofA		1.069427	.0675764	1.06	0.288	.9448526	1.210425
qofTotal	I	.9619481	.0577644	-0.65	0.518	.8551406	1.082096

cancerrevi~V		.6533923	.3105134	-0.90	0.371	.2574276	1.658413
cancerprevV	I	.0161077	.1360587	-0.49	0.625	1.04e-09	249443.6
exceptionr~V	Ι	.6059449	.4101525	-0.74	0.459	.1607944	2.283469
elderlyV	I	18.29217	56.9276	0.93	0.350	.0410408	8152.941
deprivationV	I	1.000379	.0095396	0.04	0.968	.9818558	1.019252
IDAOPIV	I	.3577681	.4950897	-0.74	0.458	.0237511	5.389129
phoneaccessV	Ι	1.326689	.4872059	0.77	0.441	.6459199	2.724957
drtwodaysV	I	.3773445	.2441515	-1.51	0.132	.1061669	1.34118
bookingV	I	.943334	.4923406	-0.11	0.911	.3391645	2.623739
openhoursV	I	.4855748	.4158205	-0.84	0.399	.0906426	2.601237
perferredGPV	I	1.201872	.4773238	0.46	0.643	.5518272	2.61766
seventyfiveV	I	.0027774	.0180786	-0.90	0.366	8.00e-09	964.56
eightyfiveV	I	42.34847	404.2759	0.39	0.695	3.17e-07	5.66e+09
	-+-						
4	I						
Sex	I	1.006825	.0739335	0.09	0.926	.8718627	1.162678
Age2	I	.8312587	.0676645	-2.27	0.023	.7086771	.9750436
incomedomain	Ι	1.120863	.0331937	3.85	0.000	1.057656	1.187846
qofC	I	1.030061	.0605388	0.50	0.614	.9179856	1.155819
qofO	I	1.033014	.0606538	0.55	0.580	.9207198	1.159003
qofP	I	1.013799	.0596247	0.23	0.816	.9034208	1.137663
qofA	Ι	1.057608	.0653515	0.91	0.365	.9369737	1.193773

qofTotal		.9713624	.0570721	-0.49	0.621	.8657035	1.089917
cancerrevi~V	ļ	.9386144	.4399113	-0.14	0.892	.3745801	2.351959
cancerprevV	I	.0001264	.0010437	-1.09	0.277	1.18e-11	1350.129
exceptionr~V	I	.6655139	.4425227	-0.61	0.540	.1807858	2.449908
elderlyV	I	59.44135	181.5047	1.34	0.181	.1496017	23617.88
deprivationV	I	.9931029	.0092393	-0.74	0.457	.9751582	1.011378
IDAOPIV		1.145689	1.543013	0.10	0.920	.0817843	16.04959
phoneaccessV		1.246182	.4460212	0.61	0.539	.6179141	2.513247
drtwodaysV		1.431969	.9080253	0.57	0.571	.4132174	4.962365
bookingV	l	2.20665	1.145002	1.53	0.127	.7980975	6.101138
openhoursV		.9697271	.8142144	-0.04	0.971	.187048	5.02743
perferredGPV	I	1.383412	.5354498	0.84	0.402	.6478789	2.953991
seventyfiveV	I	.0001058	.0006758	-1.43	0.152	3.88e-10	28.83436
eightyfiveV	I	296.6377	2782.607	0.61	0.544	3.07e-06	2.86e+10
	-+						
Unknown	I						
Sex		.9373915	.0678862	-0.89	0.372	.8133485	1.080352
Age2	ļ	.9087217	.0733184	-1.19	0.235	.7758065	1.064409
incomedomain	ļ	1.137169	.033238	4.40	0.000	1.073854	1.204216
qofC		1.022993	.0592971	0.39	0.695	.9131317	1.146072
qofO	l	1.023982	.059299	0.41	0.682	.914111	1.147058
qofP	I	1.023363	.0593456	0.40	0.690	.9134148	1.146546

qofA		1.043463	.0636073	0.70	0.485	.9259549	1.175884
qofTotal	Ι	.9786313	.0567062	-0.37	0.709	.8735681	1.09633
cancerrevi~V	Ι	1.291854	.6082395	0.54	0.587	.5133871	3.250738
cancerprevV	Ι	.0008542	.0069457	-0.87	0.385	1.02e-10	7127.439
exceptionr~V	Ι	.5477527	.3676425	-0.90	0.370	.1469848	2.041253
elderlyV	Ι	128.6995	386.5041	1.62	0.106	.3575115	46330.17
deprivationV	Ι	.9915663	.0090829	-0.92	0.355	.973923	1.009529
IDAOPIV	Ι	.8115994	1.076209	-0.16	0.875	.0603418	10.91603
phoneaccessV	Ι	1.198323	.4223868	0.51	0.608	.600539	2.39115
drtwodaysV	Ι	.2197106	.136122	-2.45	0.014	.0652361	.7399702
bookingV	Ι	.7807198	.3890265	-0.50	0.619	.2940006	2.073204
openhoursV	Ι	2.550401	2.109622	1.13	0.258	.5041012	12.90325
perferredGPV	Ι	.8899758	.3393884	-0.31	0.760	.4214793	1.879231
seventyfiveV	Ι	.0032136	.0201792	-0.91	0.361	1.45e-08	711.1029
eightyfiveV	Ι	.0050196	.0462717	-0.57	0.566	7.15e-11	352548.1

Table 23. Appendix 5. Regression output for colorectal cancer of top and bottom deciles of QOF total score

Multinomial logistic regression	Number of obs	=	2340
	LR chi2(84)	=	75.41
	Prob > chi2	=	0.7374
Log likelihood = -3643.9045	Pseudo R2	=	0.0102

Stage	RRR	Std. Err.	Z	₽> z	[95% Conf.	Interval]
	+					
1	(base outc	ome)				
	, (,				
	+					
2						
Sex	.9864838	.1553375	-0.09	0.931	.7245273	1.343152
Age2	1.121778	.20584	0.63	0.531	.7829182	1.607303
incomodomain	1 1 1 1 2 7 0 1	0720612	1 61	0 100	0767050	1 267520
Incomedomain	1.112/01	.0739012	1.01	0.100	.9707030	1.20/329
qofC	1.239765	.1667042	1.60	0.110	.9525397	1.613599
qofO	1.245419	.1684634	1.62	0.105	.9553811	1.623509
gofP	1.199817	.1619154	1.35	0.177	.9209692	1.563092
1						
qofA	1.234899	.1737997	1.50	0.134	.9372025	1.627157
qoi'l'otal	.811/96	.1091731	-1.55	0.121	.6236981	1.056621
cancerrevi~V	1.726359	1.244037	0.76	0.449	.4204784	7.087912
cancerprevV	3.94e-07	7.73e-06	-0.75	0.452	7.97e-24	1.95e+10
excentionr~V	1 5 014416	5 685237	1 42	0 155	5434333	46 26946
cheeperoni v	1 0.011110	5.000207	1.12	0.100	.0101000	10.20910
elderlyV	511.2832	3507.496	0.91	0.363	.0007401	3.53e+08
deprivationV	.9942759	.0200788	-0.28	0.776	.9556908	1.034419
IDAOPIV	.2163749	.5941278	-0.56	0.577	.0009953	47.03896
phoneaccessV	1.623881	1.2827	0.61	0.539	.3452963	7.636887
drtwodaysV	1 8 701534	12 56803	1 50	0 134	5130571	147 5795
ar cwoadys v	1 0.701004	12.00000	1.00	0.134	.5150571	111.0195
bookingV	3.361388	4.870427	0.84	0.403	.1964194	57.52452
openhoursV	.4849207	.9384503	-0.37	0.708	.0109237	21.52641
perferredGPV	.1617983	.1584511	-1.86	0.063	.0237346	1.102977

seventyfiveV	.0336886	.4651799	-0.25	0.806	5.94e-14	1.91e+10
eightyfiveV	.0023947	.044335	-0.33	0.744	4.17e-19	1.38e+13
+-						
3						
Sex	.9653234	.1539466	-0.22	0.825	.7061973	1.319531
Age2	.7878737	.1417161	-1.33	0.185	.5537958	1.120892
incomedomain	1.06973	.0716139	1.01	0.314	.9381874	1.219715
qofC	1.091389	.1490888	0.64	0.522	.8350292	1.426454
qofO	1.0912	.1498064	0.64	0.525	.8337705	1.428113
qofP	1.051057	.1440357	0.36	0.716	.8034864	1.374909
qofA	1.104938	.1585918	0.70	0.487	.8339974	1.463898
qofTotal	.9228917	.1260974	-0.59	0.557	.7060713	1.206293
cancerrevi~V	.5947928	.4006974	-0.77	0.441	.1588298	2.227406
cancerprevV	2.36e-07	4.68e-06	-0.77	0.442	3.08e-24	1.81e+10
exceptionr~V	2.076705	2.238822	0.68	0.498	.2510293	17.18007
elderlyV	399.9446	2778.55	0.86	0.388	.000488	3.28e+08
deprivationV	1.005586	.0203959	0.27	0.784	.9663946	1.046366
IDAOPIV	.1595574	.439153	-0.67	0.505	.0007247	35.1314
phoneaccessV	1.928976	1.548565	0.82	0.413	.3999353	9.303879
drtwodaysV	2.177459	3.19502	0.53	0.596	.122735	38.6306
bookingV	4.737193	6.909132	1.07	0.286	.2716784	82.60133
openhoursV	.6672062	1.317245	-0.20	0.838	.0139238	31.9714
perferredGPV	1.011468	1.003276	0.01	0.991	.1447586	7.067403
seventyfiveV	.0217169	.3029134	-0.27	0.784	2.91e-14	1.62e+10

eightyfiveV	.4625606	8.672615	-0.04	0.967	5.08e-17	4.21e+15
	+					
4						
Sev	1 017256	1607362	0 11	0 914	7463327	1 386527
JEA	1 1.017230	.1007302	0.11	0.914	.1403321	1.300327
Age2	.7303373	.1298515	-1.77	0.077	.5154455	1.034818
incomedomain	1.139022	.0758125	1.96	0.050	.9997165	1.29774
qofC	1.182106	.1607277	1.23	0.219	.9055672	1.543092
qofO	1.184178	.1617138	1.24	0.216	.9060975	1.5476
qofP	1.127548	.153744	0.88	0.379	.863121	1.472986
qofA	1.2044	.1714425	1.31	0.191	.9111812	1.591976
qofTotal	.8493387	.115453	-1.20	0.230	.6506908	1.108631
cancerrevi~V	1.59098	1.086005	0.68	0.496	.4174778	6.063115
cancerprevV	1.86e-13	3.66e-12	-1.49	0.136	3.49e-30	9944.041
exceptionr~V	5.120608	5.448875	1.53	0.125	.6361391	41.21839
elderlyV	4047.497	27924.52	1.20	0.229	.0054271	3.02e+09
deprivationV	.9797776	.0197509	-1.01	0.311	.9418213	1.019264
IDAOPIV	1.821004	4.949306	0.22	0.825	.0088477	374.7927
phoneaccessV	2.133905	1.6889	0.96	0.338	.4523588	10.06623
drtwodaysV	9.185653	13.35165	1.53	0.127	.5319377	158.6205
bookingV	13.36697	19.25134	1.80	0.072	.7945435	224.8786
openhoursV	1.59959	3.143182	0.24	0.811	.0339941	75.26855
perferredGPV	.3963011	.3876373	-0.95	0.344	.0582683	2.695369
seventyfiveV	.0000413	.0005726	-0.73	0.467	6.38e-17	2.67e+07
eightyfiveV	.0001908	.0035892	-0.46	0.649	1.87e-20	1.95e+12

Unknown						
Sex	.9446125	.1444725	-0.37	0.709	.6999513	1.274793
Age2	.8135653	.1410252	-1.19	0.234	.5792197	1.142724
incomedomain	1.117073	.0718065	1.72	0.085	.9848395	1.267061
qofC	1.142916	.1486379	1.03	0.304	.8857564	1.474736
qofO	1.141261	.1491922	1.01	0.312	.8833061	1.474549
qofP	1.107889	.1444388	0.79	0.432	.8580696	1.430441
qofA	1.126441	.1534115	0.87	0.382	.8625456	1.471074
qofTotal	.8790489	.1143043	-0.99	0.321	.6812865	1.134217
cancerrevi~V	1.384858	.9148405	0.49	0.622	.3794017	5.054882
cancerprevV	1.51e-06	.0000288	-0.70	0.482	9.13e-23	2.49e+10
exceptionr~V	1.592944	1.756097	0.42	0.673	.1835764	13.82242
elderlyV	10.73257	71.56708	0.36	0.722	.0000226	5089796
deprivationV	.9862183	.0193606	-0.71	0.480	.9489929	1.024904
IDAOPIV	.8695913	2.309707	-0.05	0.958	.0047693	158.554
phoneaccessV	1.531626	1.175529	0.56	0.579	.3402923	6.893715
drtwodaysV	3.071715	4.288165	0.80	0.421	.1991083	47.38844
bookingV	5.561176	7.783932	1.23	0.220	.3578879	86.41444
openhoursV	.7616285	1.438792	-0.14	0.885	.0187819	30.88498
perferredGPV	.5570431	.5268776	-0.62	0.536	.0872534	3.556275
seventyfiveV	3.481399	46.5542	0.09	0.926	1.44e-11	8.40e+11
eightyfiveV	.0011639	.0209669	-0.38	0.708	5.39e-19	2.51e+12

Multinomial logistic regression	Number of obs	=	8646
	LR chi2(80)	=	614.05
	Prob > chi2	=	0.0000
Log likelihood = -11270.588	Pseudo R2	=	0.0265
stage RRR Std. Err. z	P> z [95% C	Conf.	Interval]
++			
1 (base outcome)			

2 |

Age	Ι	1.042447	.0544917	0.80	0.426	.9409341	1.154911
income_dom~n	I	1.013582	.0217131	0.63	0.529	.9719058	1.057045
qofC	I	1.01864	.0427464	0.44	0.660	.9382111	1.105963
qofO		1.018075	.0425475	0.43	0.668	.9380073	1.104977
qofP		1.018787	.0427238	0.44	0.657	.9383992	1.106062
qofA		.9950925	.0439985	-0.11	0.911	.9124879	1.085175
qofTotal	I	.9834413	.0412352	-0.40	0.690	.9058537	1.067675
cancerrevV	I	1.178704	.3931829	0.49	0.622	.61301	2.266428
cancerprevV	I	49.30148	285.7124	0.67	0.501	.0005754	4224267
exceptionr~V	I	1.136761	.5863657	0.25	0.804	.4136194	3.124188
elderlyV		.0385173	.0827565	-1.52	0.130	.0005712	2.597221

deprivationV		1.01108	.0066198	1.68	0.092	.9981883	1.024138
IDAOPIV	I	.5010236	.4683795	-0.74	0.460	.0801893	3.1304
phoneaccessV	I	1.185202	.3012523	0.67	0.504	.7201714	1.950515
drtwodaysV	I	.7822216	.3498785	-0.55	0.583	.3255348	1.879586
bookingV	I	.5607552	.20848	-1.56	0.120	.2705888	1.162082
openinghou~V	I	.4791623	.2877029	-1.23	0.220	.1477054	1.554421
preferGPV	I	1.699778	.4668472	1.93	0.053	.9922204	2.911899
seventyfiveV	I	458.1953	2070.27	1.36	0.175	.0653213	3214006
eightyfiveV	I	.0376273	.2476771	-0.50	0.618	9.39e-08	15081.07
	-+-						
3	I						
Age	I	1.090611	.0913863	1.04	0.301	.925432	1.285272
income_dom~n		1.008439	.0346597	0.24	0.807	.9427449	1.078711
qofC	I	1.032593	.0695653	0.48	0.634	.9048658	1.17835
qofO	I	1.05533	.0708137	0.80	0.422	.9252767	1.203662
qofP	I	1.039295	.070006	0.57	0.567	.9107571	1.185974
qofA	I	1.012544	.0717393	0.18	0.860	.8812633	1.163381
qofTotal		.9661939	.0650319	-0.51	0.609	.8467832	1.102444
cancerrevV	I	1.130923	.5946247	0.23	0.815	.403536	3.169449
cancerprevV	I	.0267991	.2513739	-0.39	0.700	2.78e-10	2584193
exceptionr~V	I	.966559	.7780918	-0.04	0.966	.1995266	4.682265
elderlyV	I	.0142491	.0494922	-1.22	0.221	.0000157	12.89185
deprivationV	I	1.008611	.0103592	0.83	0.404	.9885101	1.02912
IDAOPIV		1.022509	1.480932	0.02	0.988	.0598198	17.47791

phoneaccessV	Ι	1.02986	.4236097	0.07	0.943	.4598914	2.30622
drtwodaysV	I	.6356859	.4615495	-0.62	0.533	.1531844	2.637974
bookingV	I	1.070482	.671734	0.11	0.914	.3129288	3.661959
openinghou~V	I	.2032289	.1963322	-1.65	0.099	.0305964	1.349898
preferGPV	I	1.891914	.8418636	1.43	0.152	.7909225	4.525525
seventyfiveV	I	1012.47	7373.727	0.95	0.342	.00064	1.60e+09
eightyfiveV	I	.0000402	.0004262	-0.95	0.340	3.77e-14	42822.12
	-+-						
4	I						
Age	I	2.146935	.2071182	7.92	0.000	1.77706	2.593795
income_dom~n	I	1.093708	.0436122	2.25	0.025	1.011485	1.182615
qofC	I	.82093	.0634539	-2.55	0.011	.7055249	.9552123
qofO	I	.8198378	.063129	-2.58	0.010	.7049915	.9533931
qofP	I	.8243793	.0636973	-2.50	0.012	.7085284	.9591728
qofA	I	.8028211	.0649018	-2.72	0.007	.6851816	.9406581
qofTotal	I	1.218007	.0940725	2.55	0.011	1.046905	1.417073
cancerrevV	I	1.097795	.6402831	0.16	0.873	.3499956	3.443341
cancerprevV		.3869602	4.137073	-0.09	0.929	3.07e-10	4.88e+08
exceptionr~V	I	1.426103	1.262478	0.40	0.688	.2515431	8.085169
elderlyV	I	1421.028	5690.165	1.81	0.070	.5548429	3639444
deprivationV		1.002258	.0117485	0.19	0.847	.9794937	1.025551
IDAOPIV		6.539637	10.78184	1.14	0.255	.2583362	165.5473
phoneaccessV	I	.8833132	.4071103	-0.27	0.788	.3579352	2.179842
drtwodaysV		1.577513	1.277081	0.56	0.573	.3227603	7.710203

bookingV		.5671669	.3820578	-0.84	0.400	.1514678	2.123741
openinghou~V		.2706802	.299092	-1.18	0.237	.0310391	2.360499
preferGPV		1.47645	.7344652	0.78	0.433	.5569109	3.91428
seventyfiveV	I	2.99e-07	2.53e-06	-1.78	0.075	1.96e-14	4.580244
eightyfiveV		6.668179	81.86139	0.15	0.877	2.37e-10	1.88e+11
	-+-						
unknown							
Age		5.261777	.4883817	17.89	0.000	4.386586	6.311583
income_dom~n		1.06711	.0363513	1.91	0.057	.9981896	1.14079
qofC	I	1.025193	.0682651	0.37	0.709	.8997591	1.168114
qofO	I	1.022637	.0677688	0.34	0.736	.8980769	1.164473
qofP		1.024137	.0680862	0.36	0.720	.8990189	1.166668
qofA		1.052621	.0739961	0.73	0.466	.9171389	1.208117
qofTotal	I	.9756474	.0648885	-0.37	0.711	.8564086	1.111488
cancerrevV	I	.3242332	.1580274	-2.31	0.021	.124736	.8427971
cancerprevV	I	4.44e+08	4.05e+09	2.19	0.029	7.77811	2.54e+16
exceptionr~V		.2733443	.2312044	-1.53	0.125	.0520875	1.434455
elderlyV		10.53973	35.63656	0.70	0.486	.0139565	7959.442
deprivationV	I	.9962867	.010156	-0.36	0.715	.9765788	1.016392
IDAOPIV		3.771301	5.477904	0.91	0.361	.2188269	64.99525
phoneaccessV	I	1.294933	.518162	0.65	0.518	.591075	2.836952
drtwodaysV		.3667392	.2527654	-1.46	0.146	.0949924	1.415878
bookingV		.6036123	.3339736	-0.91	0.362	.2040776	1.785339
openinghou~V		13.08558	12.66998	2.66	0.008	1.961667	87.28919

preferGPV	2.060301	.8971706	1.66	0.097	.8775454	4.837172
seventyfiveV	1.193635	8.556229	0.02	0.980	9.45e-07	1508227
eightyfiveV	3.05e-11	3.15e-10	-2.34	0.019	4.87e-20	.0191493

Table 25. Appendix 7. Regression output for breast cancer with top and bottom deciles of QOF total score

Multinomial logistic regression	Number of obs	=	1727
	LR chi2(80)	=	195.28
	Prob > chi2	=	0.0000
Log likelihood = -2194.4279	Pseudo R2	=	0.0426

stage	RRR	Std. Err.	Z	P> z	[95% Conf. Interval]

1 | (base outcome)

2 |

Age		1.108509	.1310879	0.87	0.384	.8791834	1.397652
income_dom~n	I	1.056981	.0521006	1.12	0.261	.9596429	1.164191
qofC	I	.9775084	.0987685	-0.23	0.822	.8018888	1.19159
qofO	I	.966692	.0977286	-0.34	0.738	.7929305	1.178531
qofP	I	.9877455	.100678	-0.12	0.904	.8088809	1.206162
qofA		.9387794	.099714	-0.59	0.552	.7623454	1.156047

qofTotal	Ι	1.02502	.1036244	0.24	0.807	.8407757	1.249639
cancerrevV	I	1.412999	.760858	0.64	0.521	.4918074	4.05965
cancerprevV	I	2738.223	39360.23	0.55	0.582	1.59e-09	4.71e+15
exceptionr~V	I	1.326661	1.121657	0.33	0.738	.252983	6.957104
elderlyV	I	.0047423	.024161	-1.05	0.294	2.18e-07	102.9585
deprivationV	I	1.007284	.0143239	0.51	0.610	.9795969	1.035753
IDAOPIV	I	.0969202	.1871721	-1.21	0.227	.0022008	4.268277
phoneaccessV	I	.5852591	.3384546	-0.93	0.354	.188408	1.818013
drtwodaysV	I	.1238527	.1238695	-2.09	0.037	.0174417	.8794723
bookingV	I	.2703389	.2807855	-1.26	0.208	.0353032	2.070154
openinghou~V	I	15.74729	22.58827	1.92	0.055	.9467226	261.9321
preferGPV	I	3.613834	2.595667	1.79	0.074	.8842711	14.76899
seventyfiveV	I	.0974664	1.004512	-0.23	0.821	1.65e-10	5.77e+07
eightyfiveV	I	21886.14	290449.7	0.75	0.451	1.11e-07	4.33e+15
	-+-						
3	I						
Age	I	1.410984	.2718856	1.79	0.074	.9671686	2.058458
income_dom~n	I	.9741418	.0787535	-0.32	0.746	.8313955	1.141397
qofC	I	.7021741	.1199009	-2.07	0.038	.5024541	.9812804
qofO	I	.7158411	.1225239	-1.95	0.051	.5118283	1.001172
qofP	I	.6977628	.120189	-2.09	0.037	.4978393	.977972
qofA	I	.6366102	.112064	-2.57	0.010	.4508526	.8989025
qofTotal		1.428738	.2438966	2.09	0.037	1.022459	1.996454
cancerrevV		.7307671	.6349939	-0.36	0.718	.1330867	4.012577

cancerprevV	Ι	2.68e+14	6.56e+15	1.36	0.174	4.04e-07	1.78e+35
exceptionr~V		2.477506	2.814689	0.80	0.425	.26728	22.96481
elderlyV		.0693259	.5887766	-0.31	0.753	4.09e-09	1175028
deprivationV		1.00546	.0237678	0.23	0.818	.9599387	1.05314
IDAOPIV		3.637991	11.35137	0.41	0.679	.0080337	1647.43
phoneaccessV		.3718741	.3521435	-1.04	0.296	.0581242	2.379222
drtwodaysV		.9712897	1.57668	-0.02	0.986	.0403279	23.3933
bookingV		1.45388	2.528004	0.22	0.830	.048135	43.9133
openinghou~V		1.312692	3.13251	0.11	0.909	.0122157	141.061
preferGPV		6.425006	7.530232	1.59	0.112	.6460243	63.89962
seventyfiveV		1.228242	21.1983	0.01	0.990	2.50e-15	6.03e+14
eightyfiveV		6.35e-06	.000143	-0.53	0.595	4.13e-25	9.75e+13
	-+-						
4	-+						
4 Age	-+ 	2.324933	.5204974	3.77	0.000	1.499155	3.605573
4 Age income_dom~n	-+	2.324933 1.160946	.5204974 .1108063	3.77	0.000 0.118	1.499155 .9628732	3.605573 1.399764
4 Age income_dom~n qofC	-+ 	2.324933 1.160946 .5883319	.5204974 .1108063 .1218686	3.77 1.56 -2.56	0.000 0.118 0.010	1.499155 .9628732 .3920147	3.605573 1.399764 .8829628
4 Age income_dom~n qofC qofO	-+ 	2.324933 1.160946 .5883319 .5850423	.5204974 .1108063 .1218686 .1210186	3.77 1.56 -2.56 -2.59	0.000 0.118 0.010 0.010	1.499155 .9628732 .3920147 .390043	3.605573 1.399764 .8829628 .8775302
4 Age income_dom~n qofC qofO qofP	-+ 	2.324933 1.160946 .5883319 .5850423 .5954316	.5204974 .1108063 .1218686 .1210186 .1237935	3.77 1.56 -2.56 -2.59 -2.49	0.000 0.118 0.010 0.010 0.013	1.499155 .9628732 .3920147 .390043 .3961525	3.605573 1.399764 .8829628 .8775302 .8949552
4 Age income_dom~n qofC qofO qofP qofA	-+ 	2.324933 1.160946 .5883319 .5850423 .5954316 .5638045	.5204974 .1108063 .1218686 .1210186 .1237935 .1221204	3.77 1.56 -2.56 -2.59 -2.49 -2.65	0.000 0.118 0.010 0.010 0.013 0.008	1.499155 .9628732 .3920147 .390043 .3961525 .3687718	3.605573 1.399764 .8829628 .8775302 .8949552 .8619843
4 Age income_dom~n qofC qofO qofP qofA qofTotal		2.324933 1.160946 .5883319 .5850423 .5954316 .5638045 1.705661	.5204974 .1108063 .1218686 .1210186 .1237935 .1221204 .3532591	3.77 1.56 -2.56 -2.59 -2.49 -2.65 2.58	0.000 0.118 0.010 0.010 0.013 0.008 0.010	1.499155 .9628732 .3920147 .390043 .3961525 .3687718 1.136581	3.605573 1.399764 .8829628 .8775302 .8949552 .8619843 2.559675
4 Age income_dom~n qofC qofO qofP qofA qofTotal cancerrevV		2.324933 1.160946 .5883319 .5850423 .5954316 .5638045 1.705661 .3517401	.5204974 .1108063 .1218686 .1210186 .1237935 .1221204 .3532591 .3068456	3.77 1.56 -2.56 -2.59 -2.49 -2.65 2.58 -1.20	0.000 0.118 0.010 0.010 0.013 0.008 0.010 0.231	1.499155 .9628732 .3920147 .390043 .3961525 .3687718 1.136581 .0636303	3.605573 1.399764 .8829628 .8775302 .8949552 .8619843 2.559675 1.944375
4 Age income_dom~n qofC qofO qofP qofA qofTotal cancerrevV cancerprevV		2.324933 1.160946 .5883319 .5850423 .5954316 .5638045 1.705661 .3517401 3.95254	.5204974 .1108063 .1218686 .1210186 .1237935 .1221204 .3532591 .3068456 108.1393	3.77 1.56 -2.56 -2.59 -2.49 -2.65 2.58 -1.20 0.05	0.000 0.118 0.010 0.010 0.013 0.008 0.010 0.231 0.960	1.499155 .9628732 .3920147 .390043 .3961525 .3687718 1.136581 .0636303 2.03e-23	3.605573 1.399764 .8829628 .8775302 .8949552 .8619843 2.559675 1.944375 7.68e+23

elderlyV	444634	4444335	1.30	0.193	.0013798	1.43e+14
deprivationV	.9962126	.0265176	-0.14	0.887	.9455715	1.049566
IDAOPIV	3.077347	10.80179	0.32	0.749	.003165	2992.113
phoneaccessV	8.618001	9.631007	1.93	0.054	.9641623	77.03054
drtwodaysV	.0437812	.079883	-1.71	0.086	.0012252	1.564536
bookingV	.1100789	.2001554	-1.21	0.225	.0031187	3.885398
openinghou~V	2.540654	7.006125	0.34	0.735	.01142	565.2294
preferGPV	1.722533	2.334217	0.40	0.688	.1209758	24.52657
seventyfiveV	2.55e-13	5.14e-12	-1.44	0.151	1.63e-30	39817.74
eightyfiveV	.0461552	1.259473	-0.11	0.910	2.73e-25	7.79e+21
+-						
unknown						
Age	6.022633	1.249051	8.66	0.000	4.011006	9.043144
income_dom~n	1.154044	.0897704	1.84	0.065	.9908532	1.344111
qofC	.8018779	.1281299	-1.38	0.167	.5862691	1.09678
qofO	.8024827	.128207	-1.38	0.168	.5867394	1.097555
qofP	.8005051	.1288684	-1.38	0.167	.5838945	1.097473
qofA	.821007	.1372051	-1.18	0.238	.591692	1.139195
qofTotal	1.243433	.1987872	1.36	0.173	.9089527	1.700998
cancerrevV	.4044733	.3008158	-1.22	0.224	.0941526	1.737591
cancerprevV	1.64e+14	3.84e+15	1.40	0.163	1.83e-06	1.47e+34
exceptionr~V	.0788736	.1220874	-1.64	0.101	.0037964	1.638686
elderlyV	.0002512	.0020145	-1.03	0.301	3.75e-11	1682.059
deprivationV	.9977677	.0230432	-0.10	0.923	.9536108	1.043969

IDAOPIV	I	.0491173	.1538676	-0.96	0.336	.0001059	22.7906
phoneaccessV	I	.3367463	.3118927	-1.18	0.240	.0548182	2.068622
drtwodaysV	I	.406651	.6594782	-0.55	0.579	.0169357	9.7643
bookingV	I	1.830055	3.056663	0.36	0.717	.0693008	48.32703
openinghou~V	I	115.1611	270.3661	2.02	0.043	1.155906	11473.32
preferGPV	I	3.915241	4.424611	1.21	0.227	.4273818	35.86748
seventyfiveV	I	.0238994	.3876479	-0.23	0.818	3.73e-16	1.53e+12
eightyfiveV	I	3.95e+08	8.09e+09	0.97	0.334	1.40e-09	1.11e+26

Table 26. Appendix 8. Base outcome output for breast cancer, screen detected cases and patient's of screening age

removed.

Multinomial logistic regression	Number of obs	=	4101
	LR chi2(88)	=	441.42
	Prob > chi2	=	0.0000
Log likelihood = -5292.1196	Pseudo R2	=	0.0400

	stage	RRR	Std. Err.	Z	₽> z	[95% Conf.	Interval]
1		(base outco	ome)				
2							
	Sex	.9300976	.322639	-0.21	0.835	.4712567	1.83569
	Age	1.04247	.0810197	0.54	0.593	.8951776	1.213998

Screen_det~d	I	1.025288	.0396209	0.65	0.518	.9505008	1.10596
income_dom~n	I	1.026903	.0318274	0.86	0.392	.9663795	1.091217
qofC		1.014426	.0619626	0.23	0.815	.8999695	1.143439
qofO		1.015571	.0617875	0.25	0.800	.9014113	1.144188
qofP	I	1.007073	.0615897	0.12	0.908	.8933136	1.135319
qofA	I	.9598048	.0624145	-0.63	0.528	.8449495	1.090273
qofTotal	I	.9875454	.0602935	-0.21	0.837	.8761691	1.11308
cancerrevV	I	1.167417	.547328	0.33	0.741	.4657482	2.926177
cancerprevV		9431.217	78586.39	1.10	0.272	.0007618	1.17e+11
exceptionr~V	I	.9256643	.6742326	-0.11	0.916	.2220536	3.858773
elderlyV	I	.1351089	.4167171	-0.65	0.516	.0003201	57.02281
deprivationV	I	.9998654	.0095532	-0.01	0.989	.9813158	1.018766
IDAOPIV	I	2.631525	3.613905	0.70	0.481	.1783373	38.83048
phoneaccessV	I	1.616137	.5950589	1.30	0.192	.7853571	3.325747
drtwodaysV	I	1.476548	.9632081	0.60	0.550	.4111273	5.302963
bookingV	I	.6474844	.3452189	-0.82	0.415	.2277166	1.841043
openinghou~V	I	.2018222	.1741166	-1.86	0.064	.0372064	1.094762
preferGPV	I	2.345115	.9387549	2.13	0.033	1.070104	5.139277
seventyfiveV	I	714.04	4677.224	1.00	0.316	.0018969	2.69e+08
eightyfiveV		.002104	.0198323	-0.65	0.513	1.99e-11	222005.4
	-+-						
3							
Sex		.8604146	.4552973	-0.28	0.776	.3049901	2.427336
Age		1.088891	.133432	0.69	0.487	.856404	1.384491

Screen_det~d	I	1.009427	.0618142	0.15	0.878	.8952614	1.138151
income_dom~n	I	.9878648	.0482093	-0.25	0.802	.8977544	1.08702
qofC		1.057293	.1018307	0.58	0.563	.8754151	1.276959
qofO		1.088221	.1045503	0.88	0.379	.9014427	1.313699
qofP		1.068574	.1031727	0.69	0.492	.8843407	1.291188
qofA		.9885068	.1006846	-0.11	0.910	.8096183	1.206922
qofTotal	Ι	.941257	.0906283	-0.63	0.530	.7793828	1.136752
cancerrevV	I	1.318246	.950425	0.38	0.702	.3208482	5.416181
cancerprevV	Ι	668.5829	8881.647	0.49	0.624	3.29e-09	1.36e+14
exceptionr~V	I	1.273954	1.293835	0.24	0.812	.1740478	9.324783
elderlyV	Ι	9.19e-06	.0000452	-2.36	0.018	6.01e-10	.1406329
deprivationV	Ι	1.000466	.0148193	0.03	0.975	.9718379	1.029937
IDAOPIV	Ι	1.913411	4.030804	0.31	0.758	.0308079	118.8379
phoneaccessV	Ι	1.567038	.9147739	0.77	0.442	.4990939	4.920133
drtwodaysV	I	.2645488	.2764404	-1.27	0.203	.0341226	2.051016
bookingV	Ι	.7454711	.6605848	-0.33	0.740	.1312669	4.233568
openinghou~V	Ι	.3505684	.4787469	-0.77	0.443	.0241183	5.09565
preferGPV	Ι	1.126826	.7217112	0.19	0.852	.3211281	3.953991
seventyfiveV	Ι	1.74e+11	1.80e+12	2.49	0.013	257.1066	1.18e+20
eightyfiveV	Ι	3.50e-09	5.17e-08	-1.32	0.188	9.29e-22	13165.59
	-+						
4							
Sex		.629131	.3376437	-0.86	0.388	.2197435	1.801217
Age	Ι	2.424239	.3521828	6.10	0.000	1.823546	3.222807

Screen_det~d		.9272999	.0679527	-1.03	0.303	.8032376	1.070524
income_dom~n	Ι	1.148034	.0683679	2.32	0.020	1.02156	1.290166
qofC	I	.7601744	.0879765	-2.37	0.018	.6059014	.953728
qofO	I	.764397	.0880102	-2.33	0.020	.6099784	.9579074
qofP	I	.7508751	.0870949	-2.47	0.014	.5981854	.9425396
qofA	I	.6997287	.0849136	-2.94	0.003	.5516131	.8876153
qofTotal	I	1.316682	.1522546	2.38	0.017	1.049669	1.651619
cancerrevV	I	.7361196	.5865182	-0.38	0.701	.1544317	3.508815
cancerprevV	I	.2365547	3.754614	-0.09	0.928	7.30e-15	7.66e+12
exceptionr~V	Ι	2.139989	2.451883	0.66	0.507	.2265432	20.21492
elderlyV	Ι	451355.4	2686717	2.19	0.029	3.869865	5.26e+10
deprivationV	I	.9865596	.0173588	-0.77	0.442	.953117	1.021176
IDAOPIV	I	9.946338	24.82999	0.92	0.357	.0745981	1326.169
phoneaccessV	I	3.289196	2.311951	1.69	0.090	.8294429	13.04346
drtwodaysV	I	1.417941	1.708132	0.29	0.772	.1337372	15.03363
bookingV	Ι	1.118656	1.149023	0.11	0.913	.1494132	8.375383
openinghou~V	I	.5095412	.8385852	-0.41	0.682	.0202442	12.825
preferGPV	I	.9463649	.707849	-0.07	0.941	.2184684	4.099478
seventyfiveV	I	2.02e-14	2.56e-13	-2.48	0.013	3.15e-25	.0012889
eightyfiveV	I	2060594	3.72e+07	0.81	0.420	8.95e-10	4.74e+21
	-+-						
unknown	I						
Sex	I	1.591492	.8530726	0.87	0.386	.5565993	4.550573
Age	Ι	5.460878	.7723778	12.00	0.000	4.138757	7.20535

Screen_det~d	1.576219	.1183678	6.06	0.000	1.360488	1.826158	
income_dom~n	1.095176	.0560101	1.78	0.075	.990721	1.210644	
qofC	1.13606	.113722	1.27	0.203	.9336722	1.38232	
qofO	1.139721	.1133732	1.31	0.189	.9378332	1.385069	
qofP	1.13025	.1130715	1.22	0.221	.9290081	1.375086	
qofA	1.150312	.1222946	1.32	0.188	.9339436	1.416806	
qofTotal	.8765135	.0876121	-1.32	0.187	.7205706	1.066205	
cancerrevV	.6059616	.4525077	-0.67	0.502	.1402175	2.618714	
cancerprevV	3.98e+18	5.46e+19	3.12	0.002	8307295	1.90e+30	
exceptionr~V	.0754171	.1047813	-1.86	0.063	.0049528	1.1484	
elderlyV	30.62963	156.4201	0.67	0.503	.0013779	680890.5	
deprivationV	.9948419	.0151293	-0.34	0.734	.9656265	1.024941	
IDAOPIV	3.638988	7.892454	0.60	0.551	.0518614	255.3391	
phoneaccessV	1.441162	.8661314	0.61	0.543	.4437566	4.680377	
drtwodaysV	.4829545	.502072	-0.70	0.484	.0629521	3.705119	
bookingV	1.423067	1.176957	0.43	0.670	.2813413	7.19809	
openinghou~V	24.4178	35.20225	2.22	0.027	1.447307	411.9577	
preferGPV	1.110619	.7280478	0.16	0.873	.307308	4.013804	
seventyfiveV	.0320112	.3486659	-0.32	0.752	1.71e-11	5.98e+07	
eightyfiveV	4.62e-14	7.05e-13	-2.01	0.044	4.65e-27	.4593061	

 Table 27. Appendix 9. Base outcome output for breast cancer, screen detected cases and screening age patient's

 removed, with just top and bottom deciles of QOF total score.

Multinomial loc	gistic regre:	Numbe	r of obs	= 828		
				LR ch	i2(87)	= 171.36
				Prob 3	> chi2	= 0.0000
Log likelihood	= -1036.5142	2		Pseud	5 R2	= 0.0764
stage	RRR	Std. Err.	Z	₽> z	[95% Con	f. Interval]
+-						
1	(base outco	ome)				
+-						
2						
Sex	4.538425	5.322395	1.29	0.197	.455687	45.20055
Age	1.32003	.2369412	1.55	0.122	.9285297	1.8766
Screen_det~d	.9715892	.0849161	-0.33	0.742	.8186313	1.153127
income_dom~n	1.007753	.073179	0.11	0.915	.8740643	1.16189
qofC	.8353657	.1246819	-1.21	0.228	.6234924	1.119237
qofO	.825985	.1234105	-1.28	0.201	.6163026	1.107007
qofP	.8540583	.1285216	-1.05	0.294	.6359103	1.147042
qofA	.7691898	.1219709	-1.65	0.098	.5637129	1.049564
qofTotal	1.197152	.1787148	1.21	0.228	.8934682	1.604056
cancerrevV	1.185779	.8921479	0.23	0.821	.2713831	5.181132
cancerprevV	5.86e+11	1.20e+13	1.32	0.185	2.25e-06	1.53e+29
exceptionr~V	.5741981	.7052448	-0.45	0.651	.0517123	6.375722
elderlyV	1.593843	11.60692	0.06	0.949	1.01e-06	2518801

deprivationV		1.025676	.0214606	1.21	0.226	.9844648	1.068612
IDAOPIV	Ι	.1441697	.4224087	-0.66	0.509	.0004623	44.96187
phoneaccessV	I	1.054014	.9002707	0.06	0.951	.1976081	5.621961
drtwodaysV	I	.1431628	.2166627	-1.28	0.199	.0073726	2.779965
bookingV	Ι	.1166017	.1805105	-1.39	0.165	.00561	2.423513
openinghou~V	Ι	5.6657	11.96433	0.82	0.411	.0903151	355.4242
preferGPV	Ι	4.32586	4.514897	1.40	0.161	.5593376	33.45576
seventyfiveV	Ι	.0000194	.0002897	-0.73	0.468	3.70e-18	1.02e+08
eightyfiveV	I	306.8741	5798.46	0.30	0.762	2.53e-14	3.72e+18
	-+-						
3	Ι						
Sex	Ι	.9931966	1.194914	-0.01	0.995	.0939627	10.49821
Age	Ι	1.651063	.4593362	1.80	0.071	.9570927	2.848219
Screen_det~d	Ι	.9589624	.1327747	-0.30	0.762	.7310499	1.257929
income_dom~n	Ι	.9064702	.1007864	-0.88	0.377	.7289743	1.127184
qofC	Ι	.649911	.1536774	-1.82	0.068	.4088646	1.033066
qofO	Ι	.6614383	.1571873	-1.74	0.082	.4151508	1.053835
qofP	Ι	.6462588	.1541708	-1.83	0.067	.4048972	1.031498
qofA	Ι	.5712666	.1405807	-2.28	0.023	.3526713	.9253534
qofTotal	Ι	1.536919	.3634829	1.82	0.069	.9668092	2.443211
cancerrevV	Ι	1.3752	1.537542	0.28	0.776	.1537025	12.30414
cancerprevV	Ι	2.25e+26	7.74e+27	1.77	0.077	.0012531	4.05e+55
exceptionr~V	Ι	3.199545	4.743671	0.78	0.433	.1750208	58.49067
elderlyV	Ι	.0003013	.0036895	-0.66	0.508	1.14e-14	7953106

deprivationV		1.032894	.0337337	0.99	0.322	.9688485	1.101172
IDAOPIV		.1488903	.6765975	-0.42	0.675	.0000202	1098.894
phoneaccessV	I	.3028384	.3900617	-0.93	0.354	.0242575	3.780724
drtwodaysV	I	1.313511	3.012151	0.12	0.905	.0146708	117.6017
bookingV		1.993882	4.856327	0.28	0.777	.0168462	235.9923
openinghou~V		.4000803	1.349328	-0.27	0.786	.0005387	297.13
preferGPV		4.473955	7.423277	0.90	0.367	.1731254	115.6172
seventyfiveV	I	79.38125	1967.766	0.18	0.860	6.30e-20	1.00e+23
eightyfiveV	I	.0000457	.0014251	-0.32	0.748	1.39e-31	1.51e+22
	-+-						
4	I						
Sex		.1872778	.1711265	-1.83	0.067	.0312388	1.122738
Age	I	3.279158	1.175869	3.31	0.001	1.623795	6.622066
Screen_det~d		.8262845	.1509909	-1.04	0.296	.5775446	1.182153
income_dom~n		1.235724	.1855905	1.41	0.159	.9206229	1.658676
qofC	I	.7120157	.2367359	-1.02	0.307	.3710873	1.366164
qofO	I	.7156713	.2371931	-1.01	0.313	.3737679	1.37033
qofP		.7011549	.2327711	-1.07	0.285	.3657886	1.343996
qofA		.6054272	.2097591	-1.45	0.148	.3070087	1.193914
qofTotal	I	1.421552	.4718357	1.06	0.289	.7417122	2.724521
cancerrevV	I	.0667087	.0867535	-2.08	0.037	.0052145	.8534049
cancerprevV	I	9086.923	391630.1	0.21	0.833	1.88e-33	4.40e+40
exceptionr~V	I	1.675207	2.951767	0.29	0.770	.0529937	52.95565
elderlyV		1.78e+16	2.84e+17	2.35	0.019	490.4599	6.47e+29

deprivationV	.9872	2644 .042	-0.1	30 0.764	.9080161	1.073429
IDAOPIV	21.2	4511 120.	3052 0.	54 0.589	.0003215	1404034
phoneaccessV	370.	0995 741.	5229 2.	95 0.003	3 7.292403	18783.06
drtwodaysV	.034	8653 .102	5248 -1.3	14 0.254	.0001095	11.10284
bookingV	.012	4664 .034	3478 -1.	59 0.112	.0000563	2.760572
openinghou~V	6.16	8556 26.5	3554 0.	42 0.672	.0013444	28303.01
preferGPV	5.57	7499 11.5	1288 0.3	83 0.405	.0975931	318.757
seventyfiveV	6.090	e-37 1.98	e-35 -2.	57 0.010	1.40e-64	2.65e-09
eightyfiveV	550'	7690 2.39	0.1	36 0.721	5.67e-31	5.35e+43
	-+					
unknown	I					
Sex	5.490	e+07 2.78	e+08 3.	52 0.000	2668.657	1.13e+12
Age	6.292	2905 1.86	9182 6 .	19 0.000	3.515755	11.26377
Screen_det~d	1.50	9153 .243	3171 2.	55 0.011	1.100262	2.070001
income_dom~n	1.1	8405 .132	9697 1.	50 0.132	.9501222	1.475573
qofC	.966	6175 .218	5809 -0.3	15 0.881	.6205442	1.505694
qofO	.980	1672 .22	-0.	0.930	.6285686	1.528437
qofP	.974	0085 .22	-0.	12 0.908	.6232895	1.522074
qofA	.970	8884 .23	3988 -0.3	12 0.902	.6053776	1.557085
qofTotal	1.02	5867 .232	2264 0.3	11 0.910	.6582693	1.598741
cancerrevV	.662	8693 .717	9905 -0.3	38 0.704	.0793312	5.538748
cancerprevV	1.20	e+28 3.98	e+29 1.	95 0.051	.7595678	1.90e+56
exceptionr~V	.022	0089 .058	9841 -1.	42 0.154	.0001152	4.205629
elderlyV	34.9	5883 400.	1086 0.3	31 0.756	6.33e-09	1.93e+11

deprivationV	I	1.03265	.0328202	1.01	0.312	.9702862	1.099022
IDAOPIV	I	.005278	.0232689	-1.19	0.234	9.33e-07	29.86107
phoneaccessV	I	.2359499	.3254563	-1.05	0.295	.0158023	3.523061
drtwodaysV	I	.7553746	1.781011	-0.12	0.905	.0074338	76.75612
bookingV	Ι	.9794039	2.441156	-0.01	0.993	.007402	129.5909
openinghou~V	Ι	2.337383	7.831273	0.25	0.800	.0032872	1662.012
preferGPV	I	19.11772	31.77197	1.78	0.076	.7358921	496.6587
seventyfiveV	I	6.63e-16	1.54e-14	-1.50	0.133	1.06e-35	41580.97
eightyfiveV	I	2.06e+08	6.22e+09	0.63	0.526	4.34e-18	9.79e+33